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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

STATEMENT UNDER SECTION 172(1) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006

In accordance with The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 and the Financial Reporting
Council's Guidance on the Strategic Report issued in July 2018, the Directors must now include a statement within
the Stratagic Report describing how the Directors have had regard to the matters set out in Section 172(1)(a) to (f)
of the Companies Act 2006 ("Section 172(1) Statement”). The Directors set out thesr Section 172(1) Statement
below

During the year, the Directors were briefed on their duties under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2008 and more
specifically, their duty to “act in the way each directer considers, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the
success of the company for the benefit of Its members as a whole, and in doing so have regard (amongst other
matters) to -

(a) the likely conseguences of any decision in the long term.

(b) the interests of the company’'s employees,

(¢) the need to foster the company's business relationships with suppiiers, customers and others,

(d} the impact of the camparny's operatioas on the community and the enviranment,

{e) the desirability of the company mamtaiming a reputation for high standards of business conduct and

(f) the need to act fairly as between members of the company.”

Over the course of the year, the Board considered matters that fit broadly within the following topics:

e Board governance, including the commitment of the Board to diversity and the mix of the skils and
expenence of the Directors,
Organisational structure and succession planning and engagement with the workforce,
The competitiveness of the Group's business;
Impact of the Group's business on the envirgnment and the communities in which we operate; and
The Final Offer. which was announced in June 2019 and completed in September 2018, and subseguent
Delisting of the Company as well as the integration of the Group within City Developments Limited
("COL"). Further infarmation about the Final Offer and Delisting can be found in the Directors’ Repaort, on
page 22

The varicus matters were reviewed against the backdrop of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the business
and the Group's relationships with its primary stakeholders, including its employees, customers, suppliers,
sharehclders, requlators and the communities in which we operate. Set cut below is a chart summarising these
refationships, including how the Company engages with each stakeholder, what they care about and why they are
important.

Secondary stakeholders for the Group include trade associations, the media, non-govermnmental
organisations and charitable organisations

smkt:zlder Touch ::lglg‘:;ellr:rfr ods of } What do they care about? Why are they important?
»  Recruitment and induction o Job security Serve as key brand
¢ Internal communications s Reputable employer ambassadors
! {intranet sites, newsletters, . Safe working environment Front-iine Service delivery
‘ Employees email, meetings, etc.} +  Skilis training and career Critica! to service/hospitality
! ¢ Training and development development culture
i + Performance management =«  Operational excellence Abiiity to create unique and
s Relations with trade unigns « Fair wages memorable experiences for
customers
« Direct sales and marketing s  Value for money Lifeblood of the business
(website, advertising s (lean and safe environment and driver of business
| campaigns, etc.) s Friendly and growth
i * Indirect sales and marketing accommodating service that Serve as key brand
(public relations, agencies, anticipates customer needs ambassadars
corporate groups, and wants Help to foster improvement
partnerships/sponsarships, »  Location and proximity to and innovation through
etc } relevant destinations (work feedback regarding product
Customers *  Booking process and leisure) and service quaNty
| s Pre-stay communications s Unigue experiences Support for sustainable
» Meeting and event e Useful facilities and operations
management technologies (gym. business
s  Stay or meetings and centre, restaurants, WiFi
events {on-site use of access, elc.}
facilties) « Sustainable operations
« Post-stay communications
L i (e.g , quality survey)
L- Loyalty programme




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

Suppliers

Bidding/tender process with
operations and procurement
teams

Provision and receipt of
goods and services on-site
(hotel and corporate office)
Account management

Development and growth of a
business relationship

Safe working environment
Fair price and payment terms
Meeting sustainable sourcing
requirements

Key part of responsible
sourcing efforts and ethical
business practices

Potential business
opportunities

A component of service and
product quality

Help to support health and
safety regime and
operational excellence

Shareholders

Financial communications
(annual report, results
announcements and
regulatory announcements)
investor presentations
investor road shows,
meetings and conference
calls

Annual and Extraordinary
General Meetings

= Good governance

« Transparency and
accountability

s Sustainable operations,
strategy and business
model underpinning long-
term value creathon

¢  Profitability and growth

e Access to management and

relevant and accurate
information

+« Alignment of remuneration
with the interests of
shareholder

Funding for business
expansion

Promote management
acoountability as the owners
of the company

Provide for enhanced
governance

Support sustainable
operations

Help to drive economic
development and societal
change

Regulators

Licensing and compliance
activities

Regulatory reporting
Voluntary and mandatory
surveys and consultations
Engagement through trade
associations

Assistance with economic
development initiatives

. Social and economic
development (through tax
revenue, creation of jobs,
etc.)

e Transparency and
accountability
Regulatory compliance

Environmentally friendly and

sustainable operations
- Minimise use of state
resources

Promotion of good
govermnance |leads to greater
investor and customer
confidence

Develop policies to help
foster growth (economic
incentives, such as tax
credits, subsidies, trade
policies, etc)

Support sustainability
through legislation

Help to ensure safety of
employees and customers

Communitieg

Meetings and events at the
hotel

Participation in local
outreach programmes
Supponrt of charitable
organisations

s  Environmental impact of the

business

+ Good corporate citizen
Economic development
(creation and maintenance

of good jobs, local sourcing.

etc)

+  Minimising disruption (noise,

traffic, stc.)

Source of talent and other
resources

Provide gotential business
opportunities and word-of-
mouth marketing channels
Assist with and support the
Group's sustainability efforts

Looking at each topic in turn

Board governance, including the commitment of the Board to diversity and the mix of the skills and
experience of the Directors

Following a governance review by the Board in December 2018, in early 2019 the Board, led by the Nominations
Committee, had an opportunity to consider potential changes to the compositon of the Board  As part of this
process members of the Board heard from shareholders and even communicated with representatives from the
Hampton-Alexander Review, which focuses on increasing gender diversity on Boards. and the Investment
Association, a trade body that represents investment managers and asset management firms in the UK. As a
result of this review, two new Directors were appointed in early 2019, Ms Paola Bergamaschi Broyd was appointed
oan 21 March 2019 and Mrs Vicky Willams was appointed effective as of 10 May 2019, and the Board adopted a
revised diversity policy. Following these two appointments, women represented over 20% of the Directors until the
eventual Delisting of the Company. Afier the Delisting, the Board continued to recognise the importance of gender
diversity and as at the date of this Strategic Report, the Board of the Company was comprised of two women and

four meny.
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Crganisational structure and succession planning

Since an interim Group Chief Executrve Officer was in place at the start of 2019, the Board undertook an exercise
to review the capabilities of the senior management team and whether the organisational structure was appropriate
to execute the Group's strategy and grow the business, whilst daing so in a prudent way that would serve to
minimise the principal risks and uncenainties facing the Group Shareholder feedback on the Group's management
team was received and noted by the Directors  Taking into account that feedback and the needs of the Group, the
Neminations Committee developed a role profile for the next permanent Group Chief Executive Officer and
commenced a search to fill the role. Intemnal candidates were considered as well as external ones, and several
premium executive search agencies were consulted during this process However, given the recent changas to
the management team the Nominatons Committee members determined that the intenm Group Chief Executive
Officer at the tme, Tan Kian Seng, heiped to provide stability and continuity to the management team and that it
was important not to rush the appointmen  Also, in late 2018 and early 2019, based on the succession planmng
conducted by the Board, some key gaps within the senior executive team were filled, including the appointment of
a new global head of Human Resources and the appointment of Kieran Twomey as the Group Chief Operating
Officer Then, foliowing the privatisation of the Company, the interim Group CEO decided to retire and the senior
management structure of the Group was rationalised and streamiined with the formation aof a new, smaller
Execubve Committee, comprised of two Executive Directors, Kwek Leng Beng and Kwek Ewx Sheng as well as Mr
Twomey, to help drive operational efficiency and excellence

The competitiveness of the Group’s business

The Directors considered commentary from various stakeholders, including the Company’s shareholders and its
customers, and examinad different business models in an effort to improve the performance of the Group and offer
its customers service brand and product offerings more closely aligned with their expectations. The Board
determined that in certain locations and for cerntain types of properties within the Group’s partfolio, a third party
management or affiliation model would provide a more compeling guest experience and distnbutian offenng  As
mentioned above, this resulted in, among other things, the repositioning of certain of the Group's strategic assets,
such as the conversion of the Millennium Mayfair Hotel London to the Biltmore, Mayfair, which 1s operated by Hilton
under its new LXR Hotels & Resorts luxury hotel collection and reopened in September 2019, the commencement
and/or completion of several other refurbishment projects, and the execution in May 2018 of an affiiation
arrangement with Hilton in respect of the Millennium Times Square New York. The Group will cantinue to éxplare
aiternative business models. on an asset-by-asset basis, throughout the course of 2020.

Impact of the Group’s business on the environment and the communities in which we operate

During the year the Board received several pruseritations and updates an the Group's sustainability initiatives.
These included the following

First, in recognition of the Group's sustainability efforts in 2019, in January 2020 the Company received a very
respectable score of "B° by the Carbon Disclosure Proiect ("CDP”), a not-for-profit charity that operates a global
disclosure system for invastors, companies. cities, states and regions to manage thew environmental impacts. In
terms of CDP rankings, this scare put the Group ahead of many of its peers

Second, in March 2019, the Science Based Target initiative approved the Company's Science Based Target
submission, which had been reviewed and approved by the Board 1n December 2018 and included a target to
reduce the Group's Stope 1, 2 and 3 greenhouse gas emissions by 27% by 2030, using 2017 as the base year.
Science Based Targets are targets that are deve'oped in conjunction with the Science Based Target initiative,
based on the |atest climate science and standards adopted as part of the "Paris Agreement” approved at the 2015
United Nations Climate Change Conference held in Paris, France, and are intended to limit global warming to well-
beiow two degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels

Third, in May 2019, the Board considered and adopted the Group's annual supply chain transparency statement.
ln accordance with the Modern Stavery Act 2015, the Company produces an annual statement, that can be found
at https./investors millenniumhotels com/corporate-responsibility/supply-chain-transparency-statement. detailing
the steps taken by the Company and its subsidiaries over the previous year, and the steps the Group intends to
take over the coming year, to prevent slavery and human trafficking occurring in our business and supply chains

Fourth, in November 2019, members of the Board and senior management received a presentation on the findings
of, and endorsed the general recommendations arising from, energy savings audits of several of the Group's UK
hotels pursuant to the second phase of the mandatory Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme promulgated by the
UK government’'s Depaniment for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy. While the recommendations will require
some capital investment, if implemented, they are expected to produce materal efficiencies and cost savings for
the Group's UK hotel estate.
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Finally tn the first quarter of 2020, management intends to launch an updated set of sustainability policies and
elective initiatives, which collectively are known as ‘Responsible Hospitality”, following a previous sustainability
audit of the Group's owned and operated hotels. These policies and initiatives, which have been endorsed by the
Board. focus on the following key areas and are intended to help aur hotals mprove their sustainab ity efforts
reducing waste, laundry activity, water usage, energy and greenhouse gas emissions

promoting more sustainable procurement activities.

s  employee training and engagement on the impact on the environment of the Group’s operaticns: and
=  supporting our community

Management anticipate conducting future sustainability audits to review the effectiveness of the Responsible
Hospitality policies and initiatives and to help to foster healthy competition among the hotels and regions

The Group's sustainability programme, which is more fully outlined in the Company's Corporate Responsibility
Report located at https . /investors millennumhotels. com/corporate-responsibility. supports the interests of all of its
stakeholders, including its shareholders, its customers, its employees its supphers, the communities in which the
Group operates and even regulators The Directlors recognised that the Group does not operate In a vacuum and
that in order for the business to grow and prosper over the long term, the business must be conducted in a
sustainable way

The Final Offer and subsequent Delisting of the Company, as well as the subsequent integration of the
Group within CDL

When the Final Offer was made. the Company's Independent Non-Executive Directors formed an independent
committee of the Board to consider the offer and whether its terms were fair and reasonable and recommendable
to shareholders. The views of the Company's sharehoiders were considered and legal and financial advisors were
consulted In addition. the Directers also took into account the impact of the Final Offer and subsequent Delisting
on the business and employees of the Group and sought certain protections from the Offeror in that regard

Based on the value of the Final Offer and the ability of investors to realise that value over the medium term under
the then current ownership structure, the execution risk associated with the Group's strategy in light of the
Company’s management capabilities, the views of shareholders (as evidenced, in some cases, by undertakings to
accept the Final Offer provided by certain key shareholders) as well as intention statements made by the Offeror
and CDL in respect of the Group's business and employees, including certain protections provided in respect of
certain employment. pension and share scheme rights. The reasoning behind the Independent Committee’s
recommendation, including the interests that were taken into acecount by the Directors when assessing the Final
Offer, is described in more detail in the offer document that was pubhished on 15 August 2019

Over the course of the year, representatives of the Board as weill as members of the Group's senior executive
team, met with or spoke to many of the Group's top institutional shareholders regarding both the Group's
governance regime and the effectiveness of its aperations. Often these interactions occurred on a one-on-one
basis. $0 a constructive dialogue could be had The Group also held an investor prasentation in February 2019,
following the release of the Company's 2018 financial results. and Directors had a chance to meet with investors
at its Annual General Meeting in May 2019. The Directors' Report further describe the ways in which the Board
and senior management team engaged with employees, supphers and other stakeholders dunng the year

Following the Delisting in October 2019, the Company’s Independent Directors stepped down and new Directors
joined the Board of the Company Whilst the Company no longer has any minonty shareholders, since it is fully
owned by subsidiaries of CDL, engagement with the Company’s other stakeholders remains a priority for the Board,
and the Directors will look for ways to improve its stakeholder understanding and engagement in 2020.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

GROUP RESULTS

In constant currency, hotel revenue increased by £2m or O 2% Reported hotel revenue in 2019 increased by £21m
or 2 4% with the impact from a weaker pound sterling against the Group's main trading currencies. Group RevPAR
increased by 0 6% in constant currency

In constant currency, total revenue for the year increased by £6m or 0.6%. Reported total revenue for 2019
increased by £28m or 2 8% to £1,025m (2018 £897m).

Pre-tax profit for 2019 decreased by £4m to £102m (2018, £106m) and inciuded net valuation and impairment
charges of £34m (2018 £36m) After removing the effects of /mpairment iosses and net revaluation gains, the
Group's reported profit before tax was £136m (2018 £142m).

HOTEL OPERATIONS

The refurbishment work of the Mayfair hotel in London started during the fourth quarter of 2017 on a phased basis
with partial closures of guest rooms The property was then fully closed in July 2018 to facilitate on-going
refurtishment work. it re-opened in September 2019 Tatal project cost is around £60m

The Group's New York hotels are still loss making. The Group’s revenue recovery strategy for Millennium Times
Square New York (formerty the Millennium Broadway New York Times Square) whereby the hotel joined Hilton as
an affitiate with access to its reservation channels and foyaity programme, has yel to show significant improvement
in its trading perfermance. Broadway implemented a umon buyout costing about US$1 2m in 2019 and it also
incurred about US$2 2m on other union related costs.

DEVELOPMENTS

The Sunnyvale Califorma project comprises the constructon of a 263-room hotel and a 250-unit residential
apartment block on 35,717m? mixed use freehold langsite. The ground-breaking ceremony was hetd on 16 QOctober
2018 and the project is scheduled to complete in 11 2021. The construction cost is estimated at US$180m (£139m).
The residential apartment block commenced construction in July 2018. The hotel is currently planned to be branded
as a M Social to fit with the expected guest profile The Group hopes to capitalise from the location of this project
as Sunnyvale is the headquarters of many technulugy companies and is part of Calfornia's high-tech area of Silicon
Valley Construction has commenced and the project is expected 10 complete in the next two years

No further progress on the architecture and engineering designs in relation to the construction of a 300-room hotel
and a 250-unit serviced apartment complex on Yangdong development iand, situated adjacent to Millennium Seout
Hiiton Review is still on-going to ensure efficiency i the design with minimum basement excavation due to the
challenging surrounding site and soit conditions Total construction cast 18 anticipated to be around KRW130b
(£86m). The start date 1s not expectad to be earlier than in 2021

HOTEL REFURBISHMENTS

Current maior on-going phased refurbishment includes Millennium Hotel Paris Opera (£5m), Millennium Gloucester
Hotei Londen Kensington (£12m) and Millennium Hiton New York One UN Plaza (£9m).

ACQUISITIONS

On 1 February 2018, the Group acquired The Waterfront Hotel In New Plymcuth, New Zealand, for a purchase
consideration of NZ$11m (E8m) The iconic 42-room hotel was rebranded a Millennium hotel in Q2 of 2018.

On 27 November 2018, CDL Haospitality Trust {("COLHT"} accGuired 35 0% of the shares and voting interest in Event
Hospitalty Group Il BV, which wholly owns Event Hospitalty Group Il ftaly SRL, sole shareholder of NKS
Hospitality Ill for a purchase consideration of €33m (£29m). NKS Hospitality lll SRL is the legal owner of “Hotel
Cerretani Florence, MGallery by Sofitel’ and the fixtures, furniture and equipment therein.

There were no acqusitons dunng 2019
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DISPOSALS

Copthorne Hotel Birmingham

In December 2013 the Group entered into various commercial arrangements with Birmingham City Counoil and
Paradise Circus Limited Partnership, the developer of Bimingham’'s Paradise Circus redevelopment scheme
("PCLP™), now known as Paradise Birmingham, as a result of a compulsory purchase order by Birmingham City
Council that covered the Copthorne Hotel Birmingham and other properties in its vicinity. Those arrangements
include put and call options that provide for the sale of the existing hotel to PCLP for £17.2m  Currently, the Group
continues to own and operate the hotel untll such tme as one of those options is exercised The arrangements
also included a call option for the Group to acquire an alternate sie in the scheme for the development of a new
250-room hotel. In December 2018, the Group exercised that option, subject to the parties agreeing to the
preliminary design and ccsting for the new hotel and the execution of a development agreement Dy the partes. As
the parties had not entered into the development agreement by the required deadline. on 2 April 2020 the Group
terminated its option to acquire the alternative site and as a result, that option is na lenger valid

Millenium Hotel Glasgow

in March 2017 Scottish Ministers approved a compulsory purchase order impacting the Millennium Hotel Glasgow
pursuant to which Network Rail Infrastructure Limited ("Network Rail') subsequently acquired and demohshed the
1970s-built, 51-room extensijon of the hotel as part of the redevelopment of Queen Street Station. In November
2018 Network Rail paio to the Group, on a without prejudice basis, an intenm compensaton payment of £2 62m
Negotations are ongoing with Network Rail regarding the full level of compensation payable to the Group In
connection with the taking. |f the parties are unable to agree a value, the matier will be settled at the Lands
Tnounal  Meanwhile, the Group caontinues to consider its optons with respect to the refurbishment and
repositioring of the existing hotel

Millennium Cincinnat:

A previously announced by the Company. effective as of 1 July 2019 a subsidiary of the Cormpany entered into a
purchase and sale agreement ("PSA") with a Cincinnati-based development company for the sale to the purchaser
or its designee of the Group's interest in the Millennium Cincinnati hotel  The purchaser subsequently assigned its
interest in the PSA to The Port of Greater Cincinnati Development Authority and completion of the sale, which was
subject 1o the satisfaction of certain conditions, completed on 14 February 2020. Refer to Note 36 of the financial
statements for further detail

COLHT

During Q1 2018, CDLHT disposed of its investment in two hotels in Australia, the Mercure Brisbane and Ibis
Brisbane for A$77m (£45m) generating a profit of £3m.

On 21 Navember 2019, CDLHT announced its proposed disposal of Novotel Singapore Clarke Quay. Accordingly,
the property with a total carrying value of S$160m (£91m) was classified as asset held for sale in the statement of
financial positicn as at 31 December 2019 The disposal is expected to be completed in 2020.

CcoviD-19

The novel coronavirus, COVID-19, is having a material impact on the Group's operations and, in particular, its
hospitality operations. The lockdowns and social distancing guidelines and requirements in Europe, the US, Asia
and Australasia, as well as the travel restrictions in various jurisdichons, have resuited in hotel closures and, where
hotels remain open, significantly low occupancy levels This has resulted in significantly lower revenue and profit
since the end of 2019 and continues to affect the Group's performance.

Whilst the full financial impact of the pandemic on the current financial year ending 31 December 2020 is impossible
to predict with a high degree of certainty, we have considered a range of scenarios to understand the potentiat
impact on our business and have mplemented appropnate mitigation measures, including the consideration of
atternative customer segments and revenue opportunities, such as housing patients and supporting heatthcare and
cther essential workers, as well as the )implementation of robust cost contro! measures.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

We use a set of carefully selected key performance indicators ("KPIs") ta monitor our success. These KPls are
used to measure the Group's progress year-on-year against those strategic pnorities, and are set out below.

GROWTH

Te achieve profitable growth and improved asset returns for our hospitaiity business

Available Room*
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FINANCIAL LEVERAGE

To ensure a sound financiat base in order to provide a solid platform for the development and growth of the
Group

]
Gearng ‘ Net Debt
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COST CONTROL

Tc ensure costs remain in line with revenug movements through a decantralhsed model, technological
enhancements 1o drive eficiencies and rigorous monitoring of spending

Operating Profit Profit befare tax

tm £
150 . a0

120 - 120 .
98 - 102

3 12

2018 2014 2018 2019

3
[

€
&

The Group believes that the KPIs provide useful and necessary information on the underlying trends
and are used by the Group for internal performance analysis. Given the decentralised model of the
Group, regional management focuses on operational KPIs. These include customer feedback, hotel
gross operating profit and staff retention. General Managers report their operating KPIs to Regional
Managers on a regular basis with the comparison numbers for the local competitive set of each hotel.
The hotel performance numbers are then consolidated into regional and Group-wide figures. 3

. The Group has a flexible and robust businée;girﬁbid'élwtiﬁéfééhefaiés profit predominately through its

portfolio of owned and managed hospitality assets. These assets are diversified by brand, market,

geography and customer offering according to what we judge to be the most appropriate means of |
optimising their earnings. We aim to hold our assets for the long term, especially those in key gateway l
cities. We employ complementary business models in certain circumstances. For example, we may .
engage third party operators on a selective basis to manage our brand assets that we own. We also

may operate through a licensing model, through joint ventures or through arrangements where we

' manage hotels on behalf of other third party owners. We regard the flexibility of our business models

as an essential strength in a varied and rapidly changing global hospitality market.

Our strategy is to maximise returns on shareholder's capital through the ownership and operation of |
hospitality assets in key gateway cities and other prime locations across the world that naturally attract |
large numbers of business and leisure travellers. Underpinning this strategy are the twin aims of :
operational excellence and prudent asset management. We seek to increase returns through quality ‘
service and efficient operations—by developing our people, processes and technology—as well as |
through investment in the material fabric of our hotel estate. We also look to grow the business through |

_asset acquisition in strategic locations. ) oo
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OUR RISKS

Financial and operational nisks are an inherent pant of conducting business in a challenging and dynamic business
environment Many of our pnncipal nsks will be the same risks faced by similar businesses in the hospitality
industry

In this sechon, we describe the principal risks and uncertainties that could affect the Group’s ability to deliver
against its strategy together with the controls and nsk managemaent frarmework in place to mitigate such rigks

Management of risk

The Group’s risk management framewoark has peen developed to align with the best practice nsk management
standard ISO 31000 The framewark consists of a group nisk management process for standardized assessment,
reporting and moritoring of risks 10 ensure a robust and consistent standard in line with the Group's risk appetite.
Under the Group's risk rmanagement framework, there are three levels of risks. Level 1 risks represent the principal
risks that are monitored closely at Board leve! Level 2 risks are those within the areas of responsibility of the
regional and functignal heads Finally, Level 3 risks encompass hotel-level and project-specific risks

The Board have established a clear organizationai structure for the management of these nisks in the Group, with
well-defined roles and responsibilities. The Board retains overall responsibility and accountabilty for the
effectivenass of the nsk management framework and internat control systems

Supporting the Board, the Group Management Risk Committee has accountabiity for ensuring effective nsk
management at the operational level in line with the Board-approved risk appetite limits. The Group Management
Risk Committee 1s ied by the Group Chief Operating Officer

To support this structure, a Global Director of Complhance and Risk Management was appointed to work with the
Group Management Risk Committee and the business to help strengthen and further embed the Group's regulatory
compliance ang enterprise nsk management framework. As risks continue to evoive and grow in complexity, so
toc do our nsk management processes, ensurng continual improvement, and growth in the organisation's risk
maturity. Wark on these nitiatives will continue over the course of 2020

Risk Management Framework

BoardRisk

LEVEI 1 Profile

Regionat} Functional
Level 2 Risk Profiles Risk Profiles

L T PP T P P T T PP TP

ProjectRisk Hotel Risk Project Risk
Leve' 3 Profiles Profiles Profiles
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Governance Structure

City Developments Limited (CDIL)
Audit & Risk Committee
Risponsible tor assesang and monstonng the principal risks and reviesving
the ctfvetiveness of the anternal control. Boancial reporting and risk
mamkigement <ustems within the CDL group of comparnies

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited

Board of Directors
nerall accountability for strategic risk management and seiting risk appetite

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited
Management Risk Committee
Operitivnal accountability for the management and control of nisks and the
implementation of mitigation measures in line with the Group s risk appetite

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited CDL - Group Internal
Global Dircctor Risk and Compliance Audit

Reviews the elfectivencess of the

Supports the Group W sirengtiren and embed the Group™s regulatory compliance . A
Grroup s internal controls

and enterprise rish managernent framework

in the following table we have identified the key risks that are regarded as the most relevant for the Group The
principal risks should be viewed as the nsks that we see as being material to our business at this time.

The following table inciudes a description of each nsk and how 1t could impact the business, a summary of controls
and mitigating activities being undertaken and the trend’ for the risk. This trend represents the forward-looking view
of the net nsk expasure for each risk, taking into account changes in the external risk environment and the Group's

internal mitigation activities. The risks have been (oosely categonsed as being strategic, tactical or operaticnal in
nature

The order in which risks are presented below is not indicative of the relative potential impact to the Group. The
risks may, to varying degrees, impact the Group's revenues, profits, net assets, operations, guests, employees,
partners and/or reputation.

Not all potential risks are listed below; some nsks have been excluded because the Board does not consider them
to be material to the Group's long-temm strategy, performance or wiability. In general, the diversity and geographical
spread of the Group’s assets provide natural hedges against many of the principal risks identified below and our
processes aim to provide reasonable not absolute, assurance that the principal risks that are significant to our
business have been Wdentified and addressed Addiionally, there may be risks that are not reasonably foresceable
as at the date of this report.

The outbreak of the nove| corenavirus, COVID-1¢, in late 2018 and early 2020 has gwven nise to a senous global
heatth crisis and this has impacted the travel and hospitality sectors and the Group n particular. We have taken
steps ta help mitigate the risks associated with the outbreak, including updating the Group’s regionalised crisis
response plans in line with guidance issued by health authorities. such as the World Health Organization and local
governmental autherities, and developing new business continuity plans tailored to COVID-19.

The well-being of our guests, colleagues and other stakeholders i1s our top pricrity and we have implemented robust
precautionary measures, including an enhanced cleaning and sanitization programme, to help ensurg that our
hotels and carporate offices remain safe places to visit. The management team will continue to be wigilant and
closely monitor the latest developments and guidance about the outbreak, and implement further mitigating
measures as Necessary.
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Risk | Potential iImpact [ Mitigation Activities | Trend
Strategic Risks
Revenue Keeping abreast of digitat « The Group continues to refresh its 2>
channel transformation and online competition digital marketing strategy and invest in
optimisation is cntical given the growing proportion its e-commerce, customer relatonship
and cost of of the Group's hotel rcoms being management, revenue management
sale booked online  Online travel and reservations systems in order to
agencies ("OTA") tend to have higher help increase rates, retain existing
commission rates compared to customers and generate new
traditional travel agents and are taking business.
an increasing share of bookings s  Fundamental to the Group's
across the sector. Over time, distribution strategy is growing brand
consumers may develop loyalties to recognition and loyalty along with
the OTAs rather than to the Group's increasing direct channel bookings  In
brands These trends may impact the 2019, the Group continued to enhance
nsing cost of sale utimately affecting its brand website and launched a
profitability Other costs related to revamped loyalty programme
metasearch engines and tools that « The Group is aggrassively managing
help direct online traffic towards our its portfolio of distribution channel
own websites are increasing On the partners, including established OTAs
supply side, shanng economy and new, niche or focal players, to
ptatforms, such as Airbnb, may optimise revenue, gain access to new
expand their market share and customers and minimize commission
compete with more tradtional COosts
business and leisure « The Group selactiveiy affiliates with
accommodations, international hotel chains with respect
to certain properties where it has been
determined that doing so would heip to
aptimize management and/or
distribution capabilities.
Brand equity | Brand equity and customer loyalty >
and influence consumer choice « The Group has in place brand standards
customer Understanding customer needs, ciear that are designed to maintain a levef of
loyalty and consistent communication and the product consistency based on the brand
delivery of quality progucts and coliection to which a particular hotel
services that meet those customer belongs whilst allowing flexibility in order
- needs are all crtical elements of to maintain the personality of the
fostering brand equity and loyalty property. The brand standards capture
the key messaging behind each ¢f the
Further, the Group’s ability to protect its Group’s brands.
intellectual property nghts in its brands « Toraise the profile of our brands and to
15 fundamental to delivering on these help build brand equity, marketing
endeavors. Competiion 15 fierce, and campaigns are highly targeted and often
the Group’s scale and marketing leverage strategic partnerships such as
expenditure cannot match those of our partnership with Chelsea Football
larger competitors. Generally, the Club A newly redesigned loyalty
Group operates properties which it programme was launched in 2019.
owns and therefore is able to exercise « Investment continues to be made in
control over the service and product protecting the Group's brands from
quality of those hotels. Failure to create misuse and infnngement, by way of
brand equity and customer loyalty could trademark registrations, enforcement of
affect the pace of future revenue intellectual property rights and domain
growth as well as the pricing power, nameé protection The Group utiises third
image and reputation of the Group party online brand monitonng and
protection agencies to assist with the
Group's enforcament activities.
Tactical Risks
Investment ' The Group's hotels require = The Group continues fo develop e
and asset investment, typically in cycles of minor property spectfic refurbishment plans,
management | and major refurbishments. to maintain which focus on the capital expenditure
their competitiveness. Refurbishment requirements of each property in terms
projects invanably impact on of regular maintenance and product
' revenues, particularly when major enhancement to help ensure the
R | rencvations reguire the hotel to be products remain competitive These
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Risk | Potential Impact Mitigation Activities Trend

" closed for extended periods. Also, plans generally are daveloped by the

i refurbishment projects or other capital hotel management teams and reviewed

' projects may overmun on tme and and approved at the Group level
costs ar may not celiver the expected +« Refurbishment projects typically are
returns on investment The size of phased in order to minmise thewr impact
investment and appropriate allocation on revenues Where it is justified. a
of limited resources across a diverse decision to fully close and reopen a hotel
portfolio are also key considerations after renovation can be taken, in order to
The ability of the Group to make the help repostion the hotel, for instance
right invesiment decssions at the nght = With regard o large-scale capral
time, and devote appropriate projects, such as the Sunnyvale,
resourees to its investment California mixed-use development, the
programme, 18 crucial to enabling Yangdong development in Seoul,
long-term, profitable growth. dedicated project managers and cost

consultants are engaged o help oversee
the projects and track spending against
approved budgets.

s Aglobal head of capital projects and
technical services is supported by
regional asset management resources
and helps to oversee the Group's capital
investment and other asset
management indiatives

Competition, The hotel industry operates within an « The diverse nature of the Group's s
trading and inherently cyclical sector, where portfolio, both geographcaily and in

market " competition, both online and offling. respect of its breadth of brands, provides
factors 18 Increasing The growth of room a naturat hedge against vanous external

~ supply, without corresponding nsks Sinoe the Group has a

" increases in dermand, may lead to concentration of hotels in key gateway

. downward pressure on rates, which cities such as London, Singapore and

| n tum could negatively impact the New Yok, to benefit from carporate and

'+ Group's performance. The leisure travel, the management team
hospitality industry also is seeing a keeps a dose watch on local events In
degree of consolidation in pursuit of those locations. Also, the Group
scale and the benefits associated maintains a flexible operating structure
with it that allows 1t to align its sales and

marketng activities and spend to target
in addition, trading can be directly relevant customer segments and adapt
affected by localised events—such to changing hospitalty trends.
as natural catastrophes, country or e Colleagues in the Group’s Treasury
regional geo-political matters—as team menitor and address treasury
well as global, macro-economic matters, including investment and
trends impacting travel and hotel counterparty risks, in accordance with
stays. the Group's treasury policy.

« Foreign exchange exposure 1S pnmanly

Finally, the Group operates in managed through the funding of
numerous jurisdictions and trades in purchases and repayment of borrowings
© various intemational currencies but from income generated in the same

' reports its inancial results in pounds currency.

" sterling Fluctuations in currency = Interest rate hedges and fixed-rate
exchange rates and interest rates may lending facilties are used from time to
be either accretive or dilutive to the time: to manage interest rate nsks.
Group's reported trading results and
net asset value Unhedged interest
rate exposures pose a risk, too. Rising
interest rates may result in increased

| borrowing costs and impact the

i Group's profits,

Operational Risks
Talent Hospitality is a people business. The ¢ The Group has strong regional and local +
management | Group’s brands and ability to deliver management structures underpinned by
and consistent service quality are a common commitment to ensunng a
succession dependent on its abllity to attract, rewarding and empowenng work
develop and retain employees with environment. This is further supported by
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compliance

and networks and in cloud-based
environments, present heightened risks
of attacks affecting the operation of
those systems and networks and/or a
potential loss or misuse of confidental
or propretary wnformaton The
occurrence of a cyber secunty event or
loss of data could disrupt business, the
ability of the Group to take or fulfil

Risk | Potential impact Mitigation Activities Trend
the appropriate skills, expenence performance management and
. and aptitude Generally in the recognition systems, compensaton and
| industry, fronthne employees are benefits programmes. e g , bonus plans,
| prone to higher levels of turnover service reward programmes, share
Also. with the growth in room supply, plans, and intermal and extemal training
demand and consurner cholce and developrment programmes.
globally, t becomes increasingly « The Group strives 1o provide intemal
important for aperatcrs o be able fo talent with opportunities for development
find and retain senior leaders who and advancement as a matter of pnorty
inspire and motivate staff Failure of « The Company's Board of Directors and
the Group to property pian for the its executive management commitice
recruitment and succession of key supported by the Group's Human
management roles may impact Resources function. are tasked with
service quality, cansistency and/or ensuring that proper succession plans
delay the execution of the Group's are in place for key members of the
strategies senicr management team.
¢ The Group is keeping on top of
Not urique to the Group, a developments relating to the UK's exit
considerable proportion of hotel staff from the European Union as they unfold,
in the UK, and particularly In London, and management are continuing ta
ariginate from European Union review the potential impact of these
countries The ability of the Group to devalopments. A ‘Brexit Steering Group'
retain appropriate staff, as well as has been established to ensure the
the cost of doing 50, may be Group considers all potential matenal
impacted by the UK's exit from the fisks associated with an exit and that
European Union appropriate mitigation strategies have
been developed. This allows the Group
{2 remain nimble and ready le respond
| to different issues and scenarios.
Heaith, The heaith, safety and securty of ¢ The Group has heaith, safety and >
safety and guests, visitors and employees s a environmental management systems in
security fundamental expectation and there is place, which include policies,
| a breadth of regulatory requirements procedures, testing, self and third-party
‘ across different jurisdictons relating to audits, traiming and reporting. Where
| heaith and safety matters. Failure to possible, these seek to align with the
| implement and maintan sufficient requirements of best practice accredited
controls regarding health and safety systems (e.g , OHSAS 18001). By
ssues could result in serious njury or following these standards, the Group
loss of life, lead to regulatory strives to work to the highest standards
nvestgations and expose the Group of health and safety
to significant clams, sanctions or = Management proactively monitors
fines, both ¢civil and cnminal, as well geopelitical developments and seeks to
as reputational damage. dentify emerging risks at the earliest
opportunity to ensure clear roles and
Whilst health and safety matters often responsibilties, intemal controis and
are local to a particular venue or ather steps 1o minimize these exposures
location. security concems can be to the greatest extent possible.
affected by global geopalitical events.
Information Increasing reliance on online distnbution e«  The Group's regional Information +
security, channels and transactions over the Technology {"IT") teams conduct
vulnerability intermet and mobile applications, and periodic security and penetration testing,
to cyber- the aggregation and storage of guest often using external consultants, and
aftacks and and other information electronically, any recommendations or
PCI-DSS both on company-controlled servers enhancements are implemented where

necessary.

Software systems are regularly updated
to allow for the latest security updates
and patches ta be installed

Where the Group outsources critical
information technology systems,
including its point of sale and property
management systems, the Group
utiises reputable suppliers that have

bookings or lead to reputational and
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[ Risk Potential Impact Mitigation Activities Trend
: menetary damages. iingaton or industry-standard or best-in-class data
. regulatory fines. security protocols.
] The regional IT teams have developed
In addition, various aspects of the disaster recovery plans and guides with
Group’s operations are required to regard to their high-prionty systems that
achieve compliance with the need to be up-and-running, and tests are
payment card industry security conducted on select mission-critical
stangards ("PCI-DSS"), and failure to systems annually to verify their
do so could resutt in penalties and/or recoverability offsite.
withdrawal of credit card payment A new global information security policy
faciities. was rolled out in 2019 and other IT
policies and procedures were updated
over the course of the year to reflect the
latest standards and requirements.
Legal and The Group operates in many The Group continues to monitor +
ragulatory jurisdictions and is exposed to the risk regulatory changes in the jurisdictions n
compliance of non-compliance with increasingly which it operates in order to identify its

complex statutory and regulatory
requirements, including competition
law, anti-bribery and corruption and
data privacy compliance regimes.
Non-compliance with such regulations,
which differ by jurisdiction and are
areas of increasing focus by
reguiators, could result in fines andior
other damages, including reputational
damage, being incurred, parlicularly in
the event a data breach should occur.

In addition, the Group has contractual
relationships in place with various
counterparties, including customers,
suppliers, employees and other
parties, and provides goods and
services to customers. As such, a
breakdown in any of these
relationships could lead to disputes
and ultimately itigation, which in tum
could give rise to reputational
damages, management distraction
and/or the Company having to incur
signmicant costs or damages,
particularly where claims are not
insured or are not fully insured

In certain countries where the Group
operates, particutarly in emerging
markets, local practices and the legal
environment may be such that
enforcement of the Group's legal rights
is challenging.

obiigations and mplement appropnate
compliance and training programmes.
The Group has comprehensive global
and, where applicable, regional policies
and procedures in place to address
competition law, data privacy, ethical
business conduct, whistle-blowing. anti-
corruption and bribery, gifts and
hospitality and charitable donations,
among others.

The Group maintains in place industry
standard insurance cover to mitigate
many potential litigation risks, such as
empioyment practices liability, workers
compensation and genera! liability
policies.

The Group has controls in place ta
manage and help mitigate the risks
associated with its various contractual
ralationships, from execution through to
termination, insured and uninsured
litgation and other disputes. Regular
litigation reports are provided to the
Board.

A dedicated Giobal Director Risk and
Compliance is tasked with enhancing the
Group's compliance and nsk
management efforts.
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STATEMENT OF GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS’ REPORT

From the period between 1 January 2019 and 11 October 2018, when the Delisting occurred. the Company
operated as a public company with a premium listing on the London Stock Exchange

Prior to the Final Offer, the Company applied the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code (July 2018
edition) (the “2018 Code”). However, ance the Final Offer was made in June 2019, many of the initiatives
commenced to enhance the Company's corporate govermnance regime in order to comply with the 2018 Cade were
put on hold by the Directors as the Company’s ownership and govemance structures would undergo significant
changes in the event the Final Offer were to complete  Following completion of the Final Offer, as a result of the
Delisting, resignation of the Independent Non-Executive Directors and disbanding of the Board's committees, the
Company ceased to apply the principles of the 2018 Code and instead implemented a more-streamiined
govemance structure as the Board worked on integrating the Company within the wider CDL group The Board
will continue to review and refine its governance arrangements, to better align them with COL’s structure, whilst
being mindful that a successful governance regunme must provide for an agile and empowered organization and
foster accountability to stakeholders and transparency.

Heng Leong Investment Holdings Pte Ltd (*HLIH") is considered to be the mmediate and uitmate holding company
of COL. CDL. in turn, owns and controls 100% of the share capital of the Company through several of its subsidiary
companias.

Although the Group is not reporting against the 2018 Cecde for s 2019 financial year, the Board has decided to
report on its governance arrangements following the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private
Companies {December 2018 edition).

Purpose and Leadership

The strategy ang business model for tha Company are outlined in the Strategic Report on page 10. Qur vision 1s
to be the leading global hospitality real estate ownership graup for gateway cities, with effective, in-built and unique
asset management skils Our commitment is to hospitality and creating memorable expenences in distinctive
environments. We strive 1¢ recognise not only the faces of our guests, but atso their individual needs and desires.

To do this, we will need to deliver ocutstanding service, quality, oniginality and value to our customers by employing
and developing the best pecple and by having a challenging and forward thinking business culture. Fundamentally,
we treat our guests, employees and other stakeholders with respect and integnty

As part of the Group's integration within COL following the Delisting. the Board has decided to adopt CDL's values,
set out below, as they are consistent with the ethos of the organization and the acoption of them within the Company
will help to ensure alignment of values across the wider CDL group

Innovation - Because this 1s crucial to our success
Collaboration  — Because this is the best way to achieve exponential resufts
Integrity ~ Because this 1s at the core of everything that we do

In 2020, the Board intends tc review the ways in which the purpose and values are embedded throughout the
organisation. As part of this review, the Board will examine the culture of the Company and will seek to reinforce
a culture of accountability where employees take into account the views of, and are responsible to, the Company’s
stakeholders, including our guests and customer, other employees, supplers, the communities in which we
operate

Whilst the Company engages with its employees and other stakeholders, as outlined further in this Directors’ Report
and elsewhere, the Board also will look for ways to improve its stakeholder engagement going forward  This may
involve the implementation of a global intranet, for instance, and more frequent communications frem the
management team.

The Group has elected to participate in CDL’s group-wide whistleblowing pragramme. This allows employees 1o
raise serious matters of concern——via emall or a dedicaled whistlieblowing hotline—through an independent
channel, being CDL's Internal Audit function. This programme is, in tumn, overseen by the Audit & Risk Committee
of CDL. in addition, the Group's Slavery and Human Trafficking statement, which is updated annually, includes a
method for suppliers to raise matters of concern for investigaton by the company {(via email to

supplychain@milienniumhotels.co uk).
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Board Composition

The current governance structure of the Company, as at the date of this Directors’ Report. includes a Board of
Directors comprised of six Directors Four of these, Kwek Leng Beng, Kwek Eik Sheng, Jonathan Grech ang
Angela Ong, hold executive positions with the Company or a direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company and are
thus considered to be Executive Directors Two Directors, Kwek Leng Peck and Tanya Chiaranussati, do not hold
executive positions within the Group. although Mr Kwek does hald executive positions with HLIM and certamn of its
subsidiary companies.

The remit of the Board is to aversee the running of the Group as stewards for the Company’s stakehaiders. The
Board must ensure that there are adequate resources in place to ensure effective and efficient operations,
underpinned by gocd governance, strong values and an ethical, safety-driven culture

It 1s anficipated that the Board will meet approximately three or four imes per year, including, at a mmnimum, one
meeting to approve the annual financia! statements of the Group, cne ta approve the half-year results and ane to
approve the annual budget and strategy or plan for the ensuing financial year, with the fourth meeting to be called
on an ad-hoc basis as required.

The Board 1s chaired by Kwek Leng Beng, who served as the Non-Executive Chairman of the Company since its
listing in 1996 through to its Delisting 1n October 2019  Given his experience and the fact that he also serves as
the Executive Chairman of CDL, his leadership helps to provide continuity to the Board as well as alignment of
decision making with CDL’s strategic objectives. Whiist there are no independent directors on the Beard, the
current mix of executive and non-executive rafes, coupled with the diversity of the backgrounds and skifisets of the
Directors, 1s felt to promote constructive dialogue, and challenge when necessary, as well as effective decision
makirg

As noted in the Section 172(1} Statement, despite the Delisting of the Company, the Board continues to suppart
the aspiratons set out in the Hampton-Alexander Review, conducted by Sir Philip Hampton and the late Dame
Helen Alexander, which challenges FTSE 350 companies 1o achieve a target of one-third of Board positions to be
held by women by 2020 Currently. this standard 1s met as two out of the six Directors of the Company are female.
However, the Board not only believes that gender diversity is important, but the Directors recognise the benefits
and different perspectives that diversity in all of its forms=inciuding diversity of age, ethnic origin, and culturai and
educational backgrounds--can bring to Board deliberations. As such, these factors will be taken into account when
making future appointments or changes to tha composition of the Board.

The day-to-day operation of the Group has been delegated to an Executive Committee, which includes Kwek Leng
Beng. Kwek Eik Sheng and Kieran Twomey, the Group Chief Operating Officer  The regional and functional heads
report into the Executive Committee members The Executive Committee provides regular reports to the Board
including quarterly financial updates and updates on other significant matters, including material transactions,
significant litigation, proposais to enter into new business lines or markets, strategic aliances and so forth

A set of reserved matters, approved by the Board, governs what matters require approval by the Board versus
those that are delegated to the Executive Committee The Executive Cormmittee operates pursuant to formai terms
of reference

The Board will continue to keep the composition and structure of the Board and its committees under review as we
progress with the CDL integration process.

Director Responsibilitias

All Directors have access to the advice of the Company Secretary, wha is respanstple for ensunng that proper
Board procedures and applicable corporate governance rules and regulations are observed. In addition, the
Directors are able, if necessary, o take independent profassional advice at the Company’s expense.

The Chaimman, in conjunction with the Company Secretary, is responsible for ensuring that Directars recewve
appropriate training at the Company’s expense where specific expertise is required in the course of the exercise of
their dutigs All Directors receive a Board compendium detailing matters relating to Board procedures and their
duties as directors. A bespoke iInduction programmae s established for any new Directors who are appointed, based
on their needs and experience.

The Board has established agreed procedures for managing conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest
These procedures and any potential conflicts authorised in accordance with section 175 of the Companies Act
2006, as permitted by the Company's Anticles of Association, are reviewed by the Board at least annually and other
potential conflicts are reviewed as they may arise from time to time The Board is satisfied that the procedures for
managing potential conflicts remain effective
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As the Company integrates into the wider CDL group, the ways in which the Board and Executive Committee wll
laise with and repart into CDL's decision-making bodies will be reviewed and refined, and the Directors intend to
develop and agree with CDL a protocol governung these matters.

Opportunity and Risk

When assessing a potential bustness opportunity, i addition tc assessing whether it 15 aligned with the strategic
pricrities of the Group and its impact on the Group'’s stakeholders, the Board also considers the nsks associated
with the opportunity and whether it is likely to create and preserve value over the long term The Directors
understand that whilst the Group must remain nimble and entrepreneunai to tackle the challenges facing the
company and industry more generally, the Directors also are keenly aware that the Group must operate in a
sustainable manner in order to be successful.

The areas over which the members of the Executive Commitiee have responsibikty have been clearly defined.
Kwek Eik Sheng, who also sits on the Board and serves as Group Chief Strategy Officer for CDL, is tasked with
overseeing investments, special projects and development projects for the Group Mr Twomey, an the other hand,
focuses on the Group's operations, with the goals of driving organic top-line growth and implementing effective
cost control.

In terms of oversight, each year management prepares an annual strategic plan and budget for the Group for the
ensuing year These are submitted first the Executive Committee, for its review and approval, and then to the
Board for its consideration. Subsequently, the Executive Committee and Board review management's progress in
executing against the strategic plan and budget. This process includes a quarterly assessment of the Group’s
performance and how it tracks against the plan and budget

Additionally, a delegation of authority policy applies to the regional and functional heads and their reporting lines

This policy includes different layers of approval for transactons and capital investments, such as the purchase or
sale of a hatel ar a major refurbishrent project, for instance, and other matters. In the case of capital investments,
the mast material ones, involving an expenditure of S$10m or more, must be escalated to the Executive Committee
of the Company Above this level, approval 1s required to be obtained at the CDL leve!

As noted above, decisions are not made in a vacuum The Board is working on developing ‘risk appetite”
parameters to help guide its decision making and the decision making of the Executive Committee. A Management
Risk Committee, chared by the Group Chief Operating Officer. sits below the Executive Committee and helps to
ensure that the Group has appropriate intemat control and nsk management systems in place to allow the
management team, and ultimately the Board, to monitor and assess the Greup’s principal risks and uncertainties
on a continual basis, to be informed about emerging risks, as and when appropriate, and to deveiop and institute
proportionate measures and controls to mitigate these risks to acceptable levels A Global Director of Risk
Management & Compliance supports the enterprise nsk management and global compliance programme of the
Group and the Group’s Internal Audit function, which has been merged into CDL's internal Audit function and
reports to CDL's Audit & Risk Committee, regularly reviews the effectiveness of the Group's intemal control
environment, particularly in respect of the Group’s financial controls.

The operation of the Management Risk Cammittee 1s described further on page 11 of the Strategic Report.
Remuneration

The Group utilizes clear remuneration structures for its employees and Directors. Positions are banded to provide
for consistency across similar-level positions whilst giving the management team sufficient flexibility to vary
remuneration arrangements in certain contexts in order attract or retain talent for key positions. To the extent
possible, the Company's incentive structures are aligned among the regions ta provide for uniformity in the Group's
performance management processes

Remuneration is based on personal performance and the performance of the Company, region, hotel and/or
business unit, depending on the role Generally, personal objectives and key financial performance targets are
agreed with an employee at the beginning of each year and are assessed by the employee’s supervisor at the end
of cach year Objectives relating to achievement of satisfactory Internal Audit assessment scores have been added
to General Manager and Financial Controller bonus plans to incentivize the maintenance of adequate controls and
the management team is reviewing the addition of risk management and sustainability metrics to further strengthen
accountability 1o the Group's stakeholders. All historical share scheme awards include an element of vesting cver
a period of at least three years and the Company's bonus plans and share scheme rules inciude malus and
clawback provisions that can be utilized as necessary. all in an effort to align employee interests with the Jong-term
interests of the Company.

in line with the Group's commitment to diversity, the management team is in the process of reviewing gender pay
gaps across the group and developing programmes, both in terms of recruiting and professional development, to
help close the gaps.
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Prior to the Delisting of the Company, the Company had in place a shareholder approved remuneration policy in
accerdance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 Pursuant to the 2018 Code, and the new
requirement under the 2018 Ccde that remuneration committees should have responsibiity for setting
remuneration for senicr management, the Campany's Remuneration Committee approved a separate
remuneration policy for the direct reports to the Group Chief Executive Officer This policy was reviewed at the
time by the Company's independent Remuneration Committee adwvisor, PricewaterhcuseCoopers. Following the
Delisting of the Company, future awards will no longer be made under the Company's share schemes and the
schemes will be wound down. However, COL management are working with Company management {0 rewiew the
Group’s remuneration arrangements and replace the sharg scheme benefits with alternative remuneration
arrangements

Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement

The following sections of this Annual Report and Accounts and the Group's 2019 Carporate Responsibility Reports,
published con its website (at https //investors millenniumhotels com/corpeorate-responsibility} describe how the
Company has engaged with its stakeholders over the course of the year and how it plans to continue to engage
with them in the future

Section __j . Location
Section 172(1) Statement o Pages 3 to 6 in the Strategic Report
Employee Involvement and Engagement with Employees Page 23 of this Directors’ Report

Engagement with Suppliers, Customers and Others in a
Business Relationship with the Company

Our Employees Corporate Responsibility Report

Page 24 of this Directors’ Report
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

_The Directors present ther annual report and the audited financial statements for the Company, as well as the
independent auditor's repart, for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Registered name and corporate status
The Company s registered in England and Wales as a private limited company, under Company Number
03004377.

During the course of the year, the Company was subject to a successful takeover offer by s controlling
shareholder, City Developments Limited {"CDL"), and as a result. ceased operating as a public company. tn June
2019, the Company, then operating as Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc, and Agapier Investments Limited
("Offeror"). a company indirectly and wholly-owned by CDL. announced a recommended pre-conditional final cash
offer by the Offeror (*Final Offer”) to acquire for 685 pence per share the entire issued and to be Issued share
capital of the Company not already held by CDL, its subsidiaries and persons acting in cancert with them

Following the successful completion ¢f the Final Offaer in September 2019, the listing of the Company’s ordinary
shares on the premium segment of the Official List and the admission to trading of the Company’s shares on the
London Stock Exchange's main market for listed securiies were cancelled on 11 October 2019 (the “Delisting™).
As part of the Delisting, the Independent Non-Executive Directors resigned and the Board’s committees, including
its Audit & Risk Committee, Remuneratton Committee and Nominations Committee, were disbanded Subseguent
to the Delisting. the Company was then re-registered as a private imited company . under the name Millennium &
Copthorne Hotels Limited, an 4 November 2018 and by the end of November 2019, the Offeror completed the
praocedure under the Compames Act 2006 to acquire computsorily all remaining shares in the Company such that
the Company became a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of CDL

Strategic report

The Strategic Report 1s found on pages 3 to 16. Pursuant to the Companies Act 2006, that report must provide a
fair review of the Company's business, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainbes facing the
Company. It includes an analysis ¢f the development and performance of the Company’s business during the year
and the position of its business at the end of the year, as well as a description of the Company’s strategy and
business model

Board of Directors
The names of those who served as a Director of the Company during the course of the 2018 financial year include

. Name Role Service Dates
Non-Executive Chairman 1 January 2019 through 4 November 2019
Kwek Leng Beng Executive Chairman 4 November 2019 through 31 December 2019
Kwek Leng Peck Non-Executive Director 1 January 2019 through 31 December 2019
Non-Executive Director 1 January 2019 through 11 Cctober 2019
Kwek Ek Sheng g:&zgg:e Non-Executive 11 October 2019 through 4 November 2019
Executive Director 4 November 2019 through 31 December 2019
His Excellency Shaukat Aziz Non-Executive Director 1 January 2019 through 11 October 2019
Marun Leitch B Non-Executive Director 1 January 2018 through 11 October 2019 -
Paola Bergamaschi Breyd Non-Executive Director 21 March 2019 thraugh 11 October 2019
Victoria Wllhams Non-Executive Director 10 May 2019 through 11 October 2019
Daniel Desbailiets Neon-Executive Director 1 January 2019 through 11 October 2019
Christian de Charnacé Non-Executive Dirgctor 1 January 2019 through 11 October 2018
Tanya Chiaranussati Non-Executive Director 4 Novemnber 2019 through 31 December 2019
Jonathon Grech Executive Director 11 QOctober 2018 through 31 December 2019
David Hassan Executive Director 11 October 2019 through 4 November 2019
| Angela Ong Executive Director 11 October 2018 through 31 December 2019

Dividends
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018,

Political donations and expenditure

Ne donations were made by the Group for palitical purposes and the Group did not incur any political expenditure
during the year {2018 Enil). The Company operates a politically neutral palicy with regard to any poiitical donations
and expenditure it may elect to make. See the Group's Corporate Responsibility Report, located at
hitps #/investors millenniumhotels com/corporate-responsibiiity, for details of the Company's non-politcal
charitable activities
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Financia!l instruments

An indication of the Group's financial risk management abjectives and policies in respect of the use of financial
instruments and expaosure of the Company ta price risk, cregit risk, hquidity risk and cash flow risk are set out in
Note 22 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Employment of disabled persons

We value highly the rich diversity of our colleagues around the warld As of the end of 2018, the Group operated
in over 25 countries and employed over 11 600 employees worldwide The Company is an equal opportunities
empioyer and has an objective to ensure that no employee or other worker or job applicant receives less favourable
treatment, directly or indirectly, on the grounds of age. disability. gender reassignment, mantal or civil partner
status, pregnancy or maternity, race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin, religion or belief sex or sexual
crieéntation

In 2018, a new diversity and inclusion palicy was launched globally following endorsement by the Group's Directors.
This policy acknowledges the importance of fostering an envircnment where colleagues are free to share different
perspectives and the view that greater diversity allows the Group to better understand and serve the communities
in which we operate. Regional policies that address local requirements also are in place in varicus jurisdichons
Together these policies encourage the employment, fraining and advancement of disabied persons, having regard
to their particular aptitudes and abiries, provided that they can be employed in a safe warking enviranment.
Suitable employment would, if possible, be found for any employee who becomes disabled during the course of
employment. In 2019, training sessions on diversity and accommodating disabled persons—including new mental
heatth awareness training in the UK—waere conducted regionally  This training will continue in 2020,

Empioyee nvoivement and engagement with employees

The Board considers employee engagement to be critical to the Company's success. Indeed, the ability of the
Group to successfully find, retain and develop talent was deemed by the Board to be a principal risk in 2019, and
as such, was monitored not only by the managament team, but also at the Audit & Risk Committee level.

The Group endeavours to Keep employees \nformed about matters of concern to them and the perfarmance of the
Campany, whether through management presentations, global and regional intranet sites and other
communications. Likewise, the Group seeks to consult with empioyees through varicus means and an a regular
basis so that their views can be taken into account. Over the course of the year, these efforts included regular
meetings at the regional, functional and hotel levels, as well as exit interviews with departing colleagues. These
meetings allowed the management team to communicate important updates throughout the workfarce, provide
training on existing and new policies and procedures and hear from colleagues around the world.

Communications with employeas was particutarly imporiant in 2019 1in light af the completion of the Final Offer and
subsequent Delsting of the Company Regular employee communications were issued durng this process,
together with “frequently asked question” documents. Chairman Kwek and Kwek Eik Sheng held several meetings
with members of the semor management team during this time, to hear their feedback and help to foster cantinuity
and stability during this period of change, and Chairman Kwek provided various Group-wide updates on the impact
of the integration of the Company within the wider CDL Group.

Prior to the Delisting, the Company operated four different share schemes for the benefit of the Group's efigible
empioyees These included the following plans

s Long Term Incentive Plan - Under this plan, annual conditional share awards were made 1o all Executive
Directors of the Company Vesting was subject 1o future performance conditions over a three-year
performance period followed by a two-year post-vesting holding period.

« Executive Share Plan — Under thus pian, conditional share awards were granted each year to members
of the Group's executive management team based on the historical performance of the Group. These
awards vested in tranches cver a period of three years, subject to the participant's continued empioyment
within the Group.

+ Annual Bonus Plan — Under this plan, which applied to efigible senior managers globally (except for
certain jurisdictions). including hotel General Managers as well as Director-level and Vice President-leve!
employees, a portion of each participant's annual cash bonus was converted into a deferred conditional
share award that would vest in tranches over a pericd of three years, subject ta the participant’s continued
employment within the Group

e Sharesave scheme — Each year all etigible employees in the UK were invited to participate in the
Company's tax advantages Sharesave, or "Save As You Eam”, plan pursuant to which they were offered
the right to save a portion of their salary for 4 set period of tme—usually three or five years—and use
those saving to purchase options to acquire shares of the Company at a pre-determined discounted price.
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The objectives of these plans differed, but in general they served to award strong performance—both at an
empioyee and Group level—over a reasonable period of ime, retain talent and better align the interests of
employees with the interests of shareholders.

As aresult of the Delisting. no further grants have been or will be made under these share-based incentive schemes
and the schemes will be wound down once all existing awards have vested

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business retationship with the Company

As a company operating n the hospitality industry, the Directors are aware of the need for the Group to remain
competitive and for our hotels to address the wants and needs of our customers. To this end, the Company is
continually looking for ways to engage with and better understand our guests. These aims were considered by the
Board to be so important that several of the Group's principal rnisks in 2019—including the ability of the Group fo
build brand equity and customer loyalty, optimise its revenue channels and invest 1n its assets—centred around
them

In 2019, the Group utilisey a third-party agency to send post-stay service quality emails o over 15% of the guests
who stayed at Millennmium Hotels & Resorts branded hotels globally  In addivon, this agency regularly reviewed
popular online hotel review sites to collect guest feedback submitted through those forums  The regonat
management and hotel teams used the feedback received to improve the Group's service, brand and product
offerings

In addition, the Directors continued to support the strategy of investing in and repositioning the Group's hotels
throughout the year. This resulted in, amang cther things, the September 2019 relaunch of the group's Ragship
property in Mayfair, London, as the Biltmare, Mayfair, a five star deluxe hotel operating under Hilton's LXR Hotels
& Resorts brand. The Board also considered the potential rebranding of another flagship property owned by the
Group, the Millennium Times Square New Yark, and in Apnl 2018 the Board approved the execution by a subsidiary
of the company of an affiliation arrangement with Hilton in respect of that hotel  Various other capital expenditure
projects, 1ncluding refurbishment works at the Orcharg Hotel in Singapore and the Millennium Gloucester Hotel in
London and the Miliennium Hotel Pans Opera in Pans, commenced and/or were completed during the year.

Turning to its suppliers, the Group continued to focus on enhancing its procurement practices over the course of
the year These efforts included greater engagement with our supply chain regarding ethical and sustainable
sourcing We worked with our suppliers to start sourcing cage-free eggs within the Company's UK supply chain,
for instance and 1o lessen the environmental impact of our sourcing activities, including initiatives to use of local
food suppliers, where possible, and reduce the amount of packaging and single-use plastics used by the Group.
To help us with these objectives, a strategic decision was made n 2019 to outsource elements of the Group's
procurement activities within certain regions to a large international hotel operator. This has allowed the Group to
leverage the operator's deep procurement experience and relationships with key suppliers, as well as their robust
processes and systems. to improve our procurement practices.

For details on how the Group engaged with its communities, please refer to the Corporate Responsibility Report.
which can be found at hitps.//investors millenmumhotels com/corporate-responsibility.

Share capital

As at the date of this Directors’ Report the Company's share capital consists of 324,950,812 ordinary shares of 30
pence each. As noted abave, all of these shares are owned by direct or indirect subsidiaries of CDL. The Company
did not purchase or acquire any of its own shares during the year and no other ¢isclosures are required pursuant
te Schedule 7, Part i of The Large and Medium-sized Compantes and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regutations
2008

Greenhouse gas emissions
All disclosures concerning the Group's greenhouse gas emissions can be found in the Corporate Responsibility
Report, located https //investors millenniumhotels com/corporate-responsibility.

Qualifying indemnities

The Articles of Association of the Company permit it to indemnify the Directors of the Company against any hability
incurred by ar attaching to a Director in connection with any neghgence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust
in relation to the Company or an associated company, any liability incurred by or attaching to the Director in
connection with the activities of the Company or an associated company in its capacity as a trustee of an
occupationat pension scheme; and/or any other liability incurred by or attaching to the Director as an officer of the
Company or an associated company.

The Company has provided each of its Directors and certain Directors of its affiliated companies, inctuding the
trustee of the Group's UK pension plan, with qualifying indemnities as permitted under Sections 234 and 235 of
the Companies Act 2006 The indemnities do not apply in circumstances where indemnification 1s prohibited by
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the Companies Act 2006 or other applicable law, and these indemnities remain in force as at the date of this
Directars’ Report.

In 2018, the Company renewed its girectors’ and officers’ hability insurance coverage. which is intended to be
renewed again in 2020 No claim was made under any such indemnity or insurance policy during the year

Future developments
A discussion of the likely future developments in the business of the Group can be found in the Strategc Report,
an page 7.

Research and development

Whilst the management team confinues to review ways to improve the Group's sefvice, brand and product
cfferings. and regularly invest in cur people and assets, the Company did not conduct signficant research and
development activities during the year.

Company branches
The Company did not have any branches operating outside of the UK during the year.

Statement of the Directors as to disclosure if information to the auditar
in accordance with Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006, each Director who held office at the date of approval
of this Directors’ Report confims that:

. so far as he or she is aware, there is na relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is
unaware; and
. he or she has taken ail the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a director in order to make

himself or herself aware of any retevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor
is aware of that information.

Auditor
In accordance with Saction 488 of the Companies Act 2008, a resclution far the re-appaintment of KPMG LLF as
auditor of the company is to be propased at the farthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The Directors’ Report and Corporale Governance Statement were approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company on 22 June 2020
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the group and parent company financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial
year Under that law they have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union {IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and applicable
law and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting
standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements uniess they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that period.
In preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
=  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent;

+ for the group financial staternents, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the EU;

+ for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

+ assess the group and parent company's ability fo continue as a going concern. disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern; and

+ use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
parent company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They are responsible for such internal contra! as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstaterment, whnether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility
for taking such steps as are rsasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irreguilarities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the company's website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statemant of the directors in respect of the annual financial report
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

= the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable set of accounting standards, give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial pesition and profit or loss of the company and the undertakings
included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

- the strategic report includes a fair review of the develapment and performance of the business and the position
of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a
description of the principal nsks and uncertainties that they face.

We consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the group’s position and performance, business
model and strategy.

On behalf of the Board

=T T e—

-
\Kwek Leng Beng
Chairman




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

Opibion

We have audited the financial statements of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited (“the
company”) for the year ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss, the Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Consclidated
Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated
Statement of Cash I'lows, the Company Statement of Financial Position, the Company Statement of
Changes in Equity, and related notes, inchuding the accounting policies in note 2.2 of the Group
financial statements and note B of the Company financial statements.

In our opinion:

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent
company’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union;

the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK
accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.

Basis for opinien

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)™)
and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities under, and are independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC FEthical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a
sufficient and appropnate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concera basis as they do not intend
to liguidate the group or the company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that
the group and the company’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded
that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to
continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements
{“the going concern period™).

We are required 1o report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of
accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncenainty that may cast significant
doubt over the use of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial
statements. In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we constdered the inherent risks to the
group’s business model and analysed how those risks might affect the group and company’s financial
resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period. We have nothing to report
in these respects.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were rcasonable at the time they were made, the
absence of reference 10 a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guaraniee that the group
or the company will continue in operation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MILLENNIUM &

COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED (continued)

Strategic report and directors’ report

The duectors are responsible for the strategic report and the duectors’ report. Owr opumon on the
financial statemenrs does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our l'CSPOT-lSib’lity 1s to read the stratepic report and the directors’ repoert and, 1n doing so, consider
whether. based on our financial statements audit work. the information therein 15 matenally
misstated or inConsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that
work:

- we have not identificd material masstaternents in the strategic report and the dicectors’ report;

¢ 1n oUr Opymion the information given in those seports for the financial year 15 consistent with
the finangia) statements, and

d in our OPinion those reports have been prepared 1n accordance with the Compames Act 2006.

Matters on which we are reqnired to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are requared 1o report to vou if, in our opuuon:

® adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent compaay, or returns adequate for
our audit hax-e pot been recerved from branches not visited by us; or

*  the parent company financial statements are ROt in agreement with the accounting records and
retumns; or

¢ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
#  wc have not recenved all the information and explanations we requue for our audit.

We have nothang to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities

As explamed more fully 1n their statement set out on page 26, the directors are responsible for: the
preparation of the financial statements and for bemng satisfied that they give a true and fair view;
such intemnal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from marerial musstatement. whether due to fraud or error; assessing the group and
patent company’s abihty to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern: and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they cither intend to
liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations. of have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Cuur objectives are 160 obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. and to issue our opinion n an
auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance 1s a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an
audit conducted 1n accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a matenal misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considercd matenial if, individually or
aggreuate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements

A fuller descripnon of our responstbilities 15 provided om the FRC's website at
www fre org uk audstorsresponsibalitaes.

The parpose of gur audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report 1s made solely to the company s members_ as a body, 1 accordance with Chapter 3 of
Pant 16 of the Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we muight state to
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MILLENNIUM &
COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED (continued)

the company s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no cther purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibality
to anyorne other than the company and the company’s members, as a body. for our audit work, for
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Jonathan Downer {(Senior Statutory Awnditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London

Ei14 5GL

23 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Other gperating iIncome
Other operating expense
Operating profit

Share of profit of joint ventures and associates
Finance income
Finance expense

Net finance expense
Profit before tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Basic earnings per share (pence)
Dduted earnings per share (pence)

The financial results above derive from continuing activities

NGTES

15

11
11

2018
£EM

4,025
457)
568
(439)
10
(41}
98

36

(39)
(32)
102

8)

62
32

94

2018
£m

997
{436)

561
(423)
30
(63)

105
29

(37)
(28)

106
{13)

83

43
50

93

13.1p
13.1p

The notes on pages 38 to 108 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

31



| MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED |

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
NOTE £M M
Profit for the year 94 a3
Other comprehensive {(expensea)fincome:
ltems that are not reclassified subsequently to income statement:
Remeasurement of defined benefit plan actuarial net gains, net of tax 23 {1) 4
Net change i fair value of equity investment 1 5
- 9
Hems that may be reclassified subsequently to income statement:
Foreign currency transiation differences — foreign operations {61) 72
Foreign currency translation differences — equity accounted investees {2} 9
Net gain/{loss} on hedge of netinvestments in foreign operations 4 (3)
(59) 78
Other comprehensive {expense)/income for the year, net of tax (59) 87
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 35 180
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 13 112
Non-controfling interests 22 68
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 35 180

The notes on pages 38 to 108 are an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2019

2019 2018
NOTES £M £Mm
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12, 37 3,194 3,163
Lease premium prepayment 13 - 103
Investment properties 14 680 668
Investment in joint ventures and assaciates 15 414 358
Other financial assets 16 40 43
4,328 4325
Current agsets
lnventories 17 7 5
Development properties 18 118 115
Lease premium prepayment 13 - 2
Trade and other receivables 19 91 102
Cash and cash equivalents 20 409 375
622 599
Assets held for sale 36 103 -
725 599
Total assets 5,063 4,924
Non-current liabilities
interest-bearing loans, bonds and borrowings 21 (853) (789)
Employee benefits 23 {15} (14}
Provisicns 24 (9) {9)
Other non-current liahiities 25 {(17) (15)
Lease habiities 37 {108) -
Deferred tax habilites 26 (147) (172)
(1,149) (999}
Current liabilities
Interest-beanng loans, bonds and borrowings 21 {315) (313)
Trade and other payables 27 {(220) (220)
Provisions 24 3) (2)
Lease liabilties 37 (5) -
Income taxes payabie (13) (27)
(556) {562)

Total liabilities

Net assets

3,348

(1,7058) (1561

3.363

The notes on pages 38 to 108 are an integral pant of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION {continued)

NOTES
Equity
Issued share capital 29
Share premium
Transiation reserve 30
Treasury share reserve 30
Fair value reserve 30

Retained earnings

Total equity attributable to aquity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

201%

97
843

(4)

1,402

2,782
566

3,348

2018
M

97
843
4491

(4)

1,338

2,770
593

3.363

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 June 2020 and were signed on its

behalf by:

Kwek Leng Beng C 5

Chairman

—

Registered No: 3004377
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2019

TOTAL
CXC_UDING
TREASURY FAR NON- NON-
SHARE SHARE TRANS| ATION SHARE VA_UE RETAINED CONTROLUING CONTROULING TOTAL
CAPT &L SREMILM RESERVE RESERVE RESERVE LARNINGS INTERESTS INTERESTS EQUITY
£M £M £ £™ ™ M £w £ iM
Balance at 3 Junuary 2019 87 843 491 14} 5 1,338 2,710 593 3,363
\FRIC 23 adustment - - - - - 4 4 - 4
Restated balance af ¥ January
2019 97 843 491 1) 5 1342 2,774 593 3,367
Prost - -~ - - - a2 62 iz 9S4
Other comprehensive income - - (48) - 4) 3 {49) (10} (59)
Total comprehenaive incame - ~ {s3) - “) 65 13 22 35
Transactions with owners,
recordad directly in equity
Contributions by and
distributions ts awners
Diwdands — equity holders - - - - - N (1] - (7)
Draignds — non-canyolling
imgrasts - - - - - - - {41} {41}
Changes in ownershig interests
Change " interests in subsidanes
withoul koss o control - - - - - 2 2 [t -
Retur of capital "o non-contraing
Intarests - - - - - - - {6} {6}
Total transactions with owners - - - - - {5) £ (49) (54)
Balance at 31 December 2019 97 843 443 4) 1 4,402 2,782 566 3,348
TOTAL
EXCLJD NG
IHEASURY FAIR WO NON-
SHARE SHARE TRANSLATION SHARE VALLE RETAINED CONTROLLING CONTROLLING TOTAL
CRPTAL FREMIUN RESERVE RESERVE RESERVE EARNINGS INTERESTS INTERESTS EQUITY
£M £M £M £ EM £M £n &M M
Balance at t January 20138 o7 843 473 {3} - 1,209 2676 573 3,249
Prafit - - - - - 43 43 50 93
Gtrer camprahar sive come - - &0 - 5 4 65 18 87
Total comprehensive income - - 80 - 5 47 112 68 180
Trantactions with owners,
recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and
distnbutions 10 owners
TmIZENOS — BOLItY NDIDEYS - - - - - 21) 21 - 21)
DiviGends — 10N conlroming interests - - - - - - - {43) {43)
Changes in ownership interests
Change in inierests i sLbsidianas
without oss of control - - - - - 3 3 3 -
Retumn of capital to ner-controlirg
imerests - - - - - - - 2) (2)
Tota! transactions with owners - - - - - {1B) (18) (48) (86)
Balance at 31 Dacember 2018 97 Ba3 1.338 2770 593 3.363

491 (4) 5

The nates on pages 38 tc 108 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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~ MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
NOTES EM £M
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 94 a3
Adjustments for
Depreciation and amortisation 12,13 80 69
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 15 {36) {29)
Other operating Income 7 {10} {30)
Other operating expense 7 41 63
Finance income 9 (7} (9
Finance expense 9 39 37
Income tax expense 10 8 13
Operating profit before changes In working capital and provisions 209 207
Movement in inventories, frade and other receivables 9 (19)
Movement in development properties (5) {22)
Movement in trade and other payables 9 7
Cash generated from operaticns 222 177
Interest paid {27) (24}
Interest recewved 6 5
Income tax paid (38) {31)
Nat cash generated from operating activities 163 127
Cash flows from investing activities
Dwidends received from joint ventures and associates 5 4
Proceeds from sale of investment properties - 45
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment, lease premium prepayment and
investment properties {120) (109)
Subscnption of Perpetual Convertible Capital Securities of associate {(30) {32)
Net cash used in investing activities {145) {92)
35

Balance carried forward 18

The notes on pages 38 to 108 are an integrai part of these consolidated financial statements
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

2019 2018
NOTES M £M

Balance brought forward 18 35
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings {304) (145)
Drawdown of borrowings 391 189
Payment of lease liabilites {9) -
Dwidends paid 1o non-controlling interests (41) (43)
Return of capital to non-controliing interests (6) {2)
Dividends pad to equity holders of the parent 28 4] 21
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 24 (22)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 42 13
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 375 354
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (8) 8
Cash and cash equivilents at end of the year 409 375
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents shown 1n the consoldated statement of financial
position 40% 375
Bank overdrafts inciuded in borrowings - -
Cash and cash equivalents for consolidated statement of cash flows 20 409 375

The notes on pages 38 to 108 are an integral part of these consolidated hnancial statements.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED '

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 REPORTING ENTITY

Millennmium & Copthorne Hotels Limited (the “Company”) is a private company incorporated in England and
Wales The registered office 1s located at Corporate Headquarters, Scarsdale Place, Kensington, London W8
58Y. These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and s subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”). The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 Daecember 2019 were
authonsed for issue in accordance with a resglution of the Directors on 22 June 2020.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the histonical cost basis except for investment properties.
derivative financial instruments, equity investments at fair value through cther comprehensive income {*FVOCI"}
and equity investments at fair value through profit and loss ("FVTPL") which are stated at their far values. Hotel
properties are stated at cost or deemed cost. Deemed cost is calculated based on the hotel's frozen valuation
as at 1 January 2004 Non-current assets heid for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and farr value
less costs to sell The Group's income statement and segmental analysis separately identifies operating profit
and other operating income and expense This is in accordance with IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial
Statements’ and is consistent with the way that finandal perforrmance is measured by management and assists
In providing a meaningful analysis of the trading results cf the Group. The financial statements are presented in
the Company's functional currency of sterling, rounded to the nearest million.

The Coempany has elected to prepare its parent company financial statements in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standard 101 'Reduced Disclasure Framework'.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

These consclidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as required by EU law
{IAS Regulation EC 1606/2002). Details cf the Group's accounting palicies, including changes during the year,
are included below

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS
The Group has adopted and applied the following standard issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) that 15 relevant 1o its operations for the first time in the year commencing 1 January 2018:

- IFRS 16 'Leases’

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 ‘Leases’ and IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’ and s
mandatorily effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 The Group has applied IFRS
16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect of the initial application is
recognised in retained earnings at 1 January 2019 Comparative imformation has therefore not been restated
and is reported under the previous accounting policies. The details of the changes in accounting policies are
described in Note 2 2F

— IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over income Tax Treatments’

The International Accounting Standards Board's Interpretations Committee issued IFRIC 23 effective for
accounting periods beginning an or after 1 January 2018 The interpretation provides guidance on how to
account for uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’. The new interpretation has had
an impact on the Group's existing positions with respect to uncertain tax treatments and financial statement
disciosures, the quantum of which ¢an be found on page 35

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

n SUBSIDIARIES

Substidiaries are entities controlled by the Group The Group controts an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability tc affect those returns througts
its power over the entity The financial statements of subsxiiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

(n INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES
The Group's interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests tn joint ventures and associates

An associate 1s an entity in which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, over the
financial and operating policies A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint controi, and
where the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement. rather than rights to its assets and obligations
for its liabilities
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

interests in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method They are initally
recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to imitial recognitian, the consolidated financial
statements include the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of equity-accounted
investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases.

(1L0] TRANSACTIONS ELIMINATED ON CONSOLIDATION

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated Unrealised gains ansing from transactions with equity-accounted investees are
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there 1s no evidence of impairment

GOING CONCERN

The Group's business activitres, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and
position are set out in the Strategic Report on page 7 to 8. Note 22 of the financia! statements includes the
Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, its financial nsk management objectives,
details of its financial instruments and hedging activities, and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk

Uncertainty due to the recent COVID-19 outbreak has been considered as part of the Group's adoption of the
going concern basis. Trading over recent months has been impacted by COVID-18 with the Group temporanly
shutting or reducing operations at a number of hotels, pnmanly 1 Europe and New Zealand In response. the
Directors have taken immaediate and significant actions, all within management’s cantrol, to reduce costs and
optimise the Group’s cash flow and hquidity Amongst these are the following mitigating actions reducing capital
expenditure through poestponing or pausing refurbishment and property deveioprment activities, tight monioring of
manpower planming, monitoring of controllable variable expenses and negotiation of discounts with suppliers, and
maximising of government assistance and relief programs. It 1s noted the Group has a limited fixed cost base due
to owning the majonty of its hotel properties

Cash flow forecasts have been prepared for a period of twelve manths from the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements. The directors have reviewed these cash flow forecasts in light of the COVID-
19 pandemic, including a severe but plausible downside scenario consisting of significant revenue reductions
through to Q3 2020 with a cautious pick up in trading from this date through 2021, and the non-renewal of
maturing debt instruments throughout the review penod This severe but plausible downside scenario, whilst
considered by the Directors to be extremely prudent, has a significant impact on sales, margin, and cash flow,
however it shows that the Group will be able to operate within the current committed débt tacitities with continued
financial covenant compliance

Having reviewed the forecasts and the available committed debt facilities, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group and Company have adequate rescurces including external credit facilities to continue
in operational existence for at least 12 months from the signing of ths annual report. Accordingly, they continue
to adopt the going concern basis in preparnng the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

In assessing whether the Group is a going concern, the Directors follow a review process which 1s consistent
with the principles set out in the "Guidance on Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and
Business Reporting 2014" published by the Financial Reporting Council.

2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements.

A BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method The cost of an acquisition 1s measured
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-
cantrolling interest in the acquirae either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and identifiable net assets acquired are measured at the
acguisiion date fair value

When the Group acquires a business, It assesses the financial assets and liabilites assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms. economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured 1o fair valus as at that date through the income statement

Any contingent congideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay
contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classihed as equity, then it 1s not
remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration 1s
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and sutsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the consideratian transferred over the fair value of the
Graup's net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, and is allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination. If the consideration is lower than the farr
vatue of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognisad in the income statement.

After \nitial recognition, goodwilt 158 measured at cost less any accumulated impairment iosses For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the comtination, irespective of
whether cther assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units

Where gocdwiil has been aliocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit1s
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is Included :n the carrying amount of the
operatior when determining the gain or loss on disposal Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured
based on the relattive values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained

B FOREIGN CURRENCY
The financial statements of each of the Group's businesses are prepared in the functional currency applicable to
that business.

)] FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Transactions in foreign currencies other than the functional currency are transiated at the foreign exchange rate
ruling at the date of the transaction

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated into
sterling at the foreign exchange rate at that date Fareign exchange differences arising on translation are
recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and labilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into sterling at foreign exchange
rates ruling at the date the fair vaiue was determined

() FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF FOREIGN OPERATIONS

On conseldation, the assets and liabilites of foreign operations, including fair value adjustments arising on
consolidation, are transiated to sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues
and expenses of foreign operations are transiated to sterling at rates approximating to the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are
recognised directly in equity in the forewgn currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of,
in part or in full, the relevant amount in the translation reserve is transferred to the income statement.

{un NET INVESTMENT IN FOREIGN OPERATIONS

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net nvestment in foreign operations, and of related
hadges are taken to translation reserve They are released into the income statement upon disposal or partial
disposa! of the foreign operation.

c CERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group holds derivative financial iInstruments ta hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value, any directly attributable transaction costs are recogrised in profit
or loss as incurred Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value. and changes
therein are generally recognised in profit or loss

D HEDGES

3] CASH FLOW HEDGES

When a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised
asset or liability, or a highly probable transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

mnstrument is recognised directly in equity, When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recogmtion
of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity
and ncluded in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. If a hedge of a
forecast transachon subseguently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, then the
associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified to the income statement in
the same perind or perods dunng which the asset acquired or hability assumed affects the income statement
(1e when interest iIncome ar expense s recognised)

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the above policy, the associated cumulative gan or loss is
removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss In the same penod or periods dunng which the hedged
forecast transaction affects profit or loss The ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in the
income statement

When a hedging instrument expires or is scld, terminated or exercised, or ihe entity revokes designation of the
hedge relationship but the hedged farecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at
that point remains in equity and s recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs
If the hedged transachon is no longer expected to take place, then the cumulative unreahsed gain or ioss
recognised in equity 15 recognised immediately in the income statement

) HEDGE OF MONETARY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

When a derivative financial instrument is used as an economic hedge of the foreign exchangs exposure af a
recognised monetary asset or hability, hedge accounting is not applied and any gan or loss an the hedging
instrument 1S recognised 1N the income statement

1)) HEDGE OF NET INVESTMENT IN FOREIGN OPERATIONS

The portion of the gain or loss on an instrument used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation that is
determined to be an effective hedge i1s recognised directly in equity within the translation reserve. The ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

E PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION

n RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Land and buildings {other than investment properties) are stated at cost, except as allowed under {FRS 1
transition rules, less depreciation and any provision for impairment. All other property, plant and equipment s
stated at cost less depreciation and any provision for impawment Any impawrment of such oroperties below
depreciated historical cost is charged to the income statement,

Under the transition provisions of IFRS 1, 1and and buildings which were previously revalued under UK GAAP
were measured on the basis of their deemed cost, being their UK GAAP carrying value, incuding revaluations,
as at 1 January 2004 peing the effective date of the Group's conversion to IFRS.

(I} DEPRECIATION
Freehold iand is not depreciated All other assets are depreciated to their residual values on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives as follows.

Building core 50 years or lease term if shorter
Building surface. finishes and services 30 years or lease term if sharter
Plant and machinery 16— 20 years

Furmiture and equipment 10 years

Soft furnishings 5-7 years

Computer equipment 5 yaars

Software up to 8 years

Motor vehicies 4 years

Na residual values are ascribed to building surface finishes and services Residual values ascribed to busiding
core depend on the nature, location and tenure of sach propenty.

HiH SUBSEQUENT COSTS

Capital expenditure on major projects is recorded separately within property, plant and equipment as capital
work in progress. Once the project is compiete the bafance is transferred to the appropriate fixed asset
categories Capital work in progress is not depreciated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Interest attributable to funds used to finance the construction or acquisition of new hotels or major extensions to
existing hotels is capitalised net of tax relief and added to the cost of the hotel core

Operating supplies. which include china, linen, glass and silverware, were stated at their deemed costs as at 1
January 2008 and subsumed into the costs of the hotel buildings. Subsequent renewals and replacements of
such stocks and new supplies upcn initial hotel opening are written off as incurred to the income statement

F LEASES

Effective 1 January 2019, the Group adopted IFRS 16 'Leases’ using the modified retrospective approach
aliowed under which the cumulative effect of initial application is recognised in accumulated profits as at 1
January 2019 Comparative information presented for 2018 1s not restated and continues to be reported under
1AS 17 'Leases’ and IFR{C 4 'Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease’. The details of the

current and prior years accounting policies are disclosed separately below Further information on the adoption
and nial application of IFRS 16 can be found in Note 37.

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

Rentals payable under operating leases were charged to the income statemernt on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease Benefits received and receivable (and costs paid and payable) as an incentive to
enter inlo an operating lease were also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

For contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2019, the Group assesses at inception whether the contract is,
or contains, a lease. A Jease exsts if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. The Group assessment includes whether.

- the contract involves the use of an identified asset:

— the Group has the nght to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset
throughout the contract penod, and

— the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.

) THE GROUP AS A LESSEE
At the commencement of a lease, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset along with a corresponding lease
liability.

The lease liabllity is initially measursd at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the applicable incrementai barrowng rate {single discount rate applied to a portfolio of leases with similar
charactenstics) The lease term comprises the non-cancellable period of the contract. together with periods
covered by an option to extend the lease where the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option based on
operational needs and contractual terms. Subsequently, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost by
Increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease hability, and reducing it by the lease payments
made. The lease liabihty is remeasured sither when the Group changes its assessment of whether it wilt
exercise an extension or tarmination option (if expected to be terminated early then any applicable penalties due
will also be factored in the remeasurement) or if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under the residual value guarantee.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the initial measurement of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, estimated asset retirement
obhgations, lease incentives recerved and initial direct costs. Subsequently, nght-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any accumnulated impaiment losses, and are adjusted for certain
remeasurements of the lease liability Depreciation 1s calculated on a straight-line basis over the length of the
lease

The Group has elected to apply exemptions for short-term leases (less than 12 months) and leases for which
the underlying asset is of low vatue (£5 000 or less) For these ieases, payments are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis aver the term of the relevant lease.

Right-of-use assets are presented within non-current assets an the face of the balance sheet, and lease
liabilities are shown separately on the batance sheet n current liabilities and non-currant liabilities depending on
the length of the lease term.

Leases where the Group assumes substantially all the nisks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases The leased asset is initially recorded at the lower of fair value and the present value of minimum lease
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payments. The equivalent ability, categonsed as appropriate, is mciuded within current or non-current habilities
Assets are deprecated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful economic lives, Finance charges are
allocated to accounting periods over the period of the lease to produce constant rates of return on the
outstanding balance.

U THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease 1s a finance lease or
operating [ease. Rents recaivable by the Group as fessor under operating leases, including the sub-letting of
retail outlets within hotel properties, are credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease
term even if the receipts are not made on such basis Costs. including depreciation incurred in earning the lease
income. arg recognised as an expense. Rents recewvable under a finance lease are recognised on the statement
of financial position as a finance lease receivabie and the corresponding asset is subsequently disposed of with
a profit or toss if applhicable recogmised in the income statement.

iy LEASE PREMIUM
The Group makes ang receives inihal payments cn entenng into both fong and shot leases of land and
buildings. Prior ta the adoption of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’, where payment for ieased land was eguivalent to the

purchase of the freehold interest, the lease was classified as a finance lease. All other payments for leases of
land were classified as operating leases.

Subsequent to the adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019, on the statement of financial position, finance lease
payments attnbutable to land are shil recorded as property. plant and equipment and for operating leases, the
finance lease payments attributable {0 land have been reclassified as a right-of-use asset where it had
previously been recoghised as a lease premiurm prepayment before the adoption of IFRS 16 Both lease types
are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease Interest attributable to
funds to finance the purchase or lease of land is capitalised gross of tax relief and added to the cost of lease.

In the case of lease premiums received, these are reflected on the statement of financial position as deferred
income, appropriately classified between current and non-current liabilities and are credited to the income
staternent on a straight-fine basis over the term of the lease

G IMPAIRMENT

The carrying amounts of the Group's assets, other than investiment properties, inventonies, employee benefit
assets and deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of thewr net selling price and value 10 use |n assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discountad to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the tme value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

{mpairment is recognised in the income statement whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impaimment losses are reversed if there has been a change In
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount Where permissible under IFRS, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been detemmined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment had been recognised

in the case of equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the asset below its cost is
considered in determining whether the asset is mpaired f any such evidence exists for these assets. the
cumulative loss ~ measured as the difference between acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the income statement — is removed from equity
and recogriused in the incorne statement.
The Group recogrses loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on:

« financial assets measured at amortised cost,

« debt investments measured at FVOCH or FVTPL; and

. contract assets.
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Loss aliowances of the Group are measured on either of the followsng bases.

. 12-month ECL- these are ECL that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months
after the reporting date {or for a shorter penod if the expected life of the instrument I1s less than 12
months), or

e | fetime ECL these are ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected iife of a
financial instrument or contract asset.

Simphitied approach

The Group apphes the simplified approach to provide for ECL for all trade receivables and contract assets. The
simplified approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to iifetme ECL.

General approach

The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECL on all other financial instruments. Under the general
appraach, the 1055 allowance is measured at an amount equal o 12-month ECL at initial recognition. At each
reporting date, the Group assesses whethar the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly
since inttial recogniton When credit risk has increased significantly since wubal recogniton, loss allowance 1s
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since imiial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis,
based on the Group's historical experience and infermed credit assessment and includes forward-locking
information.

i credit risk has not ncreased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the financial
Instruments improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit nsk since intial recognition,
loss allowance s measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

The Graup considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held} The
Group considers a contract asset to be in default when the customer i1s unlikely to pay its contractual obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs 1s the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are probablity-weighted estimates of credit losses Credit losses are measured at the present value of all
cash shortfalis (i.e the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the
financial asset.
Credit-impaired financial assels
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
investments at FVOCI or FVTPL are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more
everts that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred
Evidence that a financial asset s credit-impaired includes the following observable data.

«» significant financial dificulty of the borrower or i1ssuer;

« abreach of contract such as a default;

« the restructuning of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e« 1itis probable that the borrower will entér bankruptcy or other financial reocrgamisation, or
= the disappearance of an active market for a secunty because of financial difficulties.
FPresentation of ECL in the staternent of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost and contract assets are deducted from the
gross carrying amount of these assels.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial agset 1s written off (either partially or » full) to the extent that there s
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the

write-off However, financiat assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order ta
comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

H INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
investment properties held by the Group are properties which are held either to earn rental income or for capital
appreciation or both. Investment properties are stated at fair vaiue Any increase or decrease in the far value on

annual revaluaton is recognised in the income statement in accordarce with IAS 40 Investment Property. In
timited circumstances, the determination of fair value is uncertain, and these properties are carned at cost.
Impairment analysis over these properties is carried out annually.

An external independent valuer, hawing an appropriate recognised professional gualfication and recent
experience in the location and category of the property being valued, values the portfolic annually. The fair
values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property cauld be exchanged on
the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

1 INVENTORIES
inventones ara recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

J DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

Development properties are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value They are held for sale in the
short tarm and are therefore classified as current assets The cost of development properties includes interest
and other related axpenditure incurred in order to get the asset ready for its intended use Borrowing costs
payable on loans funding a development property are alse capitalised, on a specific identification basis as part
of the cost of the development property until the completion of development Payments received from
purchasers ansing from pre-sales of the property Lnits prior to the completion are included as deferred income
under other financial liabilities in the statement of financial position.

K CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with an ariginal matunty of three months
or less.

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management are
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents

L BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognised nitially at fair value, net of tfransaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost' any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs} and the redemption vaiue
1s recognised in the income statement over the penod of the borrowings using the effective interest method

M TAXATION

Income 1ax on profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax. income tax is recognised in the Income
statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised
in equity
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years

Deferred tax is provided for using the balance sheet metnod, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for. (i) the inihal recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit; and (i} differences relating to investments in
subsidianes to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future The amount of deferred
tax provided I1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settiement of the carrying amount of assets and
liabilies, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the baiance sheet date

A deferred tax asset 1s recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can pe utilised Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it 1s no longer
probable that the benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and habilities are ofiset only to the extent that' {1) the Group has a legally enforceable right
to offset current tax assets against curent tax liabilities; {i1) the Group ntends to settle net; and () the deferred
tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authonty

N EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(f) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pensicn plans are recognised as an expense in the ingcome
statement.

{m DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension plans. As set out In Note 23. the calculation of the
present value of the Group's defined benefit obligations at each period end is subject to significant estimation.
An appropriately qualified, independent actuary is used to undertake this calculation. The assumptions made by
the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possibie actuariat assumptions, which due to the
timescale covered may not necessarily be borne out in practice The valuation of scheme assets is based on
their fair value at the balance sheet date As these assets are not intended to be sold in the short term. their
values may be subject to significant change before they are realised in reviewing the work of the independent
actuary, management 15 réquired to exercise judgement to satisfy themselves that appropriate weight has been
afforded to macro-econamic factors Details of the assumptions used are set out in Note 23

The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit post-employment plans, including pension plans, is
calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in
return for their senvice in the current and prior periods. That benefit 1s discounted to determine its present value,
and the fair value of any plan assets 1s deducted. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the
projected unit credit method

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by
employees is recognised immediately as an expense in the income statement

The Group recognises femeasurement gains and losses within the consoclidated statement of comprehensive
income in the penod in which they occur.

The Group determines the ne! interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit habiities (asset) for the
period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the
annual period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) taking into account any changes in the net defined
benefit lability (asset) during the pernod as a result of contributions and benefit payments Net interest expense
and other expenses relateqd to defined benefit plans are recognised in the income statement.

(L1} LONG-TERM SERVICE BENEFITS

The Group's net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits, other than post-employment ptans, is the
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior penods
The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method and 1s discounted to its present value and the
fair value of any plan assets is deducted.

(v) SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
The share-based incentive schemes allow the Group's emplayees to acquire shares of Millennium & Copthorne
Hotels Limited.
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The cost of equity-settled transactions with amployees for awards granted after 7 November 2002 is measurad
by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted. The fair value 1s determined by using an
appropriate pricing model, further details of which are given in Note 23

The cost of equity-settied transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding Increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settied transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vasting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that wiil uitimately vest.
The income statement expense or credit for 2 period represents the movement in cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that penod.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settied transactions where
vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether or not the market or non-vesting condition s satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied

Where the terms of an equity-settied transaction award are modified, the minmum expense racognised is the
expense as f the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification

Where an equiy-settied award 1s cancelled, it 1s treated as if it vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the contra! of erther the entity or the employee are not met. However, if a new award 1s
subsbtuted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a madification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-settied transaction awards are freated equaily

(o} PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised on the balance sheet when the Group has a present fegal or constructive obligation as
a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settie the
obligation. If the effect is matenal, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the line value of money and, when apprapriate, the
nsks specific to the liability. Further details on provisions are given in Note 24,

P REVENUE AND ITS RECOGNITION
Revenue comprises:

« Income from the ownership and operation of hotels — recognised at the point at which the accommodation and
related services are provided;

« Management fees - earned from hotels managed by the Group, usually under long-term contracts with the
hotel owner. Management faes include a base fee, which 1s generally a percentage of hotel revenue, and/or an
ncentive fee. which 1s generaily based on the hotel's profitability, recognised when earned on an accrual basis
under the terms of the contract;

Franchise fees — received in connection with licensing of the Group's brand names, usually under long-term

contracts with the hotel owner. The Group charges franchise royalty fees as a percentage of room revenue,

recognised when earned on an accrual basis under the terms of the agreement,

« Income from property rental — recogrised on a straight-line basis over the lease term, lease incentives granted
are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, ana

+ Development property sales — recognised when the transfer of control of the property has passed to the buyer,

which is usually when legal title transfers depending on jurisdictions The trigger for revenue recagnition

depends on the laws within @ach jurisdiction.

Q DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are appropriately authorised and approved for payment and are no longer at the
discretion of the Company Unpaid dividends that do not meet these criteria are disclesed in the notes to the
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Disclosure of segmental information is principalty presented in respect of the Group's geographical segments.
The segments reported reflect the operating infarmation included in internal reports that the Chief Operating
Decision Maker {"CODM"}, which is the Board, reqularly reviews, Further details are given in Note 5.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages 1n business activities from which 1t may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the
Group's other components. Discrete financial information is reporied to and is reviewed by the CODM on a
geographical basis. Operating segments have Chief Operating Officers ("COOs") or equivalent who are directly
accountable for the functiorung of their segments and maintain regular contact with the Group Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of the CODM to discuss the operational and financial performance. The CODM makes
decisions about allocation of rescurces to the regions managed by the COOs No operating segments have
been aggregated to form the reportable operating segments.

Segment results that are reported to the COCM include items directly attributable to a segment as well s those
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis Unallocated items principally comprise interest-bearing loans,
borrowings, cash and cash equivalents. net finance expense. taxation balances and corporate expenses

) NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE

Non-current assets {(or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered
prnmanly through sale rather than through continuing use are classified as held-for-sale Generally the assets (or
disposal group) are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any
impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to property, plant and equipment and lease premium
prepayment, and then to remaining assets and liabilities an a pro rata basis, except that no loss 1s allocated to
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets and investment property, which
conbnue to be measured in accordance with the Group's accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial
classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains or {0sses on remeasurement are recognised in the income
statement Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative wmpairment loss.

T OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Trade investments are classified as either equity instruments at FVOCI or fair value through profit and loss
(*FVTPL") and are included under non-current assets within 'other financial assets’. They are recorded at market
value with movements in value taken to equity. Any impairment to value is recorded in the income statement.

Trade and other recewables are stated at their nominal amount (discounted if material) less any impairment
Trade and other payables are stated at their nominal amount (discounted if material).

) RELATED PARTIES

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered te be related to the Group if the Group has
the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party making
financial and operatng decisions. or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common
controd or common significant influence Related parties may be individuals or other entities

3 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements under IFRS requires the Group to make estimates and assumphons that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabiities and the disclosure of contingencies and the reported amount
of revenue and expenses during the year. The Group evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing
basis. Such estimates and judgements are based upon historical experience and other factors it believes to be
reasonable under the circumstances, which form the basis for making judgements about the carrying value of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

Certain cntical accounting palicies, among others, affect the Group's mare significant estimates and
assumptions used in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from the
Group's estimates and assumptions.
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3.1 JUDGEMENTS
The key judgements are

CLASSIFICATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group holds a number of investment properties and accounts for such properties in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2 2H The Group owns assets which are leased to external third parties with
lease rentals and related charges varying according to the agreement involved. The Group accounts for such
assets In its financial slatements in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.2H.

Where the indicators are such that on balance the Group 1S shown to be a passive investor, the relevant
property 18 accounted for In accordance with IAS 40 and the Group accounts for the fair value change through
the income staternent as other operating income or expense Indicators considered inciude (1) party that nas the
power to make the significant aperating and financing decisions regarding the operations of the property in a
management contract. (2) calculation of the lessor's return, (3) lessor's power of intervention under the
management contract, and (4} duration of the contract.

CONSOLIDATION OF ENTITIES IN WHICH THE GROUP HOLDS LESS THAN A MAJORITY OF VOTING
RIGHTS (DE FACTO CONTROL}

In 2014, the new consolidation accounting standard, IFRS 10 introduced a new control model that focuses on
whether the Group has power over an investee, exposure of rights tc varable returns from its involvement with
the investee and ability to use its power to affect thase returns.

This required the Group to consider whether it has de facto control over its investees, particularly when it owned
less than 50% of the voting rights. in 2014, in accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 10, the Group
reassessed the control conclusion for its investees and changed its control conclusion in respect of its
investment in COLHT, which was previously accounted for as an associate using the equity method. Although
the Group owns less than half of the voting power of the investee, management determined that, under iIFRS
10, the Group has had control over the investee since Its inception This is because a 100% owned subsidiary of
the Group, M&C REIT Management Limited acts as REIT Manager with its fees having a performance-based
eiement and therefore the Group has exposure to vanable returns from its involvement with the investee.
Accordingly, in 2014 the Group applied acquisition accounting to the investment from the year it was first
establisned in 2006, and restated the relevant amounts as if the investee had been consolidated from that year
This judgement was recansidered this year and continues to be appropriate

BUSINESS COMBINATION

For each acquisition, the Group has to make a judgement whether to account the transaction as an asset
purchase or a business combination, which results in a different accounting treatment. In parhcular, under
business combinahon accounting, goodwd! and additional intangible assets may arise and the valuation of
acquired assets is complex. In addition, transaction costs can be capitalised in an asset acquisition, but have to
be charged through the income statement for a business combination. The classification of each acquisition and
related accounting is highly judgemental Details of acquisitions undertaken by the Group during 2018, including
the specific judgements, are set out in Notes 12 and 14 There were no acquisitions undertaken by the Group
during 2019

LAND LEASES CLASSIFICATION

The Group holds a number of hotels with leases of land that are determined tc have an indefinite economic life.
The judgement prior to 1 January 2019 was that these were classified as a finance lease even if at the end of
the lease term title does not pass to the lessee. Subsequent tc 1 January 2019 and the adoption of IFRS 18
‘Leases’, these assets have been reciassified as right-of-use assets

3.2 ESTIMATES
The key estimates are:

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group determines whether tangible fixed assets are impaired when indicators of impaimments exist or based
on the annual impairment assessment. The annual assessment requires an estimate of the recoverable value of
the cash generating units to which the tangible fixeéd assets are allocated, which is predoeminantly at the
indwidual hotel site level. Where appropriate, external valuations are also undertaken Estimation of the
recoverable value of the hotel assets is done with the reference to fair value less cost to sell, using iIncome
approach, which requires estimation of future cash flows of a third-party efficient operator. the time period over
which they will occur, an appropriate discount rates, terminal capitalization rates and growth rates The Directors
consider that the assumptions made represent their best estimate, and that the discount rate and terminal
capitalisation rate used are appropriate given the nsks assocliated with the specific cash flows. A sensitivity
analysis has been performed over the estimates (see Note 12)
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4 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED
The following standards and interpretations, which have been issued by the IASB. become effective after the
current year end and have not been early adopted by the Group

- Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards {effective date 1 January 2020}
« Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business (effective date 1 January 2020),
+ Amendments to IAS 1 and 1AS 8 Definition of Matenal {effective date 1 January 2020),

= Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (effective date 1 January
2020), and

* |IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts {effective date 1 January 2021).

The Group 1s In the process of assessing the impact of these new standards, amendments and interpretations
on the financial statements.

5 QOPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
Disclosure of segmental infarmation 1s principally presented in respect of the Group’s geographical segments.

Segment results, assets and habiites include stems directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can
be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items principally comprise interest-bearing loans, borrowings,
cash and cash equivalents, net financial expense, taxation balances and corporate expenses

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
The hotel and property operations are managed on a worldwide basis and operate in seven principal
geographical areas as follows

= New York

* Regional US

* London

* Rest of Europe
+ Singapore

- Rest of Asia

* Australasia

The segments reported reflect the operating segment information included in the internal reports that the Chief
Qperating Decision Maker (*CODM"), which is the Board, regularly reviews.

The reportable segments are aligned with the structure of the Group's internal organisation which is based
according to geographical region Discrete financial information is reported to and s reviewed by the CODM on
a geographical basis Operating segments have Chief Operating Officers ("CQOs") or equivalent who are
directly accountable for the functicning of their segments and who maintain regular contact with the Group Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the CODM to ciscuss the operational and financial performance. The CODM
makes decisions about allocation of resources to the regions managed by the COOs.

The results of CDLHT have been incorporated within the existing geographical regions In addition, COLHT
operations are reviewed separately by its board on a monthly basis
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SEGMENT RESULTS

2019
NEW REGONAL RESY OF REST QF
YORK us LONDON EUROPE SINGAPORE ASIA  AUSTRALASIA
£M £M M £M €M £M £M

Revenue
Hotel 166 146 109 66 134 182 85
Property operations - 5 - - 3 10 53
REAT! - - - 33 17 1" 5
Total revenue 166 15t 109 99 154 203 143
Hotel gross operating
profit 18 27 42 11 53 61 41
Hotel fxed charges' (32) (20) {23) {11} {5} {29} (3]
Hotel operating
profitf(loss) {14) 7 19 - 47 k¥ 35
Property oparaung prof't - 1 - - 3 -] 26
REIT operating
profit(loss) - - - 11 (4} (3) 4
Central costs - - - - - - -
Other operating income? - - - - 3 7 -
Other coerating
expense’ 1n 3) - [R)] - (5) -
Other operating experse
— REIT? - - - (2} {1} (11} (t}
Qperating profitfloss)  {31) 5 19 8 48 23 64
Share of oint venlures
and associates peotit - - - 19 - 17 -
Aad. Depreciation and
amortisation 11 13 7 8 15 21 4
Add. Net revaluation
gainidefict & impawment 17 3 - 3 1 9 1
EBITDA? {3} 21 26 36 64 76 69

Less Depreciatar,
amorhsation, net
revaluator gawn/defict &
impairment

Net tnance expense

Profit hafore tax

CENTRAL
COSsTS
£M

(41)

TOTAL
GROUP
£

888
T
66

1,025

253
(27

126
39

44)
10

(26)

(15}
as

36

80

248

(114)
{32)

102

LN S

COLHT operates the REIT business

Hotal fixed charges include deprecation. property rent, taxes and ins.rance, and management fees
See Note 7 for getails of olber pperahng wcome and expense
EBITJA s eamings before .nlerest, tax, degreciation and amorusaton
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NEW REGIONAL

YORK
M

Revenue
Hotel 159
Property operations -
REIT -
Total revenue 159

Hotel gross operating profit 25

Hotel fixed charges' (33)

Hotel operating profiti{loss) 8)
Propety operating profit -
REIT operating profiti{loss) -
Centrai costs -
O1tner cperating income” -
Other operating expense’ (31)

Other operating income —
REIT? -

Other operating expense —
REIT? —
Operating profit/{loss) {39}

Snhare of joint ventures and
associates profit -

Add Depreciation and

amortisation o
Add Net revaluation

gain/deficit & mpairmenrt 3
EBITDA? 1

Less Depreciation,
amortisation net revaluation
gain/deficit & impaument

Nat finance expense

Profit before Lax

us
M

139
5

144

27
(25

(15)

12

19

16

LON2ON
M

106

106

43
(23)

20

25

RES™ OF
EURQRE
EM

71

31

102

16
{1

B

10

23

13

T
33

2048

SINGAPCRE
EM

130

16
149

51
4)
47

(2)

59

13

(12
60

REST OF
ASIA
£M

(33)
27

€)

(4}
31

20

72

AUSTRALASIA
EM

72

CENTRAL
COs87s
£M

41

TOTVAL
GROUR
EM

867
65
65

997

264
(135)

129
37
15

{43)

(59)
22

(4)
105

29
69

36
239

{(105)
(28}

106

1 Hotel fixed charges inciude deprecation. ameriasalon of lease premum prepayments property rent, taxes and insurance. aperating lease renials and

managernant fass

2 Sea Nota 7 far details of other operating income and expense
3 EBITDA s earmings bafare nterest, tax depreciation and amortisation

4 COLHY operates the RFIT business
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SEGMENTAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2019
NEW SREGIONAL RES™ OF REST TOTAL
YORK US LONDON EUROPE SINGAPORE OF ASIA AUSTRALASIA  GROUP
M £M £ £M £ EM £M £M
Hole) operahing assets 601 310 559 227 62 653 189 2,601
RE(™ aperating assets - - - 258 625 136 144 1,161
Hotel operating liabilities (58) (58} (37) {41} (30) {80} (19) (323)
REIT operatng rabiliies - - - {14) {12) (18} (3) (a7}
Investment in jont ventures and
associales - - - 9 - 141 - 150
Total hotel operating net assets 543 252 522 439 645 832 311 3,544
Praperty operating assets - 61 - - 89 200 116 486
Property operating | abilities - (2) - - (1} (3} 1 )
Invastment in ot ventures and
associates - - - 95 - 169 - 264
Total property operating net assets - 59 - 95 88 366 115 723
Deferred iax llabities (147)
Incoma taxes payable {13)
Net debt (759)
Net assets 3,348
2018
NEW REG ONAL REST OF REST TOTAL
YORK US LONDON EUROPE SINGAPORE OF ASIA AUSTRALASIA GROU>
£M M M M £M £M M M
Haotel cperating assets 614 309 514 228 24 659 188 2536
REIT gperating assets - - - 258 626 130 155 1,169
Hotel operating liabiites 31) {48) {13} (34) (25) (68) {1 (228)
REIT operating l:abilties - - - 7) {7) (7y (3) (24)
Investment in joint ventures and
associates - - - 1 - 161 - 162
Total hatel operating net assets 583 261 501 446 618 877 329 3.615
Proparty operating assets - 48 - 39 89 195 115§ 486
Property operating habilties - ") - - {2) {3) 2y 8)
Inyestment 1n joint ventures ana
associates - — - 36 - 180 - 196
Total property operating net assets - 47 - 75 87 352 113 674
Deferred 1ax habilives {172}
Incorme taxes payable (27)
Net debt {727}
Neot annets
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Geographic information

2019
£M

Revenye from external customers
United States 317
United Kingdom 183
Singapore 154
New Zegland 133
Tarwan 77
South Korea 49
China 25
Malaysia 14
France 11
Australia 11
Philippines 7
Italy 7
Maldives 5]
Indonesia 5
Other 26
Total revenue per consolidated income statement 1,025

2c8
M

303
183
149
129
73
48
26
14
13

[5) N s ]

26
897

The revenue information above is based on the location of the business. The £1.025m (2018: £997m) revenue 15 constituted

of £888m (2018 £867m) of hotel revenue, £71m (2018° £65m) of property operations revenue and £66m (2018 £65m) of
REIT revenue The property operatians revenue comprises £53m (2018. £48mj) from Australasia £3m (2018 £3m) from

Singapore and £15m (2018: £14m) from other countries
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2019 2018
£M ™

Non-current assets
United States 930 238
United Kingdom 808 756
Singapare 873 728
China 274 280
Taiwan 291 276
New Zealand 229 238
Japan 239 235
South Korea 176 191
Hong Keng 124 1214
Germany 100 106
Australia 81 85
Malidives 91 84
Italy 78 83
Netherlands 103 73
Malaysia 85 66
France 38 36
Indonesia 13 12
Philippines 7 7
Total nan-current assets per consolidated statement of financial position 4,328 4,325

Non-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant and equipment, mvestment properties. investment 10 jourst
ventures and associates and other nan-current financial assets

6 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
The following items are included within adrminisirative expenses

2019 2018

EM £M

Included In administrative expenses is the auditor's remuneration, for audit and non-audit

services as follows-

Auditor's remuneration

Statutory audit services’

— Annual audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements 1 1

— Audt of subsidiary comparies 2 2
3 3

Non-audu related services-

- TYax advisory 1 1

Total 4 4
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2019 2Cc18
£M £M
Repairs and maintenance 60 54
Depreciation
- property. plant and equipment 72 66
- nght-of-use assels 8 -
Lease premium amortisation - 3
Rental paid/payable under operating leases*
- land and buildings 1 4
- plant and machinery 1 3

* LUnder IFRS 16 'Leases . which the Group adopted :n the current year, paymenis under operating leases are not charged to the income statement excepl
for those where a recognition exemphion has been apphed

7 OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSE

2019 2018
NOTES £M £Mm

Revalyation gain/(deficit) of investment properties (A)
- REIT properties (4) 16
—  Millennium Mitsui Garden Hotet Tokyo 6 5
— Biitmore Court & Tower {3} M
— Tanglin Shopping Centre 1 3
Impairment of property, plant & equipment (8) (34} (59)
(34) (36)
Gain on disposal of investment properiies (C) - 3
Farr value gain from FSGL's warrant {5} 3 -
{31) (33)

{A) REVALUATION GAIN/(DEFICIT) OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Al the end of the financial year, in accordance with the Graup's policy its investment properties were subject to
external professional valuation on an open-market existing use basis. Based on these valuations, the
revaiuation gain or deficit was recorded as considered appropriate by the Directors Further details on these
valuations are provided in Note 14.

(B) IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

The Directors undertoak their annual review of the carrying vaiue of hotels and property assets for indication of
impairment and where appropriate, external vatuations were also cbtained. As a result of this review, the total
impairment charge for the year ended 31 December 2019 was £34m consisting of £17m in New York, £3m in
Rest of Eurcpe and £14m in Rest of Asia. For 2018, a tatal impairment charge of £59m was recognised In
relation to £31m in New York, £3m in Rest of Europe, £6m in Rest of Asia and £18m for Regional US Further
information is given in Note 12.

() GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
On 11 January 2018, CDLHT completed the divestment of two hotels 1n Austraha, the Mercure Brisbane and Ibis
Brisbane for A$77m (£45m) and a gain of £3m was recognised by the Group
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{D) FAIR VALUE GAIN FROM FSGL'S WARRANT

On 3 June 2018, the Group tock up its full entitlement of First Sponsor Group Limited's {("FSGL") nghts 1ssue of
new Perpetual Convertible Capital Secunties ("PCCS") for a total cost of $353m (E30m). As part of the capital
funding exercise, 1 new free warrant was issued for every 1 new PCCS subscribed for; in addition, 1 new bonus
warrant was issued for every 10 existing ordinary shares held in FSGL For the year ended 31 December 2019,
a farr value gain of £3m was recorded by the Group from the holding of new warrants

8 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

2019 2018
£M £

Wages and salaries 322 309
Compulsory social security contributions 50 49
Contnbutions to defined contribution schemes 22 19
Defined benefit pension (gain)/cost — recorded in the statement of comprehensive income 1 (5)
Defined benefit pension cost — recorded in the income statement 2 2
397 374

The number of employees employed by the Group as at year end analysed by category was as follows-

2019 2018

NUMBER NUMBER

Hotel operating staff 9,022 8,853
Management/administration 1,497 1,478
Sales ang marketing 519 492
Repairs and maintenance 648 881

11,687 11,504

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

2019 2018

£M £M

Remuneration 1 1
Received by the Directors under

— Long-term ncentive schemes - -

— Pensions - =

1 1
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9 NET FINANCE EXPENSE

2019 2018
£M EM
Interest income 5 5
Foreign exchange gain 2 4
Finance income 7 9
Interest expense
— Overdrafs, bank and other loans {25) (28)
— Recognised under IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (5) -
Foreign exchange loss (9 (8}
Finance expense {39) (37}
Net finance expense (32) (28)
10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
2019 2018
™ £EM
Current tax
Corporation tax charge for the year 30 34
Adjustment in respect of prior years (2} 1
Total current tax expense 28 35
Deferred tax (Note 26)
Crngination and reversal of tming differences {10) {14)
Benefits of tax losses recognised (11) (9)
{Over)under provision in respect of prior years 1 1
Total deferred tax credit (20) (22}
Total income tax charge in the consolidated income statement 8 13
UK 1 2
QOverseas 7 11
8 13

Total incoeme tax charge in the consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has a tax charge of £8m (2018 £13m) excluding the tax relating

to joint ventures and associates

The effective tax rate relating to the tax charge of £8m 1s 12.4% (2018: 16.9%). The Group's underlying effective
tax rate is 17.5% (2018 20.4%). The effective tax rate has been affected primarily by the mix of Group regional
profits and tax adjustments in respect of previous years (finahsation of exposures in Philippines).

For the year ended 31 December 2019, a charge of £7m (2018. £7m) relating to joint ventures and associates is

included in the profit before tax.




7 MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ADJUSTMENTS IN RESPECT OF SETTLEMENT OF PRIOR YEARS’ TAX LIABILITIES

The Group's tax charge on ordinary activities is the sum of the total current and deferred tax charges. The
calculation of the Group's total tax charge necessanly involves a degree of estimation and judgement in respect
of certain items whose tax treatment cannot be finally determined until resolution has been reached with the
relevant tax authority or, as appropriate, through a formal tegal process. The final resolution of some of these
tems may give nse to material profit and less andfor cash flow vanances. The geographical complexity of the
Group's structure makes the degree of estimation and judgement mare challenging. The resolution of issues is
not always within the control of the Group and it 1s often dependent on the efficacy of the legal processes in the
relevant tax jurisdictions in which the Group operates

INCOME TAX RECONCILIATION

2019 2018

£M £M

Profit before income tax in consolidated income statement 102 106
Less share of profits of joint ventures and associates {36) (29)
Profit on ordinary activities excluding share of joint ventures and associates 66 77
Income tax on ordinary activities at the standard rate of UK tax of 19 00% (2018 19 00%) 13 15
Tax exempt income {29) (22)
Non-deductible expenses 17 10
Unrecognised tax losses arising during the year 3 3
Other effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 4 5
Other adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior years - 2
Income tax expense per consolidated income statermnent 8 13

11 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Subsequent to the Final Offer and Delisting of the Group, eamings per share is no longer applicable Refer to
the Directors Report on page 22 for further detail regarding the Final Offer and Delisting

2013 2018
(a) Basic
Profit for the year attributable to holders of the parent (Em} 62 43
Weighted average number of shares in issue {m) 325 325
Basic earnings per share (pence) - 13.1p
(b) Diluted
Profit for the year attnbutable to halders of the parent (Em) 62 43
| Weighted average number of shares n 1ssue (m) 325 325 .
( Potentially dilutive share options under thre Group’'s share option schemes (m} - -
Weighted average number of shares in 1ssue (diluted) (m) 325 325
Diluted earnings per share (pence) - 131p
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

FIX"URES
CARP TAL FITTINGS ANDC RIGHT-
LAND ANC WORK N PLANT AND EQUIPMENT OF-USE
= e R 1 PROGRESS MACHINERY  AND VEHIC_ES ASSETS TOTAC
£M M £M £M £M M

Cost
Baance al 1 Lanuary 2018 3297 36 349 38 - 4063
Aitors — Acquisitions H - - . - 5
Agditors - Others 2 43 10 15 - 7
Reoassfcanon Derween asset categoras 3 (6} - 3 - -
T-ansfer lo investment properties - (3) - - - 5]
Disposals - - - 12) - (2)
Whtten off i - 3) 4 - 8)
Fareigr excrange adjustrants 8z 2 12 12 — 108
Balance a® 31 December 208 3.388 72 358 406 - 4234
HBalanca @' 1 _anuary 2079 3,388 72 368 4085 - 4,234
Adocton of IFRS 16 on 1 january 2019 - - - - 207 207
Adguens « Others 11 45 14 29 L] 107
Reclassficalion between asset categores 35 &1} 12 14 - -
Trans’er io assats held for sale 97N N {38) {8) {2) {180)
Cisposars - - - {1} - (W}
Writtens off - [})] (8) (10} - 19)
Foreign exchange adiusbments {58) { (5} {8) {4 7
Balance at 31 December 2019 3,282 47 43 424 209 4,305
Accumulated deprecistion and impairment losses
Balance at 1 Janua-y 201@ 820 1 135 278 - 934
Crarge feor the year 19 - 14 33 - 66
impaiment 58 - 1 — - 59
Disposals - - - 2y - ‘2]
written off - - (2 4) - H-H
Foregn exchange adjustments 16 - 5 a - aC
Balance 3t 31 Decerber 2018 613 1 153 314 - 1ce”
Balance at 1 January 20°g 8§13 1 153 314 - 1,081
Charge tor ‘ne year 21 - 15 36 3 80
Impanmert 29 - 5 - - 3
Dhsposais - - - (1) - (1
Reciassfration between asset calogories - - mn t - -
Transfer io assets held lor sale [13) - {27) [L}] - (48}
whitten ot - ) ) [E3] - “un
Foreign exchange adjustnents (10) - 2) h {1} {20}
Balance at 3% December 2019 640 - 136 iz r 1111
Carrying amounts B ” B
At 31 December 2019 2,842 47 a7 ] 202 3,194
At 31 December 2318 2778 71 215 92 - 3153

The carrying value of property, plant ard equipment held under finance leases at 31 December 2019 was £nil (2018: £nil)
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A IMPAIRMENT

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment based on each cash generating unit "CGU"). The
CGUs are individual hotels The carrying value of individual hotels was compared to the recoverable amount of
the hotets, which was derived with the reference to fair value through creation of discount cash flow models
Under this methodology, the fair value measurement reflects current market expectations about the third-party
efficient operator's is future cash flows, discounted to their present value. The underlying basis for the
impairment model involves each hotel's projected cash flow for the financial year ending 31 December 2020,
extrapclated to incomporate individual assumptions in respect of revenue growth (principally factoring in room
rate and occupancy growth) and major expense lines. The future cash flows are based on assumptions about
competitive growth rates for hotels in that area, as welt as internal business plans These plans and forecasts
include management's most recent view of trading prospects for the hotel in the relevant market Where
appropnate, the Directors sought guidance on value from a registered iIndependent appraiser with an
appropriately recognised professional quatification and recent experience in the location and categary of the
hotel being valued.

OCn the basis of external valuations in 2019, the Group recarded an impairmment charge of £34m consisting of
£17m in New York. £14m in Rest of Asia and £3m in Rest of Europe. For 2018, a total impairment charge of
£59m was recognised in relation to £31m 1n New York, E3m in Rest of Europe, £6m in Rest of Asia and £19m
for Regional US. Further information is given in Note 12.

Circumstances and events ihat Jed to mpairment ara largely due to the performance of the hotels. The fair
values assumed through the impairment assessment are considered to fall within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy Refer to Note 22d for more detail

B KEY ASSUMPTIONS USED BY THE EXTERNAL APPRAISERS
The key assurmptions used were as fallows.

Pre-tax discount rate — The discount rate is based on the country in which the hotel is located and is adjusted for
risks associated with the hotet. Discount rates ranged from 7.75% i the US, 5.80% to 11.50% in Europe, 7 25%
to 12.00% in Asia and 7.25% to 10 25% in New Zealand.

Occupancy rate — The occupancy growth rates ranged up to 1.00% in the US, up to 1 00% in Europe, an
increase of 10% to a decrease of 2.00% in Asia and up to 3 00% in New Zealand.

Average room rate — The average room rate growth ranged from 4.60% in the US, 1 70% to 2.60% in Europe,
2.40% t0 6.80% in Asia and 2.50% 10 5.80% in New Zealand

Terminal rate — These rates ranged from 5.50% in the US. 4 00% to 9 50% in Europe, 5.50% to 9.00% in Asia
and 6.50% to 9.25% in New Zealand

The forecasts cover a five to ten year period. and cash flows beyond this pericd are extrapoiated using a growth
rate ranging between 1 50% and 3 00%, which 1s based upon the expected trading growth for each hotel and
inflation (n the country

c SENSITIVITIES

The Group’s impairment review is sensitive to changes in key assumptions used, most notably the discount and
terminal rates. Based on the Group's sensitivity analysis performed on the property in New York (which
represents 50% of the tatal impairment recognised), assuming that ali other variables were to remain constant,
the increase/(decrease) in the Group's total impairment recognised wolld be as follows:

£M
Terminal rate decreased by 0.25% (5)
Terminal rate \ncreased by 0 25% 4
Discount rate decreased by 0.25% )
Discount rate increased by 0.25% 3
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D LAND AND BUILDINGS

Interest of £2m (2018 £nil) was capitalised within land and buildings during the year. The cumulative capitalised

interest within Jand and buildings 1s £7m (2018; £5m}.

E PLEDGED ASSETS

At year-end, the net book value of assets pledged as collateral for secured loans was £529m (2018, £E477m)

The security for the loans is by way of charges on the properties of the Group companies concerned

13 LEASE PREMIUM PREPAYMENT

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2019

Adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019
Balance at 31 December 2019
Amortisation

Balance at ! January 2019

Adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019
Balance at 31 December 2019

Carrying amount at 31 December 2018

2019
£M

129
{129)

24
(24)
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Completed Investment properties comprise Tanglin Shopping Centre, Biltmore Court & Tower, CDLHT

properties and Millennium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo Investment properties under construction represents the
site at Sunnyvale.

Movements in the year anaiysed as.

INVESTMENT

COMPLETED PROPERTIES RIGHT-

PROPERTIES CONSTRUGTION  ASSETS roTal

£M EM £M £M

Balance at 1 January 2018 568 9 - 577
Transfer from property, plant and equipment - 3 - 3
Additions - <] - 6
Acquisition of property 38 - - 38
Adjustment to fair value 22 - — 22
Foraign exchange adjustment 22 - - 22
Balance at 31 December 2018 550 18 - 668
Balance at 1 January 2018 650 18 - €68
Adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 = - 7 7
Additions 5 16 - 21
Fareign exchange adjustment {15) %))} - (16)
Balance at 31 December 2019 640 k] 7 680

In general, the carrying amount of investment propery other than those under construction is the fair value of
the property as deterrmined by a registered independent appraiser having an appropriate recognised
professional qualification and recent experience in the location and categery of the property being valued Fair
valugs were determined having regard to recent market transactians for similar properties in the same location
as the Group's investment property

Consistent with the prior year, only the land site at Sunnyvaie, California, is classified as investment propertes
under construction as the project of building a hotel and an apartment complex is still in progress This assetis
carned at cost on the balance sheet.
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The Group's investment properties were subject to external professional valuation on an open market existing
use basis by the following accredited independent valuers.

PROPERTIES VALUERS
Tanglin Shopping Centre, Singapore Edmund Tie & Company (SEA) Pte Lid
Biitmore Court & Tower Los Angeles Sequola Hotel Advisors. LLC
Land site at Sunnyvale, Cahfornia Sequola Hotel Advisors. LLC
Millennium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo Jones Lang LaSalle KK
CDLHT - Singapore Knight Frank Pte Ltd
CDLHT - Australia CBRE Pte Lid and Jones Lang LaSalle Advisory Services Pty Limited
CDLHT ~ Maldives Jones Lang LaSalle Property Consultants Pte Ltd
CDLHT - Germany Cushman & Wakefield
CDLHT - Italy Cushman & Wakefield

Based on these valuations together with such considerations as the Directors consider appropriate, Miliennium
Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo Biltmore Court & Tower and Tanghn Shopping Centre recorded a revaluation gain of
£6m (2018: revaluation gain £5m). a revaluation deficit of £3m (2018. revaluation deficit £1m) and a revaluation
gain of £1m (2018. revaluation gain £3m) respectively In addition, the REIT properties recorded a net
revaluation deficit of £4m (2018 net revaluation gain of £16m). All the other investment properties recorded no
change and no impairment was identified.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The fair value measurement for investment properties not under construction of £640m (2018: £650m) has been
categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on inputs to the valuation technique used
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VALUATION TECHNIQUE AND SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS
The following table shows the valuation techmigue used in measuring the fair value of investment praperty, as
well as significant unobservable inputs used.

INTER-RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN KEY
UNCBSERVABLE INFUTS AND FAIR VALUE

VALUATION TECHNIQUE SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE '‘NPUTS MEASUREMENT

The techmque appiied n the valuation of the  Tanglin Shopping Centre The estimated fair value would increase/

Tangln Shopping Centre is based on market  Open market values for ather prapertes (decrease) f

companson of sales of similar properties 1n

the vicirty Further adjustments are made to  Biltmore Court & Tower Expected market rantal growth were

this vaive to account far dfferences in Dhscount rate of between 8 25% to 10 50% higher/(lower), and

iocatian, size, tenure, view, accessibiity, and captalisation rate of 7 75% to ¢ 0C%

cond tion and other factors Risk adjusted discount rate was lower/ (higrer)
Millennium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo capitalisation rate was higher! {lower) and

Brtmore Court & Tower and Millennium Mitsui Discount rate of 3 7% and capiansaton rate of  terminal yield was lawer! {tugher)
Garden Hote Tokyo were va'ued using a 4 1%
discounted cash flow technique based on
expecied rental iIncome and discount rate CDLHT investment propertiea Discount rate
appropriate for the property of between 4 75% and 12 C0%, capitalisation
rate of 4 25% to 6 00% and terminal yieid of
Investmant propert.es held by the REIT were 4 25% to 5 00%
valued us ng the aiscounted cash flow,
capitahisation or comparison fechniques

Further details in respect of iInvestment property rentals are given in Note 37

ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY

On 27 November 2018, the H-REIT Group acquired 95 0% of the shares and voting interest in Event Hospitality
Group Il B.V., which wholly-owns Event Hospitality Group [l Italy SRL, sole shareholder of NKS Haospitality 111
(collectively, the “Italy Acquisition™) for a total consideration of €33m (£28m). NKS Hospitality 11l SRL is the legal
owner of Hotel Cerretan Florence, MGallery by Scfitel and the fixtures. furniture and equipment therein
(collectively, the “ltaly Property”) The acquisition was accounted for as an acquisition of assets.

IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS ACQUIRED AND LIABILITIES ASSUMED
The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilites assumed at the date
of acquisition.

(3] £M
Investment property 43 38
Trade and other receivables 1 1
Cash at bank 3 3
Current liabilities (1 {1)
Borrowings (1) (10)
Total Wentifiable net assets 35 31
Less. Non-controlling interest, based on their proporuconate interest in the recognised
amounts of the assets and liabilities of the acquiree {2) {2)
ldentifiablie net assets acquired 33 29
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CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED

€M
Totat consideration for 85 0% aquity interest acquired 33
Add Acqguisition related costs 2
Less Cash at bank of subsidiaries acquired {3)
Less Acquisition related costs not yet paid 2)
Net cash outflow on acquisition” 30

1 Included i cash flows from investing activiiigs

15 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES
The Group has the following investments in joint ventures and associates

208

50%
50%
50%

36%
17%

EAIR VALUE
OF  EFFECTIVE GROUP
OWNERSHIP INTEREST
PRINCIPAL PLACE  INTEREST

QOF BUSINESS £M 2019
Joint ventures
New Unity Holdings Limited (“New Unity”} Hong Kong - 50%
Fergurson Hotel Management Limited Hong Kong - 50%
New York Sign LLC New York - 50%
Associate People’s Republic of
First Sponsor Group Limited ('First Spansor”’) China 226 36%
Prestons Road Limited New Zealand - 17%
CDL Hotels Japan Pte. Ltd Singapare - 40%

40%

The Group has 50% in New Unity which operates the Group’s hotel business in Hong Kong. First Sponsor is a
property company which s listed on the Singapore Exchange and has interests in China, the Netherlands and

Germany It is also involved in the Chinese property financing business which carries additional nisk of
recoverability of certain assets.

JOINT
VENTURES ASSOCIATES
£M £M

Share of net assets/cost
Balance at 1 January 2018 108 216
Share of profit for the year 7 22
Dividends received - (4)
Foreign exchange adjustments 6 3
Balance at 31 December 2018 121 237
Balance at 1 January 2019 121 237
Share of profit for the year 3 a3
Additions - 37
Dividends received - (5)
Foreign exchange adjustments, 3) (9)
Balance at 31 December 2019 121 293

TCTAL
£M

324
29
(4}

358

358
36
a7
(5)

(12)

414
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The following 18 summarised financial information for First Sponsor and New Unity based on their respective

financial statements prepared in accordance with {FRS These are considered 10 be the most significant
investments in joint ventures and assocrates

2019

2]

Non-current assets 951
Current assets 618
Non-currant liabilities (367)
Current liabilities (377)
Total assets less total liabilities 82§
Less  Non-controlling interest (n
Net assets {100%) 808
Group's share 291
Revenue 183
Operating profit 108
Interest income/{expense) -
income tax expense {16}
Profit for the year 92
Non-controlling interests 1
Profit for the year after non-controlling interests 93
Other comprehensive income {19)
Profit and total comprehensive income (100%) 74
Group's share of profit and total comprehensive income 27
Dividends received by the Group 4

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s share of the total capital commitments of jaint ventures and associates
amounted to £58m (2018: £15m} At 31 December 2019, the Group's joint ventures and asscciates had no

contingent liabilities (2018 £nil).

FIRST SPONSOR

NEW UN(TY
2018 2019 2018
£M £M [
749 148 361
621 91 101
(478} (84) {104)
(224 (34) (38)
670 a2 320
) (82) (79)
563 240 241
237 120 121
154 18 134
76 13 28
4 It 2
(15) @ 4
65 10 22
(3) (8} )]
62 5 13
(13) - -~
49 s 13
18 2 7
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16 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2019 208
M £EM
Equity investments 34 39
Denvative financial assets 4 2
Deposits recevable 2 2
40 43
17 INVENTORIES
2049 2018
£M fal, ]
Consumables 7 5
18 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES
2019 2018
£M £M
Development properties comprise.
Development land for resale
- New Zealand residential sections 93 a0
Development properties
- Zenith Residences 22 25
115 115
19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2019 2018
£M [x )
Trade receivables 40 45
Other receivables 24 27
Prepayments and accrued income 26 29
Trade recelvables due from holding and associate comparnies 1 1
91 102

Trade receivables are shown net of an impaiment aliowance of £7m (2018 £4m) relating to the likely

insolvencies of certain customers and non-recoverability of debts.

The Group's exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables

are disclosed in Note 22.
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20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2019 2018

£M o
Cash at bank and in hand 254 228
Short-term deposis 240 225
Cash pool overdrafts (85) (78}
Cash and cash equivalents on the statement of financial position 409 375
Overdrafts included in borrowings - -

Cash and cash equivalents shown in the cash flow statement 409 375

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assels are disclosed in Note 22,
As at 31 December 2019, £3m (2018 £1m) of the cash batance was restricted.

21 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS, BONDS AND BORROWINGS

2019 2018
£ £M

Included within non-current liabilities
Bank loans 776 614
Bonds payable 77 175
853 789

Included within current liabilites

Bank loans and overdrafts 219 234
Bonds payabie 96 79
NS5 313

Net debt of £759m (2018 £727m) is the total of the interest-beanng loans, bonds and borrowings of £1,168m
(2018. £1,102m) less cash and cash equivalents of £409m (2018. £375m) Further details in respect of financial
iabilites are given in Note 22

22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
OVERVIEW
The Group has exposure to the foliowing risks from its use of financial instruments:

= credid nsk;
- liquidity risk; and
= market risk

This note presents infonmation about the Group's exposurg to each of the above risks, and the Group's policies
and processes for measunng and managing risk

(A) CREDIT RISK

Credit nsk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principaily from the Group's receivables from customers and
investment securities

Exposure to credit risk 1s monitored on an ongoing basis. with credit checks performed on all clients requinng
credit over certain amounts Credit is not extended beyond authorised hmits, established where appropriate
through consultation with a professional credit vetting organisation. Credit granted is subject to regular review, to
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ensure it remains consistent wath the chent's current creditworthiness and appropriate to the anticipated volume
of business

Investments are allowed only in iguid short-term instruments within approved limits, with Investment
counterparties approved by the Board, such that the exposure to a single counterparty s minimised

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value of each financial asset on the balance
sheet, these being spread across the vanous currencies and jurisdictions in which the Group operates

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was

CARRYING VALUE

2019 2018
£M £M
Cash at bank and in hand (see Note 20) 254 228
Short-term deposits (see Note 20) 240 225
Cash pool overdrafts (see Note 20) {895) (78)
Trade receivables (see Note 19) 40 45
Other receivables (see Note 19} 24 27
Eguity investments (see Note 16} 34 39
Depostts receivable (see Note 16} 2 2
Trade receivables due from holding and associate companies (see Note 19) 1
510 489

The maximum expasure to credit risk for trade recevables at the reporting date by geographic region was:

CARRYING VALUE

2019 2048

M £M

New York 7 7
Regional US 5 4
Rest of Europe 5 10
Singapore 8 7
Rest of Asia 9 10
Australasia 6 7
40 45

70



_HILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The ageing of frade receivables at the reporting date was’

IMPAIRMENT
GROSS RECE!VABLE AL_OWANCE CARRYING VALUE

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
€M £M £M £ £M M
Not past due 24 28 - - 24 28
Past due O — 30 days 9 11 - - 9 41
Past due 31 - 60 days 3 3 - - 3 3

Past due 61 — 90 days 2 1 - - 2
More than 80 days 9 6 (7) (4} 2 2
47 49 (7) (4) 40 45

The movement in the allowance for impairment 1n respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

2019 2018

[] £M

Balance at 1 January a 3
Impairment losses recognised 4 2
Bad debts wntten off (n )
Balance at 31 December 7 4
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CONTRACTUJAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL ASSFTS

2019
MCRE
6 MONTHS 6 MONTHS 1-5 THAN
TOTAL OR LESS -1 YEAR YEARS 5 YEARS
£M £M £M M £M
Financial Assets
Fixed Rate
US dollar 5 5 - - -
Korean Wan 8 8 _ - -
Singapere doliar 60 26 -~ 34 -
New Taiwan dollar 35 31 ~ - 4
Australian dollar 41 41 -~ - -
New Zealand dollar 77 77 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 22 22 ~ - -
Eura 2 - - 2 -
Chinese Renminbi 7 7 - - -
Others 1 1 - - -
Non-Interest Bearing
Sterling 50 50 - — -
US dollar 48 48 - - -
Singapore doilar 75 75 ~ - -
Austrahan dollar 6 6 - - -
New Zealand dollar 4 4 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 1 1 -~ - -
Euro 17 17 - - -
Japanese Yen 18 18 -~ - -
Others 7 7 - - -
Interest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
Singapore dollar 49 49 _ - _
Non-Interest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
Sterling 1 1 - - _
Total cash and other financial assets 534 494 -~ 36 4
Interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafts
Sterling (24) (24) - - -
Hong Kong dollar (17) an - - -
Non-interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafts
Sterling (38) (38) - - -
Eurg (6) (6) - - -
Total overdrafts (Note 20) (85) (85) - - -
449 409 - 6 4
Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) 409
Financial assets {Note 16) 40
449




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES GF FINANCIAL ASSETS

2018
MORE
6 MONTHS & MONTHS 1-5 THAK
~OTAL OR LESS -1 YEAR YEARS 5 YEARS
£M £M £M EM £M
Financial Assets
Fixed Rate
US dollar 4 4 - - -
Korearn Won 8 8 - - -
Singagpore dollar 108 59 - 39 -
New Tarwan dollar 24 22 - - 2
Australian dollar 38 38 - - -
New Zealand dollar 62 62 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 21 21 - - -
Euro 2 - - 2 -
Chinese Renminbi 20 20 -~ - -
Non-interest Bearing
Sterhng 9 Q -~ - -
US dollar 34 34 - - -
Singapaore doliar 29 29 - - -
Australian dollar 5 ) - - -
New Zealand dollar 5 5 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 1 1 - - -
Euro 22 22 - - -
Japanese Yen 17 17 - ~ -
Others 4 4 - ~ -~
Interest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
Singapore dollar 53 53 - - -
Non-interest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
Sterling 30 30 - - -
Total cash and other financial assets 496 453 - 41 2
Interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafts
Sterling (24) (24} - - -
Hong Keong dollar (19) (19) - - -
Non-Interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafts
Sterting (28) {28) - - -
Euro {7y (7} - - -
Total overdrafts (Note 20) (78) (78} - - -
418 ars - 41 2
Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents (Nate 23) 375
Financial assets (Note 18} 43
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(B) LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity nsk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due The
Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its labilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurnng unacceptable
losses of risking damage to the Group's reputation.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial latilties. including estmated interest payments using
the interest rates prevaiing as at the reporting date

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANGIAL LLABILITIES

CARRYING CONTRACTUAL & MONTHS 612 12 25 22::'
AMOUNT  CASH FLOWS OR LESS MONTHS YEARS YEARS 5 YEARS
3* DECEMBER 2319 M £M £M £n £M £8 £M
Floating rate financial
liabilities
Secured Ivans 44 47 1 5 1 44 -
Unsecured loans 602 636 58 109 259 210 -
Secured bonds 20 20 20 - - - -
Fixed rate financial
liabilities
Unsecured loans 311 340 4 66 7 263 -
Secured loans 38 41 - - 1 2 38
Secured bonds 76 76 54 22 - - -
Unsecured bonds 77 81 1 1 79 - -
Trade and other payables
Trade payables 32 32 32 - - - -
Other creditors 55 55 55 - - - -
Non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities 17 17 - - 2 3 12
1,272 1,345 225 203 349 518 50
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CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

CARRYING CONTRACTUAL 6 MONTHS 512 1.2 2.5 N:SEE
AMOUNT CASHFLOWS  ORLESS  MONTHS YEARS YEARS 5 YEARS
31 DECEMBER 2018 jav} £M £M £M £M £M EM
Floating rate financial
liabilities
Secured laans &1 64 28 - 1 35 -
Unsecured loans 451 475 52 75 157 191 -
Secured bonds 20 20 - - 20 - -
Unsecured bonds 157 167 3 80 3 81 -
Fixed rate financiai
liabilities
Unsecured loans 296 321 4 95 29 193 -
Secured loans 40 44 — - 1 2 a1
Secured bonds 77 78 - - 78 - -
Trade and other payables
Trade payables 32 32 32 - - - -
Other creditors 53 53 53 - - - -
Non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabdities 15 15 - - 2 3 10
1,202 1,269 172 250 291 505 51

Undrawn committed borrowing facilities

At 31 December 2019, the Group had £595m (2018 £539m) of undiawn and commiticd facilities availabie,
comprising committed revolving credit facilities which provide the Group with financial flexibility Maturities of
these facilities are set out i the following table

The conditions precedent to the availability of thesea facilitias are all satisfied at the balance sheet date

2049 2018

EM EM
Expiring 1n one year or less 423 223
Expiring after more than one year but not mare than two years 95 165
Expiring after more than two years but not more than five years 77 151
Expiring after more than five years - -
Total undrawn committed borrowing facilities 595 539
Total undrawn uncommitted borrowing facilities 112 173
Total undrawn borrowing facilities 707 712

SECURITY

Included within the Group's total bank loans and overdrafts of £886m {2018 £848m} are £82m {2018 £100m} of
secured loans and overdrafts Total bonds and notes payable of £173m (2018 £254m) consist of £77m
unsecured

Loans, bonds and notes are secured on land and buildings with a carrying value of £529m (2018 £477m) and
an assignment of insurance proceeds in respect of insurances over the mortigaged properties
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Of the Group's total facilities of £1,879m, £846m matures within 12 months comprising £96m secured bonds
and notes, £277m committed revoiving credit faciikes, £150m uncommitted facilihes and overdrafts subject to
annual renewal. £323m unsecured term toans and no secured term loans. Plans for refinancing the facilties are
underway

(<) MARKET RISK
Market risk ts the rnisk that changes in market prnices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and eguity
prices will affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

The pnmary objectives of the treasury function are to provide secure and competitively priced funding for the
activities of the Group and to identify and manage financial risks, including expasure to movements in interest
and foreign exchange rates ansing from those activities If appropriate, the Group uses financial instruments and
denvattves to manage these risks, as set out below.

{n FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on revenue. purchases, borrowings and cash deposits
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective Group entities The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily US dollars, Singapore dollars New Zealand dollars, New Taiwan dollars,
Korean won, Chinese renminbi, Japanese yen and Euro

The Group's principal policy, wherever possible, 1s to maintain 2 natural hedge whereby liabiiities are matched
with assets denominated in the same currency Foregn currency investment exposure is also minimised by
barrowing In the currency of the investment

To mitigate foreign currency transiation exposure, an appropriate praportion of net assets are designated as
hedged against corresponding financial liabilities in the same currency.

NET INVESTMENT HEDGING

The Group has US$302m (2018. US$161m) US dollar loans and €7m (2018: €7m) Euro loans designated as
hedges of corresponding respective proporions of its net investment in foreign operatians whose functional
currencies are US dollars and Eures The risk being hedged is the forergn currency exposure on the carrying
amount of the net assets of the fereign operation upon consclidaton. The far value of the hedging instruments
as at 31 December 2019 was £292m (2018. £133m)

An analysis of borrowings by currency and their fair values as at 31 December is given below:

31 DECEMEER 2019 31 DECEMBER 2018

BOOK FAIR BOOK
VALUE VALUE VALUE FAIR VALUE
£M EM £M M
Sterling 166 166 146 146
Singapore dollar 237 237 223 223
US dollar 549 549 468 468
New Zealand doliar 34 34 34 34
Chinese renminbi 10 10 27 27
Japanese yen 119 119 120 120
Korean Won 13 13 14 14
Euro 40 40 70 70
1,168 1,168 1,102 1,102

Exchange differences arising on foreign currency loans during each accounting period are recognised as a
component of equity, 1o the extent that the hedge is effective. The foreign exchange exposure arising on the
Group’s net investment in its subsidiaries 1s expacted to be highly effective in offsetting the exposure arising on
the Group’s foreign currency borrowings. Howaver during the year an immaterial amount (2018: £2m credit) was
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recogrised n the consolidated income statement that arose from hedges of net investments in foregn

operations that were considered to be ineffective

Foreign currency transaction exposure 1s prmarily managed through funding of purchases from operating

income streams arising in the same currency

Hedging of transaction exposure is undertaken with approved counterparties and within designated hmits, using
spot or short-term forward contracts to buy or sell the currency concermned, once the timing and the underlying
amount of exposure have been determined. Foreign exchange derivatives may also be used to hedge specific

transaction exposure where appropriate.

The following sigmficant exchange rates apphed dunng the year:

Us dallar
Singapore dollar
New Taiwan dollar
New Zealand dollar
Malaysian nnggt
Korean won
Chinese rennunby
Euro

Japanese yen

AVERAGE RATE

2018

1.2786
1.743
39.432
1.932
5.296
1,482.06
8.820
1.144
139.432

2018

1334
1.799

40 237
1.8927
5380
1,465.85
B8.825
1129
147 426

CLOSING RATE

2019

1.299
1.759
35.070
1.953
5.367
1,507.54
9.092
1171
142.223

2018

1.270
1.741
39.152
1885
5306
1,428 30
8736
1.115
140.298
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

With respect to the Group's foreign currency exposure, and assuming that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant, it is estimated that a 10% strengthening of steriing against the following
currencies at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018. 10%) would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit
before tax by the amounts shown below:

31 DECEMBER 2019 31 DECEMBER 2018
PROFIT PROFI™
BEFGRE BEORE
EQUITY TAX EQUITY TAX
£M M EM £M
US dotlar 31 6 28 7
Austraiian dollar (8) 1} (8) (1}
Singapore dollar 7 (4) 6 (4)
New Taiwan dollar - ) - {1)
New Zealand dollar - 5} - {5)
Euro 4 {2) 4 {(2)
Chinese renminbi (3} (2) {4) (1
Japanese Yen 2 M 2 (2)
33 (10} 28 ($)

A 10% weakening of sterling against the abave currencies at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018 10%)
would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the
basis that all other variables remair constant

(n} INTEREST RATE RISK AND INTEREST RATE SWAPS

The Group adopts a policy of ongoing review of its exposure to changes in interest rates on its borrowings,
taking into account markat expectations with regard to the perceived level of risk associated with each currency,
the matunty profile and cash flows of the underlying debt, and the extent to which debt may potentially be either
prepaid prior to its maturity or refinanced at reduced cost.

The Group's policy is to maintain a mixture of its financial liabilities on a fixed and fleating-rate basis with a
greater emphasis on floating rates presently as this Aexibility is considered to be appropriate in the context of
the Group's overall gecgraphical diversity, investment and business cycle and the stability of the income
streams cash balances and loan covenants

Interest rate derivatives are used to manage interest rate risk, to the extent that the perceived cost is considered
to outweigh the benefit from the flexibility of vanable rate borrowings, and the Group actively monitors the need
and timing for such dervatives Where used, interest rate derivatives are classified as cash flow hedges and
staled at fair value within the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. Further details of interest rate
cenvatives in place at 31 December 2018 are provided hereafter
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CASH FLOW SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR VARIABLE RATE INSTRUMENTS

Assuming that all other vanables, in pariicular foreign currency rates, remain constant, a change of cne
percentage paint in the average interest rates applicable to vanable rate instruments for the year would have
increased/(decreased) the Group's profit before tax for the year as shown below:

31 DECEMBER 2019 31 DECEMBER 2018
1% 1% 19 1%
INCREASE DECREASE INCREASE DECREASE
M £M £M M
Variable rate financial assets 2 (2) 2 (2)
Variable rate financial labmites {13} 13 (n 11
Cash flow sensitivity (net) (11} 11 {9) 9

{D) FAIR VALUE
Set out below 1s a comparison of the fair and book values of all the Group’s financial instruments by category.

Fair values are determined by reference to market values, where available, or calcutated by discounting cash
flows at prevailing interest rates.

2019 2019 2018
00K FAIR a00x 2018
VALUE VALUE VALUE FAIR VALUE
£M £M £M £M
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand 254 254 228 228
Short-term deposits 240 240 225 225
Cash pool overdrafts (85) (85) {(78) {78)
Loans and receivables
Trade receivables 40 40 45 a5
Trade receivables due from hoiding and associate companies 1 1 1 1
Other receivables 24 24 27 27
Other financial assets
Equity investments 34 34 39 39
Deposits recewable 2 2 2 2
510 510 486 489
Financial liabilities
Overdrafts and borrowings {1,168) {1,168) (1,102) {1.102)
Trade payables (32) {32) (32) {32}
Other creditors (55} {55) (53) {53}
Other non-current liabilities (17) 17 (15) (15}

(1.272)  (1,272)  {1202)  (1,202)
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ESTIMATION OF FAIR VALUES
The following summanses the major methods and assumptions used in estmatng the fair values of financial
instruments reflected in the table

DERIVATIVES
Forward exchange contracts are either marked to market using hsted market prices or by discounting the
contractual forward price and deducting the current spot rate For interest rate swaps. bank valuations are used

INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Fair value 1s calculated based on discounted expected future pnincipal and interest cash flows

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES
The fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at market interest rates for
similar lease agreements. The estimated fair values reflect changes in interest rates

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES
For receivables/payables with a remaining #fe of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed to reflect
the fair value. All other receivables/payables are discounted to determine the fair value

INTEREST RATES USED FOR DETERMINING FAIR VALUE
Prevailing market interest rates are used to discount cash flows to determine the fair value of financial assets
and liabilities.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
As at 31 December 2019, the Group held certain financiat instruments measured at fair value.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial (nstruments by
valuation technique

Levet 1. quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabslities

Levet 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3' technigues that use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based
on observable market data

The table below provides a hierarchy analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value.

2019 2018

LEVEL1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL

£M £M £M £M £M £M £M £

Equity investment at FVOCI - 30 - 30 - 39 - 39

Equity invastment at FVTPL - 4 - 4 - - - -

Currency derivative assets - 4 - 4 - 2 - 2

Assets - 38 - as - 41 - 41
interest rate derivative

liabilities - - - - - 1 - 1

Liabilities - - - - — 1 - 1

Ouring the year ended 31 December 2019 there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measures

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Board's poitcy is tc maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Company's objective for managing ts capital
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1S to ensure that Group entities will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders, as well as sustaining the future development of its business In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may alter the total amount of dividends pard to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares, draw down additionai debt or reduce debt

The Group’s capital structure consists of debt, which inciudes the loans and borrowings tisciosed in Note 21,
cash and cash equivalents disclosed in Note 20 and the equity attributable to the parent, compnsing share
capital, reserves and retained earnings, as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes n equity The
Group seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and secunty afforded by 2 sound capital position.

One of the Group's subsidiaries, COLHT which is a stapled group comprising CDL Hospitality Real Estate
Investment Trust ("H-REIT") and CDL Hospitality Business Trust (*HBT"), a business trust, is required to
maintain certain minimum base capital and financial resources.

H-REIT 1s subject to the aggregate leverage Imit as defined in the Property Fund Appendix of the Code on
Collective Investment Schemes (“CIS Code™) issued by Monetary Authonty of Singapore. The CIS Code
stipulates that the total borrowings and deferred payments (together the "Aggregate Leverage”) of a property
fund should not exceed 45.0% of its Deposited Property except that the Aggregate Leverage of a property fund
may exceed 45.0% of its Deposited Property (up to a maximum of 80.0%) if a credit rating of the property fund
from Fitch Inc., Mcody's or Standard and Poor's is obtained and disclosed to the public. The property fund
should continue to maintain and disclose a credit rating so tong as its Aggregate Leverage exceeds 45.0% of its
Deposited Property

For this financial year, H-REIT has a credit rating of BBB- from Fitch Inc The Aggregate Leverage of H-REIT as
at 31 December 2019 was 35.4% (2018 34 2%) of H-REIT's Deposited Property. This complied with the
aggregate leverage limit as described above

HBT, H-REIT and COLHT have complied with the borrowing limit requirements imposed by the relevant Trust
Deeds and all externally imposed capital requirements for the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018

Excapt for the above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiares are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS

The Group operates various funded pension schemes which are established in accordance with local conditions
and practices within the countnes concerned. The most significant funds are described below

UNITED KINGDOM

The pension arrangements in the United Kingdom operate under the "Millennium & Copthome Pension Plan’,
which was set up in 1993 The plan operates a funded defined benefit acrangement tagether with a definad
contnbution plan, both with different categories of membership. The defined benefit section of the plan was
closed o new entrants in 2001 and at the same time nghts to a Guaranteed Minimum Pension ("GMPs") under
the defined contribution scheme also ceased. The plan enutles a retired employee to receive an annual pension
payment

The contnbutions required are determined by a quatified actuary on the basis of trieanial valuations using the
projected unit credit method The last full actuarial valuation of this scheme was carned out by a gualified
independent actuary as at 5 April 2017 and this has been updated on an approx/mate basis to 31 December
2079 The contributions of the Group during the year were about 11% (2018. 11%) of pensionable salary

As the defined benefit section is closed to new entrants, the current service cost, as a percentage of
pensionable payroll is lIkely to increase as the membership ages. aithough it will be applied to a decreasing
pensionable payroll. The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results of the valuation are
those relating to the discount rate and the rates of increase in salarnes and pensions

SOUTH KOREA
The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan for ts employees 1n Scuth Kerea. The contributions required
are determined by an external qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. The most recent
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valuation was carried out on 31 December 2019. The assumptians which have the maost significant effect on the
results of the valuations arg those relating to the discount rate and rate of increase in salarnes.

TAIWAN

The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan for its employees in Taiwan. The contnbutions required are
determined by an external qualfied actuary using the projected unit credit method The most recent valuation
was carned out on 31 December 2019 The contributions of the Group were no less than 6% (2018, 6%) of the
employees’ eamings. The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results of the valuations
are those relating to the discount rate and rate of increase n salaries

The defined benefit plans are administered by pension funds that are legally separated from the Group The
boards of the pension funds are required by law to act in the best interests of the pian partictpants

These defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuanal risks. such as longevity 118k, currency risk, interest
rate risk and market investment risk

The above plans are substantially funded by the Group's subsidiaries. The funding requirements are based on
the pension funds' actuarial measurement framework set out in the funding policies of the plans

The assets of each scheme have been taken at market value and the liabilites have been calculated using the
following principal assumphions.

2019 2018
2019 SOUTH 2019 2018 SOUTH 2018
UK KOREA TAIWAN UK KOREA TAIWAN
Inflation rate 3.0% 2.0% - 3.5% 2.0% -
Discount rate 1.9% 20% 0.75% 29% 2 5% 1.0%
Rate of salary increase 3.5% 3.0% 3.0% 4 0% 3 0% 3 0%
Rate of pension (ncreases 2.9% - - 33% - -
Rate of revaluation 2.2% - - 25% - -

The methodology for computing the discount rate is the yield range method.

The assumptions used by the actuaries are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuanal
assumptions, which due to the tmescaie covered, may not necessarily be bome out in practice The present
values of the schemes’ liabilities are derved from cash flow projections over long periods and are inherently
uncertain

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, halding other
assumptions consistent, would have altered the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

2019 2019 2018 2018

INCREASE DECREASE INCREAST DECREASE

M €™ £ £M

Discount rate (1% movement) (13) 13 (12} 14
Rate of salary increase (1% movement) 1 m 1 (1}

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plans, it
does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown
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Amounts recognised on the balance sheet are as follows:

2019
2019 SCUTH
UK KOREA
M M

Present value of funded
obligations 74 4
Fair value of plan assets  (64) {4)

Pian deficit 10 -

2018
TAIWAN
(1.}

(6)

2019
OTHER
Em

2

2019
TOTAL
£at

a9
(74)

15

2018

Changes In the present value of defined benefit abligations are as follows.

2019
2019 SOUTH

UK KOREA

£M EM

Batance at 1 January 66 4
Current service cost - 1
Past sarvice cost - -
Interest cost 2 -

Benefits paid, death in
service insurance
premiums and expenses (2) (1)

Remeasurement lpsses/
(gains) arising from.

— Financal assumptions 10 -
— Demographic
assumptions (2) -

Balance at 31 December 74 4

2018
TAIWAN
£M

10

n

-]

2019
OTHER
£M

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows

Balance at 1 January
Interest income
Group contnbutions
Benefits paid

Remeasurement gains arising from

~ Return/(loss) on plan assets excluding
interest income

Balance at 31 December

Actual return/{loss) on plan assets

2019
UK
EM

58

(2)

64

2019
SOUTH
KOREA

£M

2019
TOTAL
£M

82

(4)

10

2)
89

2019
TAIWAN
EM

2018
UK
M

74

(2)

{9

2019
TOTAL

68

4

74

66

208
SOUTH 2013 2018 2018
KOREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL
EM EM EM EM
4 10 2 82
(4) (6) - (88)
- 4 2 14

2018
SQOUTH 2018 2018 2018
KOREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL
€M £M £M EM
5 1 2 92
- - - 1
- - - 2
{1} (1 - (4}
- - - @
4 10 2 82

2018

7018 S0UTH 2018 2018
UK KOREA TAIWAN TOTAL
€M £M EM €M
63 5 5 73
2 - - 2
- - 2 2
(2) m (1) (4)
(%) - - %)
58 4 8 68
(3) - - &)
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The fair values of pian assets in each category are as follows

2019 2618

2019 SOUTH 2019 2019 2018  SCJTH 2018 2018

UK KOREA TAIWAN TOTAL UK KOREA TAWAN  TOTAL

£M £M £M £M £M €M £M £M

Quoted equities 24 - - 24 19 - - 19
Bonds 5 4 - 9 4 4 - 8
Property 1 - - 1 1 - - 1
Cash and cash equivalents 34 - 6 40 34 - 5] 40
64 4 6 74 58 4 6 68

The Group values plan assets in accordance with |AS 19 as follows:

= Quoted equities listed on recognised stock exchanges are valued at closing bid prices

« Bonds are measured using pricing models making assumptiens for credit risk, market risk and market yietd
curves, and

= Properties are valued on the basis of the open market value

The expense recognised in the income statement is as follows:

2019 2018

2019  SOUTH 2019 2019 2019 2018 SOUTH 2018 2018 2018
UK KOREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL UK KOREA TAIWAN OTHER  TOTAL
M £M £M £m £M £M £M £ £M £
Current service cost - 1 - - 1 - - - - —

Past service cost ™ - - - - - 1 - — -
Interest cost 2 - - - 2 2 - — _ 2
Interest income (2) - - - {2) (2) - - - (2)

- 1 - - 4 1 - - - 1

* The English ~high Cour ruling in | loyds Banking Group Pension Trustees | wmited ¥ | loyds Bank pic and oiners was pubhished on 26 Octoner 2018, and
held tFat UK pension schemes with GMPs accrued from 17 May 1930 must equalise for the different affects of these GMPs petween men and women The
estimated GMP equaissaton smpact for the UK screme 1s an increase of 7 B3% of he total value of scheme liabilies on tre SAS19 pasis as at 31 December
2018 or€1m

Total cost is recognised within the following items in the income statement

2019 2018
£EM £M

Administrative expenses 1 1
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The gains or losses recogmnised In the consalidated statement of comprehensive income are as foliows.

2019 2048
2049 SOUTH 2019 2019 2019 2018 SOLTH 2018 2018 2018
UK KOREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL UK KOREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL
£M £M £M £ £M £M £M EM £M L)

Actual return less
expected return on plan
assets [ 1 - - 7 {5} - - - (5}

Remeasurement (losses)/
gains arising from

~  Fmancial assumptions (10} - - - {10 2] - - - 9
— Demographic

assumptions 2 - - - 2 - - - - -~
Defined benefit plan

remeasurement

gans/(losses) {2) 1 - - (1) 4 - - - 4

Actuarial losses recognised directly in equity are as follows.

2019 2018

£EM £M

Cumuiative as at 1 January 19 23
Remeasurement gains recognised during the year 1 {4)
Cumulative as at 31 December 20 19

The life expectancies underlying the value of the accrued liabilities for the UK Plan, based on retirement age of
65, are as follows:

2019 2018

YEARS YEARS

Males 22 22
Females 24 24

The weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligations as at 31 December 2018 was 18 years (2018
18). The Group expects about £2m in contributions to be paid to the defined benefit plans in 2020

The Group monitors the deficit of the fund and believes any risk associated with the deficit is mitigated by the
Group's strong balance sheet position.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group operates a number of share option schemes, a majority being designed to link remuneration to the
future performance of the Group. In accordance with the Group's accounting policy 2.2N(iv) on share-based
payment transactions, the fair value of share options and long-term incentive awards 15 recognised as an
employee expense with a corresponding increase In equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread
over the period during which the empioyees become unconditionally entitled to the share options and leng-term
incentve awards. The charge to the income statement for the year was £nit (2018 £nil)

The Group has applied [FRS 2 to its active empioyee share-based payment arrangements from 1 January 2005
except for arrangements granted before 7 November 2002

All grants made during 2019 were before the Delisting took place, refer to page 23 for more detail and the
impact this had on the share option schemes
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

{1 MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED 2006 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (“LTIP")
Performance Share Awards under this scheme are awarded to Executive Directors and serior management of
the Group
AWARDS AWARDS  AWARDS AWARDS
AWARDS AWARDED VESTED FORFEITED EXPIRED AWARDS CREDITED CREDITED
OQUTSTANDING  DURING DURING DURING DURING OUTSTANOING TQ SHARE TO SHARE
DATE CF AS AT THE THE THE THE AS AT CAPITAL PREMIUM  VESTING
AWARDS 1 JAN 2019 YEAR YEAR YEAR YEAR 31 DEC 2018 £M £M DATE
03 08 2015 36.761 - - (36,761) - - - - 03.08 2018
29 03 2018 17,128 - (4,401 (32,727) - - - - 28032019
73,889 - (4 401} (69 488) - - — -
(i MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED 2006 AND 2016 SHARESAVE SCHEMES
Share options under this scheme are granted to UK based employees
EXERCISE
PRICE AWARDS AWARDS  AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS CREDITED CREDITED
PER OUTSTANDING AWARDED VESTED FORFEITED OUTSTANDING TO SHARE TO SHARE
DATE OF SHARE ASAT  DURING  DURING DURING AS AT CAPITAL PREMIUM EXERGIST
AWARDS £ 1JAN 2019 THE YEAR THE YEAR  THE YEAR 31 DEC 2019 EM EM PERIOD
D% 08 2018—
1904 2013 4 480 2,008 - - (2.008) - - - 31012019
0108 2619—
06 05 2014 4 460 941 - (872) (269 - - - 3101.2020
0108 2018-
14 04 2015 4 690 1,456 - {383) (107 - - - 3101 2019
01 g8 2020-
14 04.2015 4590 4,732 - (3.547) (1.185) - - - 3101 2024
01 0B.2019~
1204 2018 3300 101.374 . (99,794} (1.580) - - - 31012020
Q108 2021-
1204 2016 3 300 909 - (608) (303) - - - 31012022
0108 2020~
1104.2017 3 6560 37,704 - (24,218) {13 488) - - - 3101 2021
0108 2022—
1164 2017 3660 2458 - (382} (2 076) - - - 31012023
0108 2D21-
0506 2018 4360 56 180 - (21,654 (34.526) - - - 3101 2022
01 08 2023—
05,06 2018 4 360 1,582 - (238) (1.344) - - - 3101 2024
c108 2022—
09.04 2019 3750 - 93,436 (9.886) (83.550) - - - 3101 2023
0108 2024—
09.04 2019 3750 - 1.640 (53} {987) - - - 31.01 2025
209,344 94,476 (161,433 (142,387} - - -

There are no ophons autstanding at the end of the year therefore there is no current exercise price (2018
exercise price ranged from £3 30 to £4 69) with no weighied average contractual life remaining (2018 188
years).
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(m)

ANNUAL BONUS PLAN (“ABP™)

Under the ABP, deferred share awards are granted annually to selected employees of the Group Shares in
Mifiennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited are transferred to participants as follows if they continue to be employed

by the Group.

= 2015 awards, at the end of three years, and
= 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 awards. 25% after years one and two and 50% after three years

AWARDS CREDITED  CREDITED

AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS EXPIRED AWARDS TO TO

OUTSTANDING AWARDED VESTED  FORFEITED DURING OUTSTANDING SHARE SHARE

DATE OF AS AT DURING THF  DURING THE ~ DURING THE THE  ASAT 31 DEC CAPITAL  PREMIUM
AWARDS 1 JAN 2019 YEAR YEAR YEAR YEAR 2018 £M £M  VEST'NG DATES
08 99 2075 1,530 - (1.530) - - - - - 08.09 2018
13 05 2016 17.009 - (15,348) (1.467) - 196 - - 13 05 2017/8r9
12 08 2016 1188 - (1.188) - - - - - 12 08 2017/8/9
09 1* 2016 488 - (488) - - - - - 09 11 2017/8/9
14 06 2017 27 122 - (20,030) {3 755) - 3,337 - — 1408 201B/9/20
14 12 20718 57.358 - (25.408) (8048} - 23,801 - - 1412 2018720021
13 08 2019 - 35,724 (2.800) (1.110) 31,814 - - 13 08 2020/1/2

104,695 35,724 (66.791) (14 380) - 59,248 - -

{w) EXECUTIVE SHARE PLAN ("ESP")

The ESP was approved by the Company on 18 February 2016 to replace parbcipation in the LTIP by senior
execulive management. These awards will vest over a three-year period (25% after years one and two, 50%
after three years), subject to the rules of the ESP

AWARDS

OUTSTANDING

DATE OF
AWARDS
2903 2076
15.08.2047
04 12 2018
09 08 209

AS AT

1 JAN 2019

16.310
42.627
65 649

124 588

VESTING DATES

(63 684)

AWARDS AWARDS
AWARDS  VESTED AWARDS EXPIRED AWARDS CREDITED CREDITED
AWARDED DURING FORFEITED DURING ODUTSTANDING TO SHARE TQ SHARE
DURING THE DURING THE ASAT  CAPITAL  PREMIUM
THE YEAR YFAR  THE YEAR YEAR 31 DEG 2019 EM M
- (16.310) - ~ - - -
- (25 694) (13570} ~ 3,383 - -
- (20.103; (33874} - 11,672 - -
30151 {1,577 {12,790) - 15,784 - -
30,15 (80.234) - 30,819 - -

29 03 2017/8/9
15 08 2018/9/20
04 12 2019/20/21
©9 08 2020/4r2
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AWARDS/OPTIONS GRANTED

The foliowing awards/options were granted in the current and comparative years:

AWARDS/OPTIONS

GRANTED SHARE
PRICE
PREVAILING RS-
ONDATE OF EXERCISE  FAIR EXPECTED EXPECTED FREE
DATE OF NON- GRANT PRICE VALUE TERM EXPECTED DIVIDEND INTEREST
2019 AWARDS GRANT OIRECTOR DIRECTOR I £ £ (YEARS) WVOLATILITY YIELD RATES
Executive Share
Ptan 19 08 2019 - /538 & BO - €85 100 - - -
Executive Share
Plan 09 08 2019 - 7.538 680 - 685 200 - - -
Executive Shara
Pian 09 08 2019 - *5,075 6 30 - 685 300 - - -
Sharesave
Scheme (3 year) 09 04 2019 - 93.436 4 44 a7s 111 331 26 0% 095% 072%
Sharesave
Scheme {5 year) 0904 2018 - 1.040 4 44 Irs 1286 531 26 0% 095% 082%
Deferred Share
Awards 13082019 - 8.931 68D - 685 100 - - -
Deferred Share
Awards 1308 2019 - 8.931 6.8C - 685 200 - - -
Deferred Share
Awards 1308 2013 - 17.862 6 80 - 6 85 300 - - -
AWARDS/OPTIONS
GRANTED SHARE
PRICE
PREVAILING RISK-
ON DATE OF EXERCISE FAIR EXPECTED EXPECTED FREE
DATE OF NON- GRANT PRICE WVALJE TERM EXPECTED DIVIDEND INTEREST
2018 AWARDS GRANT HRECTOR DIRECTOR £ £ £ (YEARS) VOLATILITY YIELD RATFS
Executive Share
Plan 04 12 2018 - 16,412 4 66 - 4 60 100 - 1 39% -
Executive Share
Plan 04 12 2018 - 16,412 468 - 453 200 - 139% -
Executive Share
Ptan 04 12 2018 - 32,825 4 66 - 447 300 - 139% -
Sharesave
Scheme (3 year) 05 06 2018 - 57,582 532 4 36 1356 316 26 0% 122% 275%
Sharesave
Scheme (5 year) 05 06 2018 - -.582 532 436 154 516 25 0% 122% 097%
Deferred Sha-e
Awards 14 12 2018 - 14,340 4 68 - 461 100 - 139% -
Deferred Snare
Awards 14 122018 - “4,340 4 68 - 4,55 208 - 139% -
Deferred Share
Awards - 28 678 4 58 - 448 30¢ - 1 38% -

14 12 2018
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MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE
The Sharesave awards were valued using the Black-Scholes valuation method

The ESP and ABP will be cash settled for a fixed price of £6.85 in line with the Final Offer executed by CDL
The fair vaiues of these awards are therefore equal to the offer price.

24 PROVISIONS

BENING

LEGAL INDEMNITY TOTAL

£M EM £M

Balance at 1 January 2019 2 g 11

Recognised during the year 3 - 3

Released during the year (2) - (2)

Foreign exchange adjustments - - -

Balance at 31 December 2019 3 9 12
Analysed as

Non-current provision - 9 g

Current provision 3 - 3

Total provision 3 9 12

—

Provision for legal fees as at 31 December 2019 of £3m {2018 £2m} relates to disputes in several hotels The
Beijing indemnity of £9m (2018- £9m) relates to the tax indemnity 1o the former shareholders of Grand
Millennium Hotel Beijing in which the Group acguired an additional 40% interest in 2007.

25 OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

2019 2018
M 1Y)
Othar tabilities 17 15
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26 DEFERRED TAXATION
Movements in deferred tax liabiities and assets (pror 1o offsetting balances) during the year are as follows.

Charged/{crediied) to income statement

AT AT
1 JANUARY CHANGE IN CURRENT YEAR EXCHANGE ON 31 DECEMBER
2019 TAX RATE MOVEMENT TRANSLATION 2018
M £M £M £M £M

Deferred tax liabilities
Property assets’ 234 - (8) (4) 222
234 - (8) (4} 222

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses {58) - (1n (1} (70)
Others (4) - (1) - (5)
(62} - (12} (m (75)
Net deferred tax liabilities 172 - (20) (5) 147

1 Property assets comprise plant. property and equipment and invesiment properies
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there Is a legally enforceable nght to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the foliowing items because it is not probable that
future taxabie profit wil be available agatnst which the Group can utilise the benefits

2019 2018

£M £M

Tax losses 4 3
Adjustments due to.

- Deductible temporary differences in respect of prior year {1) -

— Tax losses in respect of prior year 21 18

24 21

The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current tax fegislation. The tax losses are subject to
agreement by the tax authorities and compliance with tax regulations in the respective countries in which certain
subsidianes operate
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The gross tax losses with expiry dates are as follows.

2019 2018
M M

Expiry dates:
— within 1 to 5 years 27 25
— after 5 years 14 8
- no expiry date 84 81

125 114

At 31 December 2019, a deferred tax liability of £8m (2018 E8m) relating to undistnbuted reserves of overseas
subsidiaries and joint ventures of £1,000m (2018, £1,000m) has not been recogrnised because the Group
determined that the distributions will not be made and the liability will not be incurred in the foreseeable future.

27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2019 2018
£M £a
Trade payables 32 32
Cther ereditors including taxation and social secunty”
— Socal security and other taxes 13 13
— Value added tax and similar sales taxes 11 12
— Other creditors 29 28
Accruals 104 111
Deferred income 5 4
Contract liabilities 24 20
Rental and other deposits 2 2
220 220

The Group's expasure to currency and liquidity risks related to trade and other payables are disclosed in Note
22.

28 DIVIDENDS

2013 2018 2019 2018

PENCE PENCE £M £M
Final ordinary dividend paid 215 442 7 14
Interim ordinary dividend paid - 208 - 7
Total dividends paid 218 6.50 7 21

All dividends paid dunng 2018 and 2018 were in cash
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Subsequent to 31 December 2019, the Directors declared the following final dividends which have not been
provided for,

2019 2018 2019 2018
PENCE PENCE £M M
Final ordinary dividend - 215 - 7

“The doard of Drectors of the Corrpany after ivtially approvng (n panciple the payment By the Company of a final divilend in the amount of six
pence per ard:Nary share in respect of the 2019 financial year subject ta Ihe resulls for the year being finalised and signed. subseguenty approved
the cancellaton of that dividend payment in order to conserve cash following the impact on the Company s business of the global health crisis
brought about by the novet cororavirus COVIZ-19 i early 2020

29 SHARE CAPITAL

NUMBER OF
3CP SHARES
ALLOTTED,
CALLED UP
AND FULLY
PAID

Balance at 1 January 2019 324,791,486
Issue of ordinary shares on exercise of share options 159,326

Balance at 31 December 2019 324,950,812

All of the share capital s equity share capital. Holders of these shares are entitted to dividends as declared from
time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. All rights attached to
the Company’s shares held by the Group are suspended until those shares are reissued.

At the year end, options over 55,248 and 30,819 ordinary shares reman outstanding under the ABP and ESP
respectively Holders of these aptions will receive a cash payment on the date of exercise, as such no shares
wili be awarded.

30 RESERVES

CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow
instruments related to the hedged transactions that have not yet occurred (net of tax).

TRANSLATION RESERVE

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences ansing from the translation of the financiail
statements of foreign operations, as well as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the Group's net
investment in foreign operations (net of tax)

TREASURY SHARE RESERVE
No shares were held by the employee benefit trust at 31 December 2019 (2018 2.483)

FAIR VALUE RESERVE
The fair value reserve includes the cumulative change in the fair value of equity investmants at FVOCI.

31 FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

2019 2018
EM £M

(a) Capital commitments at the end of the financial year which are contracted but not
provided for 53 94




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
The Group's share of the capital commitments of joint ventures and associates is shown in Note 15.
(b} Tota! commitments under nan-cancellable cperating lease rgntals are payable by the Group as follows {from

1 January 2018, the Group has recognised nght-of-use assets for these leases, except for short term and low-
value leases - refer 1o Note 37 for further detail)

2018 2018

™ £M

— less than one year 3 15
- between one and five years - 45
- maore than five years - 198

3 258

{c) Tha Group leases out certain of its properties under operating leases The future minimum lease rentals
receivable by the Group under non-cancellable leases are as follows’

2019 2018
£ £M

— less than one year 34 38
- between one and five years - 98
—ofe to two years 15 -
- two to three years 9 -
- three to four years 10 -
- four to five years 37 -
- more than five years 17 122
182 258

Future minimum lease rentals receivable under pon-canceliabie leases includes all future rentals recelvable up
tc the period when those leases expire or become cancellable

During the year ended 31 December 2019, £53m (2018 £51m) was recognised as rental income in the income
statement and £2m {2018 £3m)} in respect of repairs and maintenance was recognised as an expense in the
income statement relating to investment propeties.

32 CONTINGENCIES AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In the course of its operatons the Group is routinely exposed lo potential liabilites for claims made by
employees and contractual or tortious claims made by third parties No material losses are anticipated from
such exposures. There were ne contingent liabilities or guarantees other than those ansing in the ordinary
course of business and on these na matenal losses are anticipated. The Group has insurance cover up to
certain limits for major nsks on property and major claims in connection with legal liabilihes arising in the course
of its operations. Otherwise the Group generally carries its own nsk. The Group believes that the accruals and
provisions carried an the balance sheet are sufficignt to cover these risks.

Other than the above transactions, there are no events subsequent to the balance sheet date which require
adjustments to or disclosure within these consolidated financial statements except for those stated below’

« Millennium Cincinnati was disposed of affective 14 February 2020 with a gross sales price of US$36m
(£28m) The property was classified as asset held for sale in the statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019 Refer to Note 36 for further detarl.

» The COVID-18 pandemic, which started at the end of 2019 in Asia and then later spread to other
regions worldwide, has had a significant impact on the Group's revenue and profit due to quarantines,
social distanging measures and travel restnctions implemented in various jurisdictions More
nformation has been provided in the Business Review on page 8 and Strategic Repcrt on page 12
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33 RELATED PARTIES

IDENTITY OF RELATED PARTIES

Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes have been eliminated on consalidation and are not
disclosed in this note Details of transactions between the Group and other refated parties are disclosed below
All transactions with related parties were entered into in the normal course of business and at arm’s length.

The Group has a related party relationship with its joint ventures, associates and with its Directors and executive
officers

TRANSACTIONS WITH ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY AND OTHER RELATED COMPANIES

The Group has a reiated party relationship with certain subsidianes of Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte Ltd
{"Hong Leong") which is the ultimate holding and controliing company of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Limited
and holds 100.0% (2018: 65.2%) of the Company's shares via CDL, the intermediate holding company of the
Group During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had the following transactions with those
subsidianes

The Group deposited certain surplus cash with Hong Leong Finance Limited. a subsidiary of Hong Leong, on
normal commercial terms. As at 31 December 2019, £2m (2018 £2m) of cash was degosited with Hong Leong
Finance Limited

Fees pad/payable by the Group to CDL and its ether subsidiaries were £1m (2018 £3m) which included rentals
paid for the Grand Shanghai restaurant and King's Centre, property management fees for Tanglin Shopping
Centre; charges for car parking, leasing commission and prafessional services

TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

In addition to their salaries, the Group also provides non-cash benefits to Directors and executive officers and
contributes to a post-employment defined contribution plan depending on the date of commencement of
employment The defined contribution plan does not have a specified pension payable on retirement and
benefits are determined by the extent to which the individual's fund can buy an annuity in the market at
retirement.

The key management personnel compensation (s as follows:

2019 2018
£M £M

Short-term employee benefits 5 7
Directors 1 1
Executives 4 153
7
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34 RELATED UNDERTAKINGS
The full list of the Company’s related undertakings as at 31 December 2019 are set out below:

FULL MAME

Arcoa Equity 'nteresis inc

Arrcoa GP Corporation

Arcoa, LLC

All Seasons Hotels & Resorts
Limited

Anchorage-1 aketront Lemried
Partnership

Acchyield Limited

ATOS Halding GmbH

Aurora Inn Operating
Parnership L P

Avon Wynfeld Inn, Ltd.

Avon Wynfiela LLC

Beijing Fortune ot Co Ld

Biltmore Pace Operations
Corp

Birkenhead Haidings Pty Lt

Bikentead investments Pty
Ltd

Bostonian Hotel Limited
Partnership

Buffalo Operat.ng Partnership
Le

Buffato RHM Operating LLC

COL (New York) LLC

SHAREHOLDING
PERCENTAGE

100%

100%

100%

6%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

160%

70%

100%

78%

75%

100%

100%

100%

100%

TYPE

Indirect subsiduary

Indirect subsidary

Indirect subsidiary

indirect subsidiary

Indwect subsidiary

Indrect subsidiary

Direct subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsichary

indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidary

indirect subsidiary

Indirec! subsidiary

tndirect subsidiary

Indwect subsd.ary

indract subskhary

Indirect subsiary

Indirect subsidary

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

USA

usa

USA

New Zeatand

USA

Urnited Xungdom

Austna

LSA

usa

USA

People's Republic
of China

UsSa

Australia

Australia

usa

usa

USA

USA

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADORESS

PRINC/PAL
ACTIVITIES

7800 East Union Avenue,
Surte 500, Derwer, Colorado
BO237

-lolding Company

7900 East Unon Avenue.
Sutte 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

Hotel ownership

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorade,
B0237

Levei 13 280 Queen Street. Darmant
Auckland 1010,
New Zealand

7900 Easi Union Avenue.
Suite 500, Denvar. Colorado
80237

Corporate Headguarters.
Scarsdale Place
Kensington, Londcn W8 §SY

Schulnof 6/1stfl, 1010
Vienna,
Austna

Holding Company

Hotel owner

Hotel owner and
aperato”

Investment holding

7900 East Union Avenue
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80227

7900 East Union Avenue.
Suite 500, Denver. Colorado.
80237

7900 East Unicn Avernue.
Suite 500, Denver, Colcrado,

Hote ownership

Hotel ownership

Hotel owner

80237

Bulding No 6, 7 Hotel cwner and
DongSanHuan cperator

Middle Road. Chaoyang

Cistnct,

Bepng. P R China 100020

7900 East Union Avenude Liquor i cence
Sunte 500, Denver, Colorado,holder
80237

Surte 7B, Zennth Residencas Holding company
§2-94 Darlighurst Road

Potts Point,

Sydney 2011, Australia

Suite 7B, Zenith Residences Praperty investment
82-94 Daringhurst Road, &

Potts Point, Management
Sydney 2011, Australia
7900 East Unvan Avenue Hotel owner

Suute 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7304 East Unon Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado
80237

7900 East Union Avenue.
Sute 500, Denver, Colerado,
ap237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 900, Denver, Coloradio
80237

Hotel ownership

Hotel owner

Hotel awner
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FULL NAME

COL (NYL) Limited

CCL Entertanment & Leisure
Pte Lid

COL Hospitalty Trusts’

CDL Hote s (Cnelsea) Limited

CODL Hoteis {Korea) vt¢

CDL Hotels (Labuan) Lim ted

CDL Hotels {Malaysia) Sdn
Bhd

CDL Hotels {U K ) Limited
CDL Hotels Holdings Japan

L mited

CDL Hotels Holdings New
Zeaiand Limited

COL Hoteis Japan Pte. Lid

COL Hotels USA, Inc

COL Investmants New Zealand
Lirmited

COL Land New Zealand Limited

CDL West 45th Street LLC

Chicago +otel Holdings, Ine

Cincinnatt S 1 Co

City Century Pte Lid

City Elite Pte Ltd

City Hotets te Lid

SHAREHCLDING

PERCENTAGE

100%

100%

I7%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

40%

100%

50%

50%

100%

100%

100%

1060%

100%

100%

TYPE

Ind.rect subsidiary

Indirect subsigiarny

Assocrated
ungernakngs

Indirect subs.dary

Incirect subs diary

Indirect subssdiary

ndireci subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Ind:rect subsidiary

Associated

undertak.ngs

Indirect subsichiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsitiay

Indirect subsidiary

Indrrect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indweact subsidary

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

USA

Republic of
Singapore

Republic of
Singapore

Jrited Kingdom

Repubic of Korea

Malaysia

Malaysia

Un:ited Kingdam

Hong Kong

New Zealand

Repubiic of

Singapore

USA

New Zealand

New Zealand

USA

USA

USA

Republic of
Singapore

Republic of
Singapore

Republic of
Singapore

AEGISTERED QFFICE
ADDRESS

7900 East Unen Avenue,
Surte 500, Denver, Coorado,
80237

9 Raffies Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 0468619

See note beow’

Corporate -{eadquarters.
Scarsdale Place.
Kensingten London W8 55Y

Jung-gu Scwolro 50, Seou.
South Korea 04637

Tiara Labuan Jalan Tanjung
Batu,

B7000 F T Labuan,
Maiaysia

Level 8, Symphony House,
Pusat Dagangan Dana 1,
Jalan PJU 1A/46,

47301 Petaling Jaya.
Selangar Darul Ehsan

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place.
Kensington Lendon WB 55Y

2803 Great Eagle Centre,
23 Harpour Road, Warchan,
Hong Kong

Level 13, 280 Queen Street
Auckland 1010, New
Zealand

9 Raffles Place
#£#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Deaver, Colorado,
80237

Level 13, 280 Queen Street,
Auckland 1010, New
Zealand

Level 13, 260 Queen Street,
Auckland 1010, New
Zealand

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7900 East Urion Avenue,
Suite 500, Cenver, Colorado,
BO237

7500 East Urion Avenue
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

9 Raffles Place

#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

9 Ralffles Place

#12-01 Raepublic Plaza
Singapore 048619

9 Rafflas Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

PRINC PAL
ACTWITIES

investment holding

Prowiston of
management
services and
investment
holding

See note below'

Hotel owner and
operator

Hotel owner and
operatar

Hote! owner and
operator

Hotel owrer and
operator

Hotel owner and
operator

Investment holding

Investmant holding

Investment holding

Hotel mvestment
holding
company
investment and

property
management
company

Property investment
ard
development

Hotet owner

Hoted awnership

Previously hotel

owner

Restaurateur

Restaurateur

Haotel operator
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FULL NAME

Context Secuntes Limited

Copthorne (Narminees) Lmiied

Copthorne Aberdeen Limited

Copthorne totel (B.ymingham)
Lirmited

Copthorne Hotel (Cardff)
Limited

Coathorne Rotal (Effiaghanm
Park) L.mited

LCopthome Hotel (Gatwick)
Limited

Copthorne Hotel (Manchester)
Limited

Copthorne Hotel (Merry Hil)
Construgtion Limited

Coptnorne Hatel (Merry Hill)
Limited

Capthorne Hatel (Newcastie)
Lrmnited

Capthorne Hote (P-ymautn)
Limited

Copthorne Hote: (Slough)
Limited

Cootharne Hotel Holdings
1 wnited

Coothorne Hotels Limited

Copthorne Drohud Hotel
Singapore Pte Ltc.

Coptharne Orchid Penang Sdn.
Bhd

Oniplomat Hotel Holding Limited

Durham QOperating Partnership
L=

Elite Hoter Management
Services Pte Ltd

Fergurson Hotel Management
Limited

SHAREHOLDING

PERCENTAGE

6%

100%

B3%

100%

100%

100%

100%

1%

100%

100%

56%

100%

100%

100%

100%

‘00%

100%

100%

100%

100%

50%

TYPE

ndirect subsdiary

\ndirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsiciary

indirect subsigiary

indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indiract subisidiary

Irdirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Incirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Direct subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Ind rect sunswhary

Ing-rect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subswdiary

ndirect subsidiary

Assocrated
urdenakings

COWUNTRY QF
INCORPORATION

New Zealand

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdorm

Lnited Kingdom

tnited Kingdom

United Kingdaom

United Kingdom

United <ingdom

United Kingdom

Uried Kingdom

Unitea Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

Uniteg Kinggdom

Republe of

Singapore

Malaysia

United Kingdom
JSA

Repubhc of
Singapore

hang Karg

REGISTERED QFFICE
ADDRESS

teve! 13 280 Queen Street,
Auckland 1010, New
Zealand

Corporate Headguarters,
Scarsdale Place
Kensington, London W8 55Y

Corporate Headquaners
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington. Landon W8 §5Y

Corporate Heagquaners,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington. tondon W8 58Y

Corporate Headguarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kersington, London W8 55Y

Corparate Headquarters.
Scarsdale Place,
Kansington, Lendon W8 55Y

Corporate Headqguarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 5SY

Corparate Headquariers,
Scarsdale Flace,
Kensington, London W8 58Y

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place
Kensmgton, London W8 58Y

Corporate Headquariers,
Scarsdaie Place,
Kensington. Londor W8 53Y

Lorporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensigton. Landon W8 58Y

Corparate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kersington, London W& 58y

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Piace,
Kensirgton, London W8 SSY

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensingion. Lendon We 535Y

Corporale Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 55Y

8 Raffles Place
#12.01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Level B, Symphony House,
Pusal Daganganr Dana 1.
Jalan PJuU 1A746

47301 Petaling Jaya,
Selangor Carul Ehsan

Corporate Headquarters
Scarsdaie Place,
Kensingtan (ondon W8 538Y

7900 East UYnion Avenue,
Sute 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Urit 60&. 5th Flaor, Alkance
Bulding,

133 Connaught Road
Central, Hang Kong

PRINCIPAL
ACTWITIES

investrent taiding

Investment holding

Hotal manragement

Hote| gwner and

operator

Hotel owner and

operator

Hotel owner ard

operator

Hotel owner and

aperator

Hotel owner and

operator

Hotel awner and

operator

Hotel owner and

oparator

Hotel owner and

operator

Hatel owre+ and
operator

Hotel owner and

oparator

Irvestment holding

Hotel investment
holding

Property owner and
deveioper

Hotel owner

Investment hoiding

Haotel ownership

Hote! management
consultarcy
serv ces

lnvestment balding
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FULL NAME

First 2000 Limitad

First Sponsor Group Limitad

Five Star Assurance. Inc

Four Peaks Management
Company

Gateway -oichngs Corporatan |
Gateway -otel Holdings, 'nc

CGateway Regai Holdings LLG

Grand Plaza otel Carporati?n

Harbour Land Corporaten

Harbour View totel Pte Ltd

Harrow Entertainment Pte Ltd

Horg Leong Ginza TMK

Hang Leong Hatal

Deve.opment L mited

Hong Leong Hoteis Pta Ltd

Hong Leong International Hotel

(Singapore) Pte Ltd

Hospitality Group Limited

Hospitahty Holdings Pte Ltd

Hospitality Leases Limited

Hosprtakty Services Limited

Aospitality Ventures Pte Lid

SHAREHOLDING
PERCENTAGE

100%

36%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

66%

41%

100%

100%

70%

84%

100%

87%

76%

100%

T6%

76%

100%

TYPE

ind rect subsidiary

Associated
underakings

Irdwect sunsichary

Irdirect subsidiary

Irdirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsid.ary

Indirect subs«diary

Associated
undertakings

tndirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsichary

Ind'rect subsihary

Ind rect subsichary

Indirect suesidary

indirect subsidiary

indirect subsidiary

Ipdirect subsidiary

Indirect subs-dary

COUNTRY OF

INCORPCRATION ADDRESS

Hong Kong

Cayr~an islandgs

usa

JBA

JSA

USA

uSa

Prilippinas

Philippines

Republic of
Singapore

Republic of
Singapore

Japan

Tawan
Cayman Islands
Repubiic of
Singapore

New Zealand
Repubiic of
Singapore

New Zealand

New Zeaand

Repubhc of
Singapore

REGISTERED OfFICE PR:NCIPAL

ACTIVITIES

2803 Great Eage Centre.
23 Harbour Roag, Wanena),
Hong Kong

Irvestment nold ng

190 Elgin Avenue, George nvestmeni Holding
Town

KY1-9005 Grand Cay—an.

Cayman Islards

‘401 Eye St NW, Suite Captive \nsurance
600 company
Washington D C 20005

79400 East Jnon Avenue Anzona
Suite 500, Denver Colorado,condominium
80237 management

7900 East Jmon Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver Coloradg,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denves Colorado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,  Hotel owner and
Suite 500, Denver. Colorado operalor
80237

1Q Floor, Hantage Hotel

Holding company

Hotel ownership

Hotel owner and

Manila. operator
EDSA corner Roxas and investmer:!
Boulevard, helding

Pasay City, Philippines 1300 cornpany

10 Flaor, Hertage Hotel
Manila,

EDSA comer Roxas
Boulevard,

Pasay City, Phiippines 1300

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

9 Raffles Place
#1201 Repubhe Plaza
Singapore 0408613

Land owner

Hotel operator

Investment holding

4-4 Nihonbast 1-chome,
Chua-ku,
Tokyo. Japan

2 Song Shou Read, Xiny
District
Taiper 11551, Tawan

PO Bax 309 Ligand House, Investrrent holding
Grand Cayman KY1-1104 company
Cayman Islands

9 Raffles Place
#12-07 Republic Plaza
Singapore 0486° 3

Property owner

Hotel owner and
operator

Investment Folding

Level 13, 280 Queen Street, Holding company
Auckland 1010, New and property owner
Zealand

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048819

Investment holding
company

Lavel 13, 280 Queen Street, Lessee company
Auckland 1010, New
Zealand

Level 13, 280 Queen Stroet, Hotel operation/
Auckland 1010, New management
Zealand

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

inwastment holoing
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FULL NAME

Hotef Liverpoo Limited

Hotel Liverpoor Management Limilen

Hatelcorp New Zealand Pty
uid

KIN "Hodings Limitec
King's Tanglin Shopping Pte.
Lid

¥ingsgate Holdings Pty Ltd

Kingsgale Hote Pty. Ltd

<ingsgate Hotels and Resorts
Lirited

Kingsgate Hotels Lim-ted
Kingsgate International

Gorporaticn Limited

Kingsgate Invesiments Pty. Lid

Lakeside Operating Pannership
LP

Londor Bntanrva Heotel Lirmted
Londor Tara Hotel Limited
MAC Asia Finance {UK) L mied
M&C Asia Heldings (UK)
Limited

M & C (CB) Limited

M & C(CD) Limited

100%

100%

76%

76%

100%

76%

76%

76%

76%

76%

76%

100%

120%

120%

100%

109%

100%

100%

SHAREHOLOING
PERCENTAGE

TYPE

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsid ary

indwect subsichary

Indirect subsidiary

Indwect subsidiary

ndirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indrect subsidiary

Indirect subsiciary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsid.ary

Indrect subsicdiary

indirect subsidiary

Dtrect subsidiary

Dirmct subsidhary

indirect subsidiary

tndirect subsidiary

COUNTRY GF REGISTERED OFFICE PRINCIPAL
INCORPORATION ADDRESS ACTIVITIES

United Kingdom Corperate Headquarters, Property iething
Scarsdale Place,
Kensingtan, Londan W8
55Y

United Kingdom Corporate Headquarters.,  OQperaling company
Scarsdale Place.
Kensinglon, London W§
58Y

Austraha Suite 78, Zenith Resdences, Held ng comparny
82-94 Darlinghurst Road,
Potts Point,
Sydneay 2011, Auttraha

New Zealand Levef 13, 280 Queen Street, Holding company
Auckland 1010. New
Zealand

Repubuc of 9 Raffles Place Property owner
Singapare #12-01 Repubhc Plaza
Singapore 048619

Austraha Sute 7B, Zenith Residences, Hoiding campany
82-94 Daringnurst Road
Potts Pant,
Sydney 2011, Austraha

Australia Suite 7B Zenith Resdences Dormant
82-94 Garlinghurst Road,
Potis Pornt,
Sydney 2011, Austraha

New Zeafand Level 13 260 Queen Street. Franchise holder
Auckland 181G, New (Kingsgate)
Zealand

New Zeaanrg Level 13, 280 Queen Street, Dormant
Auckland 1010, New
Ze=aiand

New Zealand Levet 13, 280 Queen Street. Investment holding
Auckland 1010, New
Zmaland

Austratia Suite 7B. Zenith Residences. Investment
82-94 Daringhurst Road, company
Potts Point,
Sydney 2011 Austraia

USA 7900 East Union Avenue,  Hotel ownership
Sute 500, Denver, Colorado
80237

United Kingdom Corparate Headquarners. Hotel owner
Scarsdale Place,
«ansington, London WB 58Y

United Kingdarn Corparate Headguarers Hotel owner and
Scarsdale Place, operator
Kensington London W8 55Y

United Kingdom Corporate Heagquarters Fihance company
Scarsdale Place,
Kensingtan, London W8 55Y

United Kingdom Corporate Headquarters, Investment holding

Scarsdale Place.
Kensmngton. London W8 58Y

United Kmgdom Corporate Headguarters, Investment
Scarsdale Place, campany
Kensingtor Londan W8 58Y

United Kingdom Corporate Headquarters. tnvestment Folding

Scarsdale Place,
Kensington London W8 55Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FULL NAME

M & C Management Services
{USA) Inc.

M & C NZ _imited

M & C Reservatons Services
L rited

M&C Business Trust
Management Limited

M&C Colorada Hotel
Corparaticn

MAC Crescent Carporaton

MAC Crescent Interests, LLC

M&C Finance (1) Limited

M&C Holdings {Thaltand) Ltd

M&C Holdings Delaware
Partnership

M&C Holdings, LLC

MAC Hatel Enterprises (As:a)
Limited

MAC Hotal Interests nc

MEC Hotel Invesiments Pte
Lid

M&C Hotels France
Management SARL
MAC Hotels France SAS

M&C Hotels Holdings Japan
Pte Ltd

M&C Hotels Holdings Limited

MSC Hotels Holdings USA
Lirm-ted

MS.C Hotels Japan Ple Ltd

SHAREHOLDING

PERCENTAGE

100%

100%

100%

*00%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

TYPE

ndirect subsid ary

‘ndirect subsidary

Indirect subsdiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidary

Indirect subsichary

Indirect subsidiary

Indrect subsidiary

indirect subskhary

indirect subsidiary

Indwect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Inairect subsichary

indirect subskhary

Indirect subsxiary
indirect subsidiary

indrect subsiciary

Direct subskdiary

Cirect suDsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

COQUNTRY QF
INCORPORATION

JSA

Lmied Kingdom

United Kingdom

Republic of
Singapore

USA

USA

USA

Linited Kingdom

Thaitand

USA

USA

Hong Kong

USA

Republc of
Singapora

France
France

Republic of
Singapore

United Kingdom

Cayman islands

Republic of
Singapore

REGISTERED QOFFICE PRINCIPAL
ADDRESS ACTIVITIES
7900 East Union Avenue,  Management

Suite 500 Denver, Colorado, services
80237 company

Corporate Headguarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington. London W8 5SY

Corporate Headquarters, Provider of
Scarsdale Place, reservation
Kensington, London W8 58Y services to hotel

Holding company

owners

and operators
9 Raffles Place Provision of
#12-01 Republic Plaza property fund
Sinpapore 04361¢ management

senices

7500 East Union Averue.
Suite 500, Denver, Coloradn,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue
Suite 500, Cenver, Colorade,
80237

7900 East Umon Avenue
Suite 500, Derver, Colorado,
80237

Corporate Headguanters,
Scarsdale Placs,
Kensington, London W8 55Y

75 White Group Towe- I, nvestment nalding
11th Flgor, So1 Rubia, and

Sukhumvit 42 Road, Kwaenghotel management
Phrakanong Khet

Klangtoey, Bangkok 10110

Thaskang

7900 East Union Averue,
Surte 500, Danver. Colorado.,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500 Denver. Colerado.
80237

2803 Great Eagle Centre.
23 Harbour Road, Wanrchar,
+~ong Kong

74900 Eas1 Umon Avenue, Hotel management
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado, senvicas compary
80237

3 Rafftes Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Holding company

Investment holding

Property owner

Finance campany

Property investment

Halding company

Inyestment halding

Investmenlt holding

12 Boulevard Haussmann,
75009 Paris, France

12 Boulevard Haussmann,
75009 Pans, France

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048681%

Management
company

Hotel owne~

Investment holding

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place.
Kensington Landon W8 55Y

PG Box 3098 Ugland House, Invesiment holding
Grand Cayman
K¥1-1104 Cayman Islands

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Swngapore 048619

Investment holding

Irvestment nold:ing
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FJLL NAME

M&C Hotels Partnership France
SNC

M&C Hospitaity Holdings (Asia}
Limited

MM&C Hospiaity internabonal
Lsmited

M&C Management Hoidings
Limved

M&C REIT Management
Limited

M&C New York (Times
Square). LLC

M&C New York =ipance (UK)
Limited

M&C New York (Times Square)
EAT I LLC

M&C Singapore Finance (UK)
Lirned

MA&C S.ngapore Holdings (UK}
Lirmted

MA&C Sponsorship Limted

McCormick Ranch Qoerating
Fartnersh:p L.P

MHM Ine

Mllennium Bostorian, Inc

Millenmum & Copthome
(Austran Heidings) Limited

Millennium & Copihormne
(Jersey Holdings) Limited

Millennium & Capinome Hote|
Hoidings
{Hong Kong) Limned

Millennium & Copthome Hotels
(Hong Kong) Limited

Millenmium & Copthame NZ
Lwmted

Millenmum & Copthome Hotels
Management {Shanghan
Lirmited

SHAREHOLDING

PERCENTAGE
100%

100%

T0Q%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%,

100%

T6%

100%

TYPE

Indirect subsdiary

indwect subsdiary

‘ndirect subskdiary

Qirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Ingirect subsidiary

jndirect subsdiary

Indiract subsidiary

Direci subsidiary

Durect subsichary

Irdirect subsdiary

Indirect subsiary

Indirect subsdiary

indirect subsidiary

Diract subsidiary

Indirect subsitiary

Indirect subsichary

ind-rect subsidiary

Ind rect subsidiary

Indirect subs.diary

COUNTRY GF
INCORPORATION

Frarnce

Hang Xong

Hong Kong

United Kingdam

Republic of

Singapore

USA

Unitedt Kingdom

Usa

Urited Kingdom

Umited Kingdorm

United Kingdom

UsAa

UsA

usa

United Kingdam

Unped Kingdam

Hong Kong

Hong 4ong

New Zealand

Paople's Republic
of China

REGISTERED OFFICE
ABDRESS

12 Boulevard Haussmann
75009 Pars, France

2B03 Great Eagle Certre.
23 Harbour Road, Wanchar,
Hong Kang

2803 Great Eagle Centra.
23 Harbour Road, Wanchai
Hong Kong

Corporale Headquarters
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 5SY

9 Raffles Place
#12-Q1 Repubiic Plaza
Singapore 048615

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsgaie Place,
Kensington Landen W8 53Y

7900 East Unian Avenue,
Surte 500, Denver, Colorago,
80237

{Comarate Headquaners,
Scarsdale Place,
Kersington | ondon W8 55Y

Corporate Headquarters.
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 58Y

Corporate Headquarers,
Scarsdale Place
Kensington, London W8 §5Y

7900 East Linien Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado
80237

7900 East Lnon Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,

PRINCIPAL
ACTIVITIES

Investment holding

Investment nolding

investmant holdmng

investment holding

RE|T investment
management
services

Investment holding

F nance company

Hotei owner

Finance company

irvestment nold ng

Other servce

achwibes

Hotel ownership

Haotel management

Holdmg company

Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,

80237

Cormporate Headguarters,
Scarsdale Place,
¥ensington, Landon W8 55Y

Corporate Heagquarters,
Scarsdae Place,

Kensington, London W8 SSY

2803 Great Eagle Centre,
23 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Koeng

2803 Great Eagle Centre,
23 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong

Level 13, 280 Queen Straet,
Auckiand 1010. New
Zealard

#1205, Ne 511 Wes Hol
Rpad. Shanghai 200041,
PR China

Investment halding

Holding company

investment and
development of
hatels and hotel
managemeant

Provision of hotel
management and
consultancy
sSaIVICeS

Name-halding

Hotel management
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FULL NAME

Millennum & Copihome Hote's
New Zea'and Limnited

Millenrium & Copthome Hote 5
Pty Ltd

Mitlennium & Copthome
Intermaticnal Lsm.ted

Millennium & Copthome
Pension Trustee Limited

Milennium & Copthome Share
Trustees L:mited

Millennium CDG Pans SAS

Millenmum Hotel Ho.dings
EMEA Limted

Milienmum Hotels & Resorts
Services Limted

Millenniurt Hotels Surope
Holdings Limitea

Milennium Hotels Italy Holdings
Srl

Mitlenrium Hotels Limited

Millennium Hoteis Palace
Management S 11

Millenmium Hotels Property
Srl

Millennium Hotels {West
London} Limitea

Millenmum Hotels {\West
London}
Managerent Limed

Milennium Hotels Londer
Limited
Millenmum Cpera Pans SAS

New Lrity Holdings Ltd

New York Sign L.C

Newbury Investments Pte Lig

Park Plaza 'iotel Corporaton

SHAREHO _DING

PERCENTAGE

76%

T6%

100%

100%

100%

100%

130%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

S0%

50%

100%

100%

TYPE

Indirect subsd@rny

Ingirect subsidiary

Indirect subs:qiary

Direct subsidhary

Dhrect subskia“y

Indirect subsichary

Cirgct subsidiary

Irdirect subsidary

Direct subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsiaiary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

indirect subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Direct subsidiary

Indirect subsidiary

Associated
undertakings

Associated
undertakings

Indrrect subsidiary

Ind-rect subsidiary

COUNTRY QOF
INCORPORATION

New Zealand

Australa

Republic of
Singapore

United Kingdam

United Kingdom

France

Unned K ngdom

Lnrted K-ngdom

Lnited Kingdom

itaty

United Kingdom

ltaly
Italy

Urited Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdem

France
Bvi

USA

Republic of
Singapore

usa

REGISTERED CFFICE
ADDRESS

PR!NCIPAL
ACTIVITIES

Level 13, 280 Queen Street, Hote! irvesiment
Auckland 1630 New hoiding
Zealand company

Suite 78 Zenith Res:dencas Name hoiding
82-94 Daringhurst Road.

Potts Pairt,

Sydney 2014, Austraia

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 04861%

Corporate Headquarters Pension trust act ng
Scarsdale Place on behaf of
Kensington, {ondon W& 55Y company

trustees

Hotels and resorts
managerent

Share trustee
company

Corporate Headguarters,
Scarsdale Piace
Kensington, Landon W8 58Y

2 Allée du Verger, 85700
Roissy, France

Hote. operalor

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place
Kensington, London W8 53Y

Corporala Headquarters, Management
Scarsdale Place. contract
Kensington, London VW8 55 halding company

Investment hotaing

Corporate Headguarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 55Y

Via Vittono Veneto n 70,
Roma 00187, italy

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London W8 55Y

Via Vittonio Veneto, n 70,
Raoma 00187 italy

Via Vittoria Veneto, n 70,
Roma 00187, ltaly

Investment halding

Holding campany

Investment halding

Hoted operator
Property owner

Corporate Headquarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London w8 557

Corporate Headquaners,
Scarsdale Place.
Kensington, London W8 55Y

Property letting

Hotel operator

Corporate Headguarters,
Scarsdale Place,
Kensington London W8 5SY

investment holding

12 Boulevard Haussmann,
75009 Paris. France

PC Box 146 Road Town,
Tortola, Brntiah Virgin Islands

Hotel operator
Investment holding

7900 East Union Avenue,  To laase, manage,

Suite 500, Denver Colorado,and gthewise deal

80227 with certain
advertising signage
space at the Novoted
hotal

9 Rafflas Place Invesiment holding
#12-01 Republic Plaza

Singapore 048619

7900 East Un:on Avenue,
Surte 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

Holding company
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SHAREHOLDING

FU.L NAME PERCENTAGE
Prestans Road Limited 17%
PT Millennium Hotels & Resonts 100%
BT Mllennum S:nh Jakara 130%
Hotel

QINZ [Anzac Avenue} Lumited 76%
QINZ Holdings (New Zealand) 76%
Limnred

Quartum Limited 76%
Regal Grand Holdings 100%
Corporation |

Regai Harvest ifouse LP 160%
Fegal Hotel Management inc 100%
Republic Hotels & Resorts 100%
Limitad

Republic lconic Hotel Pte Ltd. 100%
RHH Operating LLC 100%
RHi Boston Holdings. 1C0%
Caorporation |

RHl Boston Hoidings 100%
Carporation i

RHM Aurora LLC 100%
RMM Holdings Corporaton | 130%
RHM Management LLC 100%
RHM Ranch | L C 100%
RYM wynfigld LLC 100%
RHM-88 LtC 100%
R¢hfield Holdings Corporation 100%

TYPE

Indirect Associate

Irdirect subsdiary

Indirect subsichary

Indirect subsichary

Indirect subsidiary

Ind rect subsidiary

Irdirget subsidary

mdivect subskliary

Indirect subsidiary

Indirect subs.chary

Indrect subsidiary

ndirect subsidiary

Indwect subsidiary

Indirect subsid:ary

Indirect subsxliary

indirect sutisidiary

Inairect subsiciary

Indirect subsidiary

indirect subsidary

indirect subsidiary

indirect subsidiary

COUNTRY OF
INCORPQRATION

New Zealand

tndones:a

Indonesia

New Zealand

New Zealand

New Zealand

usa

USA

USA

Republic of

Singapore

Republic of

Singapore

USA

usA

UsSA

USA

uUsA

USA

USA

USA

USA

USA

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADDRESS

PRINCIPAL
ACTIVITIES
167 Main North Road,
Chnstchureh 8140, Naw
Zealand

Service proveler

Jalan Fachrudin 3, Jaxarta
10250,
Indonesia

Jalan Fachrudin 3. Jakana
10250,
Indonesia

Leve] 13, 280 Queen Street. Hotel owner
Auckiand 1010, New
Zealand

Managemaent
services

Hotel owner

Level 13, 280 Queen Street. Holding company
Auckiand 1010, New
Zealand

Level 13 280 Queen Street, Halding company
Auckiand 1010, New
Zealand

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7960 East Unian Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado.
80237

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

9 Raffles Place
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 48619

7950 East Unian Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorade
BUZ3r

7300 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorade
80237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colarado,
0237

7900 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver. Colorado,
80237

7500 East Union Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7300 East Umon Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver. Colorado,
80237

7900 East Union Avenue.
Suite 508, Denver, Colorado,
80237

7900 East Unwn Avenua
Suite 500, Denver Colorado,
80237

7960 East Union Averue,  Hotel owner and
Suite 500, Cenver Coorado, operator
80237

7900 East Unior Avenue,
Suite 500, Denver Colorado,
80237

Holding company

Hatel owrershig

Holding company

Hotel aperator and
nyestment holding
company

Hotel aperatar

Hote! awner

Holding company

Holding campany

Hotel cwrership

~oiding comparry

hotel ownership

Hotel owner

Hotal ownarship

Holding tompany
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

SHAREHOLDING COUNTRY OF REGISTERED OFFICE PRINCIPAL
FULL NAME PERCENTAGE TYPE INCORPQRATION ADDRESS ACT VITIES

Richfield Holdings Corporation  100% [ndirect subsidiary usa 7900 East Umon Avenue, Hoiging compary
1] Surte 500 Denver Colorado
80237

Richfield Haoldings. Inc 100% indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Union Avenue, Holding compary
Surte 500, Denver Colorado
80237

Roga Investments Pte Ltd 100% Indirect subsidiary Republic of 9 Raffles Place Investment halding
Singapcre #12-07 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048615

Roga Realty Corporation 25% Associated Phippines 10 Floor, Hentage Hotet Real estate owrer
undertakings Manda,
EDSA comer Roxas
Baoulevard,
Pasay City, Ph.dippines 1300

S § Restaurant Corporation  100% Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Umion Avenue,  Liquor icense
Suite S00 Derver, Colorado, hoider
BO237

St Lows Operating, Inc 100% Indwect supsichary USA 790C East Union Avenue, Dormant
Sute 500 Denver, Colorado.
80237

Sunnyvale Partners, Ltd 100% Indwect supsidiary USA 7900 East Unon Avenue, Hotel ownership
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado,
80237

Tara Hotels Devtschland GmbH100% Indirect supsidiary Germany Registered at the Trade Hetel investment
register at holding
the local court of Hannover company
wilh the
legal form of Prvate limited
company {number HRB
209133)

The Philppine Fund Limited B0% indirect subsidiary Bermuda C/o Cosan Comporate Invesgtrent holding
Services
Limited, Cumberiand House
9th Floor, 1 Victona Street
Hamiton HM 11, Bermuda

TOSCAP Limited 100% Indirect subsidiary Repubiic of 9 Raffles Place investment holding
Singapore #12-01 Rmpubhc Plaza
Singapore 048619

Tnmark Hotel Corporation 100% Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Umon Avenue, Hotel owner and
Suite 500, Denver, Colorada operator
80237

WHE Biitmore LLC 100% Indrect subsidiary UsSA 7900 East Unon Avenue, Hotel owner ang
Suite 500, Denver, Colorade sperator
80237

WHB Corporation 100% Indirect subsidiary USA 79Q¢C East Union Avenue, Holding company
Suite 500, Denver, Colorado
80237

Wynfeld SP Corporation 100% Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Union Avenue Hotel ownership
Suite 508, Denver, Colorado,
80237

Wynfeld One, _td 100% indirect subsiiary USA 7900 East Union Avenue Halding campany
Suite 500 Denver Colorado
BD237

Zatno Pte Lid 100% Indirect subsidiary Republc of S Raffles Place Investment holding
Singapore #12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore D48619%

Zillicn Holdings Limited 100% Indirect subsidiiary Barbados The Phoenix Centre, George investmer? holding
Street,
Bellewille, 5t Michael,
Barbadoes

1 CDL Hospitality Trusts 15 a stapled group compnsing COL Hospitalily Real Estate investment Trust ("H-REIT). @ redl estate investment trust, and CDL
Hospitaity Business Trust ("HBT"). a business trust. H-REIT has an investment sirategy of investing, directly of indirectly, in a diversd.ed portiolie of income-
producing real estate which 1s primanly used for hospitality and/or hospadanty-related purposes, whether whelly or partially, and real-estate related assets in
relaton to the foregoing HBT s a business trust which was aclivated in Decembar 2013 In addition to is function as a master lassea, HEBT may alsc undertake
certan hospilality and haspitality related development progects. acquisitons end mvestments which may not be suilable for H-REIT The registered office
address of M&C REIT Management Limiled, Manager of H-REIT and MAT Business Trust Management Lirnted. Trustee-Manager of HBT s 9 Raffles Place
#4201 Republic Plaza Singapore 048619 As disclosed it Note 3 10 the consolidated financial statements, the Group has concluded that under IFRS10. it has
de facta conbros over CDL Hospitahty Trusts

2 The Group has assessed the classificalion of ds investiments in First Sponsor Group Limited and New Uity Holdings Limited 10 accordance wath IFRS10
and concluded that it does nol have control
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

EXEMPTION FROM STATUTORY AUDIT

Certain subsidianes of the Group can take an exempton from having an audit completed Strict critenia must be
met for this exemption to apply, and it must be agreed to by the Directors of each subsidiary entity

Listed below are subsidiaries controlled and consolidated by the Group, where the Directors have elected to
take the exemption from having an audit of their financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
This exemption is taken in accordance with Companies Act s479A.

Archyield Limited (174707G)

CDL Hotels (Chelsea) Limited {2845022)

CDL Hotels (U K ) Limited (2729520)

Copthorne Hotel (Binningham) Limited {1816493)
Coptharne Hotel (Cardiff) Limited (2411296)
Copthorne Hotel (Effingham Park) Limited
(1423861}

Coptharne Hotel (Gatwick) Limited {994068)
Copthorne Hotel (Manchester) Limited {1855800)
Copthorne Hotel {(Merry Hill} Construction Limited
(2649367)

Copthome Hotel (Merry Hill} Limited (2560620}
Copthorne Hotel (Plymouth) Limited (3253120)
Copthorng Hote! (Slough) Limited (2300992}
Copthorne (Nominees) Limited (2574042)
Diplomat Hotel Holding Limited (1927463)

Hatel Liverpool Limited (9636541}

Hote! Liverpool Management Limited (9638688)
Londen Tara Hotel Limited (1005559)

M&C Asia Finance (UK) Limited (8391037)

M&C Asia Holdings (UK) Limited (8382946)

M&C (CB) Limited (3846711)

MEC (CO) Limited (38467Q4)

M&C Finance (1) Limited (6783896)

M&C Hotels Holdings Limited {4407581)

M&C Management Holdings Limited (5832248)

M&C New York Finance (UK} Limited {9060415)

MA&C NZ Limited {$159722)

MA&C Singapore Finance (UK) Limited (8391052)

M&C Singapore Holdings (UK) Limited {B382985)
Millennium & Copthorne (Austrian Holdings) Limited
(3757378)

Millennium & Coptharne (Jersey Holdings) Limited
(5846574)

Millennium & Copthorne Pension Trustee Limited (6662791)
Millenruum & Copthorne Share Frustees Limited (3320990)
Millenniurn Hotel Holdings EMEA Limited (4582877)
Millennium Hotels Limited {3141043)

Millennium Hotels Europe Holdings Limited {8844747)
Millennium Hotels London Limited (3691885)

Millennium Hotels (West London) Limited (8599282)
Millennium Hotets (West London) Management Limited
{88931908)

Milenmum Hotels & Resorts Services Limited (4601112}

Each company’s registered number is shown in brackets after its name




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

35. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (“NCI”)
The following subsidianes have matenal NCI.

OWNERSHI® INTERESTS

HELD BY NCI
PR NCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS/ COUNTRY OF
NAME iINCORPORATION PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 2019 2018
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Hotel investment holding
New Zealand Limited ("MCHNZ") New Zealand company 24% 24%
Real estate investment
CDL Hospitality Trusts (“CDLHT") Singapore trust 62% 63%

The following 1s summansed financial information for MCHNZ and CDLHT, prepared in accordance with local
accounting standards. The information s before inter-company eliminations with other companies in the Group.

MCHNZ SUBGROUP CDLHT SUBGROUP

2019 2018 2019 20°8
NAME £M £M £M M
Revenue 119 114 113 112
Profit after tax 32 32 65 81
Profit attributable to NC| 7 8 41 39
Other comprehensive income 19 B 2 -
Total comprehensive income 51 38 87 81
Total comprehensive income attributable to NC| 6 6 42 38
Current assets 123 107 308 100
Non-current assets 393 369 1,435 1602
Current liabilites {18) (18) (75) (174)
Non-current liabilities {85) {74) {607) (462)
Net assets 413 384 1,058 1,066
Net assets attributable to NCI 136 44 658 672
Cash inflow from operatng activities 33 15 69 568
Cash outflow from investing activities (11) 17 {26) (2)
Cash outflow from financing activities (8) (8) {44) (40)
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14 (10) (1) 26
Dwidends paid to NCI during the year’ (2) 2 40 41

1 Included in cash flows from financing activities

36. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Effective 1 July 2019, a subsidiary of the Company entered into a purchase and sale agreement to sell Miliennium
Cincinnati. Accordingly, the property with a total carrying value of US$15m (£12m)} was classified as asset held
for sale in the staternent of financial position as at 31 December 2019. The sale was completed on 14 February
2020 with a gross sales price of US$36m (£28m) and resulting profit on sale of US$18m (£14m) after taking
expected selling costs into account of US$3m (E2m) The asset s heid under the segment “Regional US” as
disclosed in Note 5.

Cn 21 November 2019, the H-REIT Group announced its proposed disposal of Novotel Singapore Clarke Quay
Accordingly, the property with a total carrying value of $$160m (£91m) was classified as asset held for sale in the
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019. The disposal is expected to be completed in 2020 The
asset is held under the segment "Singapare” as disclosed in Note 5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

37. ADOPTION OF IFRS 16 'LEASES’

The Group adopted IFRS 16 with an irvtial applicabon date of 1 January 2019. The Group applied the modified
retrospective approach and comparative information has not been presented.

The Group as a legsee

The Group’s leases consist pimarily of land & buildings and ptant & machinery Information about leases for
which the Group 1s a lessee is presented below

Amounts recognised in the income statement
Depreciation

— Land and buiidings

— Piant and machinery

— Fixtures, fittings and equipment and vehicles
Interest on lease liabilities

Total

NOTES

Right-of-use assets

Initial recagnition on 1 January 2019
Additions

Transfer to asset held for sale
Deprectation

Foreign exchange adjustments

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 12. 14

Lease liabilities
Current
Nen-current
Total

LAND AND
BUILDINGS
£m

203

(2)
(7}

CH

199

NQOTES
6.12
9
FIXTURES.
FITTINGS AND
PLANT AND EQUIPMENTAND INVESTMENT
MACHINERY VEHICLES PROPERTIES
EM £M EM
3 1 7
{1) - -
2 1 7

The total cash outfiow for leases during the current year was £9m

2019
£M

TOTAL
£M

214

(2)
®
(3)
209

2019
£M

108
13
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The lease habiliies were determined by discounting the relevant lease payments at the Group's incremental
borrowing rate of between 0.9% and 14.6% in Asia, 1 9% to 3.5% in Europe and 3 0% to 5 2% in the US

The reconcihation between operating lease commitments previously reported in the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2018 discounted at the Group’'s incremental borrowing rate and the lease liabilities
recognised in the balance sheet on initial applicatian of IFRS 16 is shown below.

£M
Operaling lease commitment at 31 December 2018 as disclosed in the Group's financial statement 258
Discounted at the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 (20)
Recognition exemption for.
— short-lenm leases {2}
~ leases of low-value assets {1)
Extension and termination options reasonably certamn 1o be exercised 10
Variable lease payments based on an index or a rate 15
Contracls reassessed as service agreements (105)
Contracts reassessed a5 lease agreements 17
Lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2018 112
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2019

2019 2018
NOTES ™ M

Non-current agsets
Property, plant and equipment (E) 1 2
fnvestments and other financial assets (F) 2,049 1,988
Deferred tax asset 2 2

2,052 1.992

Current assets

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings falling due within one year 4 41
Cther receivables 22 15
Cash and cash equivaients 35 16
MM 72
Other current liabilities (G) (180) (159)
Net current liabilities (49) (B7)
Other hon-current hiabilities (H) {599) {505)
Net agseats 1,404 1,400
Equity
Called up share capital ) 97 97
Share premium 843 843
Retained eamings 468 464
Treasury share reserve {4) (4)
Total equity 1,404 1,400

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 June 2020 and wera sighed on its
behalf by:

W

Kwek Long Beng
Chairman

Registered No: 3004377
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'MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES {N EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2019

TREASURY
SHARE SHARE SHARE  RETAINED TOTA.
CAPITAL  PREMIUM  RESERVE EARNINGS EQUITY
£M EM EM M Em
Balance at 1 January 2018 a7 843 (4) 483 1,399
Profit _ _ _ 17 17
Other comprehensive iIncome - - - 5 5
Total comprehensive income - - - 22 22
Dividends - - - 21) {21
Balance at 31 December 2018 a7 843 (4) 4584 1,400
Balance at 1 January 2019 97 843 (4) 464 1,400
Profit - - - 11 11
Other comprehensive iIncome - - - - -
Total comprehensive income - — — 11 11
Dividends - - - {(7) {7}
Balance at 31 December 2019 97 843 (4) 468 1,404

The notes on pages 111 to 113 are an integral part of these Company’s financial statements.
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED |

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH FRS
101

The parent company financial statements of Millennium and Copthorne Hotels Limited ("the Company”) for the
year ended 31 December 2019 were authensed for issue by the board of Directors and signed on its behalf on
22 June 2020. The Company is incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework (FRS 101). The financial statements are prepared under the tistorical ¢ost convention.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Compares Act 2006, the income statement of the Company 1s not
presented as part cf the financial statements.

The Company's results are included in the consolidated financial statements of Millennium and Copthorne
Haote!s Limited which are available from the Group's website www.millenniumhotels com

The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019. The financial statlements are prepared in Sterling and are rounded to the
nearest million except when ctherwise indicataed.

B ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The parent company financial statements of Millennium and Copthorne Hotels Limited have been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and Financial Reperting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework ("FRS 101™), which was first applied 1n 2015 after notifying shareholders of the proposed change.
FRS 101 enables the fnancial statements of the parent company to be prepared in accardance with EU-
adopted IFRS but with certain disclosure exemptions The main areas of reduced disclosure are in respect of
equity settled share-based payments, finangial instruments, the cash flow statement, and related party
transactions with Group companies

The Comipany early adopted FRS 101 amendments before the effective date of 1 January 2016 regarding the
presentation of financial statements in compliance with the 1A5 1 format.

The accounting policies adopted for the parent company are atherwise consistent with those used for the Group
which are set out on pages 39 to 48

c DIVIDENDS
Details of dividends paid and proposed in the current and pnior year are given in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

D PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TQ MEMBERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY
The profit dealt with in the financial statements of the Company is £11m (2018 £17m)
E PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
CAPITAL
WORK
IN
SOFTWARE PROGRESS TOTAL
Em £M £M
Cost at 1 January 2019 2 - 2
Depreciation (1 - (W]

Cost at 3t Decembar 2019 1 - 4
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

F INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
SHARES IN LOANS TO

SUBSIDIARY SUBSIDIARY GROUP SETTLED
UNDERTAKINGS UNDERTAKINGS ARRANGEMENTS
£EM £M £M
Cost and net book value at 1 January 2018 1,802 79 7
Additions - 72 -
Foreign exchange adjustments (8) 3) -
Cost and net book value at 31 December 2019 1,894 148 7

TOTAL
£M

1,988
72

(11
2,043

There were no provisions made against investments in subsidiary undertakings Reductions and additions relate

to internal restructuring transactions

The Company's subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2019 are listed in Note 34 to the conscolidated financial

statements
G QOTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

2019 2018

Em £M

Bank foans and overdrafts 132 47
Bonds payable - 79
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 38 28
Other payables 9 4
Accruals and deferred income 1

180 159
H OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

2019 2018

£M £M

Bank loans 177 83
Bonds payabie T7 79
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 335 335
Net empioyee defined benefit liabilites 10 8

599 505
Cther non-current habiliies are repayable as follows -

2018 2018

T EM EM
Between one and two years 129 66
Between two and five years 470 439

598 505

12



MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

NOTES TC THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1 SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company's share capital are given in Nole 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

J RELATED PARTIES

For the year ended 31 December 2019, fees paid/payable by the Company to Hong Leong Management
Services, a subsidiary of Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte Ltd. amounted to £1m {2018 £1m). At 31
December 2019, £nil (2018 £nil) of fees payable was outstanding
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

GROUP FINANCIAL RECORD
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2049 2018 2017 2016 2015
£M EM M M £EM

income statement
Revenue 1,025 997 1.008 926 847
Operating profit 98 105 145 107 112
Net finance expense (32) (28) {20) (25} (20)
Income tax (expense)/credit (8) (13) 12 (10) (12)
Profit for the year 94 93 159 g8 a7
Cash flow
Cash generated from operations 222 177 230 220 220
Statement of financial position
Property, plant, equipment and lease premum
prepayment 3,194 3,256 3,232 3345 2,858
Investment properties 680 668 577 534 506
tnvestment and loans (n joint ventures and associates 414 358 324 320 255
QOther financial assets 40 43 - — _
Non-current assets 4,128 4325 4,133 4,169 3619
Current assets excluding cash 316 224 228 165 163
Net debt (759) (727) (650 (707) {605)
Deferred tax liabilities (147) (172) (188) (220) (210)
Provisions and other liabilites {390) {287) (274) (297) (255)
Net assets 3,348 3,363 3,249 3.170 2,712
Share capital and share premium 940 940 940 940 940
Reserves 1,842 1,830 1,736 1,728 1,336
Total equity attributable to equity holders 2,782 2,770 2676 2,668 2,276
Non-controlling interests 566 583 873 502 436
Total equity 3,348 3,363 3,249 3170 2,712
Key operating statistics
Gearnng 27% 26% 24% 26% 27%
Earnings per share - 13.1p 38.1p 24 0p 19.9p
Dividends per share’ - 4.23p 6.50p 7.74p 6.42p
Hotel gross operating profit margin 28.5% 30.5% 32 2% 316% 34 1%
Cccupancy 73.3% 73 3% 73.5% 71.8% 71.8%
Average room rate (£) £114.52 £111 31 £112 68 £106.78 E100.19
RevPAR (£) £83.94 £81.57 £82.78 £76 71 £7198

1 Drexdend s per share includes ordinary dividends and special dividends
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7 MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

KEY OPERATING STATISTICS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

YEAR ENDED YEARENDEC YEAR ENDED

2019 2018 2018
REPORTED CONSTANT  REPORTED
OWNED OR LEASED HOTELS” CURRENCY CURRENCY  CURRENCY
Occupancy (%)
New York 86.6 8613
Regicnal US 58.0 5786
Total US &7.5 67 1
L.ondon 79.1 B8O 1
Rest of Europe £9.6 712
Total Europe 74.2 756
Singapore B6 B 859
Rest of Asia 68.5 68 1
Total Asia 75.6 750
Australasia 82.4 825
Total Group 73.3 733
Average Room Rate (F)
New York 197.45 200 43 191.78
Regional US 106.79 108.18 103 51
Total US 145.26 147 32 140.96
London 137.87 127.22 127 22
Rest of Europe 75.44 78.68 78.94
Total Eurcpe 107.76 104 10 1C04.22
Singapore 101.47 100.37 97 26
Rest of Asia 87.81 96 70 95.74
Totai Asia 99.43 98.38 96 42
Australasia 88.74 88 .39 8861

Total Group 114.52 113 88 111.31
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

KEY OPERATING STATISTICS (continued)

YEAR ENDED  YEAR ENDED  YEAR ENDED
2019 2018 2018
REPORTED CONSTANT REPORTED
OWNED OR LEASED HOTELS” CURRENCY CURRENCY CURRENCY
RevPAR (£)
New York 171.09 172 96 165 49
Regional US 61.99 62 30 59 81
Total US 98.05 98 78 94 52
London 108.99 101 89 101 89
Rest of Europe §2.49 56 00 56 18
Total Europe 79.94 78.67 7876
Singapore 88.04 86 23 83.56
Rest of Asia 67.04 6588 65.17
Total Asia 7517 7376 7229
Australasia 73.12 72.96 7313
Total Group 83.94 83.45 8157
Gross Operating Profit Margin (%)
New York 10.9 156
Regional US 18.5 193
Total US 14.5 17 4
Londen 39.0 410
Rest of Europe 16.6 218
Total Europe 30.6 332
Singapore 39.2 393
Rest of Asia 336 345
Total Asia 36.0 36.5
Australasia 47.7 480
Total Group 285 305

For camparability, the 31 December 2018 Average Room Rate and RevPAR have been translated at average

exchange rates for the period ended 31 December 2019

“excludirg managey, franchised and invesiment hotels

116



MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Asia

HOTELS

Grand Millennium Baijing
Fortune Plaza, 7 Dongsanhuan Middle Road
Chaoyang District, Beijing 100020 PRC

Naw World Millennium Hong Kong Hotel
{Owned by New Unity Holdings [Limied)

72 Mody Road, Tsimshatsu East
Kowlacn, Hang Kong

JW Marriott Hotel Hong Kong

(Owned by New Unity Hodings Limited)
Pacific Place, 88 Queensway,

Hong Kong

Millenniym Hatel Sirih Jakarta
Jalan Fachrudin 3
Jakarta 10250. Indonesa

Hotel MyStays Asakusabashi
1-5-5, Asakusabash , Tato-ky,
Tokyo 111-0053, Japan

Hotel MyStays Kamata
5-46-5 Kamata, Ota-ku,
Tokyo 144.0052, Japan

Copthome Orchid Hotel Panang

Jaian Tanyung Bungan, 71200 Penang Malaysia

Grand Millennium Kuala Lumpur
160 Jalan Bukit Bintang,
55100 Kuala L.umpur. Malaysia

Angsana Velavaru
South Niandhe Atoll,
Republic of Maldives

Raffes Maldives Meradhoo (previous:y
Dhevanafush Maldives Luxury Resort)
Meradhoa isiand,

Gaafu Alifu Atoll,

Republic of Maldwves

The Heritage Hotel Manila

Roxas Boulevard at correr of EDSA Pasay City.

Metropolitan Manila, Philppines

Copthoms King's Hotel Singapers
403 Havelock Road, Singapore

Grand Caopthorme Waterfront Hotel Singapore

392 Havelock Road, Singapore

M Hotel Singapore
81 Arson Road, S.ngapore

Novote! Singapore Clarke Quay
177A River Valley Road. Singapore

Orchard Hotel Singapore
442 Orchard Road, S:ngapore

Studio M Hote!
3 Nanson Road Singapore

TENURE

Leasehold to year 2046 (hotel),
leasengld to year 2056
(underground car park)

75-year term from 28 11 1984 and may be
renewable for a further 75 years

75-year term from 18 04 1985 and may be
renewable for a further 75 years

The titie 18 held under a Hak Guna Bangunan
{1 e Rightto 8uild} and a 40-year lease

wef 14 04 1984 and 22 01.1988 for
approximate site area of 7,137 sq metres and
212 sq metres, respeclively

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

50-year itte commencing from 26 08.1997

SO-year lease commencing frem 15 06 2006

Fee simple

99-year lease commencing from 01 32 1968
75-year lease commenging from 19 07 2006
Freehold

97 years and 30 days leasehold interest
commencing from 02 04 1980

Freehoid

99-year lease commencing fram
26 02 2007

APPROXIMATE
SITE AREA
{8C METRES)

9,268

2850

10 690
(Part)

7.349

564

497

10,329

7870

G6/.717

53576

S.888

5637

1G.86C

2.134

12 928

g 588"

2932

NUMBER
OF ROOMS

516

464

608

401

139

16

307

459

113

a7

450

310

574

4t5

403

656

360

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
NTEREST
(%)

70

Elal

26

38

38

100

100

38

38

66

3B

38

28

38

18

38
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MAJOR GRQUP PROPERTIES {continued)

HCOTELS

Mitlgnnium Hilten Seoul
50 Sowoi-ro. Jung-gu,
Seoul. South Korea 100-802

Land Site in Seoul

Ll ocated at Churg-gu Mamdaeumro 5 Ga 652-1

Grand Hyatt Taipei
2. SongShou Road
Taipe:, Tawar 11051

* Inclugdes Claymare Connect

Europe

HOTELS

Copthorne Hotel Aberdeen
122 Huntly Street
Aberdeen AB10 15U Scotlamnd

Copthorne Hotel Birmingham
Paradise Circus
Birmingham B3 3HJ, England

Copthormne Hotel Cardiff-Caerdydd
Copthorne Way, Culverhouse Cruss.,
Cardiff CF5 60H. Wales

Caopthorne Hotel Effingham Gatwick
West Park Road. Capthome,
West Sussex RH10 3EL, Engiand

Copthome Hotel London Gatwick
Capthorne Way, Copthorne, West Sussex
RH1D 3PG Engand

Capthome Hotel Manchaster
Clippers Quay, Salford Quays,
Manchester M50 3SN, England

Copthomae Hotel Merry Hill-Dudley
The Waterfront, Level Street. Bnerey H.I,
Dudley. West Midlands DY 5 1UR, England

Copthorne Hotel Newcastle
The Close, Quayside, Newcastle upan Tyne
NE1 3RT, England

Copthorne Hotel Plymouth
Armada Way, Plymauth PL1 1AR, England

Copthorne Hotel Slough-Windsar
Cippenham Lane, Slough, Berkshire
SL1 2YE England

Copthome Tara Hotel London Kensington
Scarsdale Mace Kensngton London
W8 585Y, England

Hard Days Night Hotet Liverpool
Central Buldings North John Street
Lverpool, L2 8RR, England

Hitton Cambridge City Centre Hotel
Grand Arcade 20. Downing St,
Cambridge CB2 3DT, England

The Lowry Hotel

50 Dearmans Place,
Salford, Manchester

M3 5LH, United Kingdom

TENURE

Freehold

Freerold

50 years starting fro™ 7 March 1990

The lease agreement 15 extendable fo-
another 30 years

TENURE

Freehold

Freetold

Freehold

Fraehoid

Freehold

Leasehoid to year 2135

Freehald

Freenaold

easehold tc year 21°D

Freehold

Freerold

Leassahold to year 2129

125-year fease commercing
from 25 12 1950 and extendable
for a further 50 years

150-year lease commencing
from 18 D3 19497

APPROXIMATE
SITE AREA
{$Q METRES)

18,787

1564

14 183

APPROXIMATE
SITE AREA
(5Q METRES}

1.302

2188

26,305

“B1.878

404,694

9,800

13,734

5200

1,853

6,880

7,935

5,275

3,800

2200

NUMBER
OF ROOMS

680

NUMBER
COF ROOMS

87

122

227

166

138

219

833

110

198

165

ESFECTIVE
GRCUP
INTEREST
(%)

106

106

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
INTEREST
(%)

83

1co

100

100

160

1¢0

96

100

100

100

100

38

g
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES (continued)

HOTELS TENURE

The Bailey’s Hotel London Freehold
140 Gloucestar Road
London SW? aQH. England

Mitiennium Gloucester Hotel London Freehold
Hensingtan

Harrington Gardens

London SW7 4LH, England

Millennium Hotal Glasgaw Lease~old (o year 2108
George Square. Glasgow G2 105 Scotland

Millannium Hotel London Knightsbridge Leasenold to year 2091
17 Sloane Street, Kmghtsbndge
London SW1X 8NU England

The Biltmore, Mayfair - LXR Hotels & Resorts Leasenold to year 2096
44 Grosvenor Scuare, Mayfair,
London W1K 2HP, Eng and

Millennium Hotel Paris Cpéra Freeno-d
17 Boulevard Haussmann,
75008 Paris. France

Millennium Hotel Pariy Charles de Gaulle Freehold
Zone Hoteliere, Allée gu verger, 35700
Rossy-en-France, France

Puliman Hotel Munich Freehold
Theodor-Dombar-Strasse 4,
Munich BG305, Germany

Grand Hotsl Palace Rome Freehold
Via Veneto, 70, Rome, 00187, taly

The Chelsea Harbour Hatel Leasehold to year 2812
Chelsea Harbour, London, SW10 0XG, England

Hotal Cerretani Florence, MGallery Freehold

byScfitel

Via de’ Cerretani, 68 $0123 Flarence, italy

North America

HOTELS TENURE

The Bostonian Boston Freehold
26 North Street

At Faneull Hall Marketplace, Baston

MA 02109 USA

The Lakefront Anchaorage Hotei Freehold
4800 Spenard Road, Anchorage, Dock Leasehold to 2040
AK 88517 USA

Millerinium Biltmore Los Angsles Freehold
506 South Grand Avenue, Los Angeles,
CA 90071, USA

Millennium Buffalo teasehod to year 2022
2040 Walden Avenue {with one 13-year option)
Buffaio, NY 14225 USA

MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

APPROXIMATE
SiTE AREA
(2 METRES)

1923

6,348

5,926

BO9

4 260

1,083

11.657

8.189

1,350

APPROXIMATE
SITE AREA
(5Q METRES}

2769

14,158

11,305

31.726

NUMBER
OF ROOMS

292

610

61

222

308

183

239

337

86

158

a8

NUMBER
OFf ROOMS

204

748

683

0%

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
INTEREST
(%)

100

106

100

100

36

EFFECTIVE
GRQUP
INTEREST
(%)

190

100

100

100
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES (continued)

HOTEZLS

Millennium Harvest House Boulder
1345 28th Street
Boulder CQ 80302, USA

Millennium Knickerbocker Hotel Chicage
163 East Walton Place, Cnicago
IL 60611. USA

Millennium Cincinnati {sok effective
14 February 2020}

180 West Frith Street, Cincirnat,,

OH 45202, USA

Millennium Durham
2800 Campus Walk Avenue Durram,
NC 27705, USA

Millenniurm Minneapolis
1313 Nicollet Ma!l. Minneapais,
MN 55403, USA

Millsnnium Maxwell House Nashville
2025 Rosa L Parks Boulevard Nashville
TN 37228 USA

Millennium Broadway New York Timas
Square

145 West 44th Street, New York,

NY 10036, USA

Millennium Premiar New York Times Square

133 West 44th Street. New York,
NY 100386, USA

Mifiennium Hilton New York ONE UN Plaza
1 UN Plaza 44th Street at 15t Avenue,
New York, NY 10017 USA

Millennium Hotel 5t Louis {closed)
200 South 4th Street, St ouig,
MO 63102, USA

The McCormick Scottsdaia
7421 North Scotiscdale Road
Scottsdale, AZ 85208, USA

Millennium Hiiton New York Downtown
55 Church Straet. New York, NY 10007 USA

Novotel New York Times Square

226 W 52nd Street. New York, NY 10019, USA

Maingate Lakeside Resort
7769 Wirlo Bronson Memonal Highway.
Kissimmee, FL 34747, USA

Novotet Penthouse
1651-65 Broadway,
New York NY 10019, USA

Comfort Inn Near Vail Beaver Creek
161 West Beaver Creek Boulevard, Aven,
CO 81620, USA

Pine Lake Trout Club

17021 Chil-icothe Road, Chagrin Falls
CH 44023, USA

*Currently only 290 roems are avalabla for sale

TENURE

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freetioid

Leasehold to year 2030

Leasehold to year 2030
{with two 10-year options)

Freehold

Freehold

East tower freehold/
West tower leasehoid Lo
year 2079

Freehold

Leasehold to year 20233
{with two 10-year options)

Freehold

Fee simple estate a leasehold interest,
and a leased fee interest

Freehopld

Leasehold to year 2080

Freehold

Freehold

EFFECTIVE

APPROXIMATE GROUP
SITE AREA NUMBER  'NTEREST
(SG METRES) OF ROOMS (%)
64,279 289 100
2,007 306 100
6,839 872 100
42,814 324" “op
4537 321 100

17 140 287 100
1,762 626 00

360 124 100

4554 439 100

17 023 780 100
32.819 125 100
1580 563 100
1977 480 100

93 796 475 100

307 - 100

11,209 146 100
331,074 ] 100




_ MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES (continued)

Australasia

EFFECTIVE

APPROXIMATE GROUP

SITE AREA NUMBER INTEREST

HOTELS TENURE {SQ METRES) OF ROOMS (%)

Copthome Hotel & Apartments Freehold/Strata tde 4,743 a5 7€
Queanstown Lakeview

B8 Franktor Road,

Queenstown. New Zealand

Copthome Hotol & Resort Bay of Islands  Leasehold lang o year 82,834 180 37
Tau Henare Dnve, Paibia, 2021 (renewal option to May 2087}
New Zealand

Capthome Hotel & Resort Queenstown Freehold 18,709 240 76
Lakefront

Comer Adelaide Street & Frankton Road

Queenstown. New Zealand

Copthorne Hotel Auckland City Perpetual leasehold land 2,495 110 78
150 Anzac Avenue
Auckland, New Zealand

M Social Auckland Frashold 2407 190 I8
196-23G Quay Street
Auckiand, New Zealand

Copthome Hotel Paimerston Narth Freehcld 15514 124 76
110 Fitzherbert Avenue,
Paimerston North, New Zealand

Copthorne Hotel Rotorua Freehoia 35338 136 76
Fenton Street,
Rotorua. New Zeaiand

Copthome Hatel Wellington Oriental Bay  Freehold 1904 118 78
100 Qriental Parade
Wellington, New Zealand

Ibia Parth freenold 1,480 192 3B
334 Mumay Street
Perth, Wwestem Australa, Austral'a

Kingsgate Hote! Dunedin Freehold 2,133 55 76
10 Srith Street,
Dunedin, New Zealand

Kingagate Hatel Greymouth Freshold/Perpetial 2807 98 76
32 Mawhera Quay. leasehold {and
Greymauth, New Zealand

Kingagate Hotel Te Anau Freet ot 8819 94 76
20 Lakefront Drve,
Te Anau. New Zealand

Mercure Perth Strata freehold 757 238 38
10 lrwin Street
Perdh Westem Australia, Austral a




MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS LIMITED

MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES (continued)

FOTELS TENURE

Millennium Hotel Queenstown Freehaid
Comer Frankion Road & Stanley Street
Queenstown New Zealand

Millennium Hotel Rotorua Freehog/Perpetual
Comer Eruera & Hinemaru Streets leasehold land
Rotorua, New Zealang

Millennium Hotel New Plymouth, Freehord
Waterfrant
1 Egmont St, New Plymoutn, New Zealand

Novotel Brishane Strata volurnetnc freehold
200 Creek Street
Hnsbare, Queensiang, Ausfral:a

Grand Millennium Ayckland Freehold
71-87 Mayoral Drive, Auckland, New Zealand

APPROX MATE
SITE AREA
(5Q METRES)

7453

10 109

1149

6 235

5910

NUMBER
OF ROOMS

220

227

42

296

452

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES TENURE

APPROXIMATE
LETTABLE
STRATA AREA
(SQ METRES)

Tanglin Shopping Centre Freehold
A shopping-cum-office compiex siluated at

Tangiin Road, Singapore, within the Qrchard

Road tourist distnct The Group owrs 83 out

of 362 strata-ttled units and 325 car park lots

Miliannivm Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo Freenoid!

5-11-1 Ginza, Chue-Ky Leasehold - 30 years from 25 March 2009
Tokyo 104-0061

329 bed oom hotes

Biltmore Court & Tower Freenold
Situated at 500/52C South Grand Avenue, Los

Angeles, CA 20071

Comprising the Court whicn has 22 133

square metres Class "B” lettable office space

within the Biltmore hojel struciure and the

Tower which has 12 116 square metres of

Ctass “A" office space,

Land site in Sunnyvale Freehold
City of Sunnyvale, California, USA

6029

1,040/130
(site area)

34 249

35717

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
INTEREST
(%)

76

76

76

8

38

EFFECTIVE
GRGUP
INTEREST
(%}

100

70

*00

100

b2
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES {continued)

APPROXIMATE  EFFECTIVE

LETTABLE GROUP
CWNED BY FIRST SPONSCR GROUP LIMITED STRATA AREA INTEREST
AN ASSQCIATE OF THE COMPANY TENURE (5Q METRES} (%)
Poortgebouw Property Leasencid to year 2069 11,604 35
3rd floar up to and including the Sth Roor of the
Poorgebouw
Hoag Cathangne,
Cathanne Esplanade 13,
3511WK, Utrecht, the Netharlands
Expected to compnse twa notels with 320 hotel rooms
i 1018l on compienan
Arena Towers Perpetual leasero'd 17,296 35
{Holiday Inn Amsterdam/Holiday Inn Express Ground rent paig until 2093
Amsterdam Hotels)
Hoogoorddreef 66 and 68, Amsterdam the
Netheriands, Compnrising 443 notel rcoms and 509 car
park lots
Crowne Plaza Chengdu Wenjiang Hotel & Holiday Leasehcld to year 2059 81,041t 36
Inn Express Changdu Wenjizng Hotspring Hotel {Gross fl area)

Mo 6§18 A/B North Phoenix Street.

Wenjiang D'stnet, Ghengdu, Sichuan Province, the
PRC

Comprising 6§08 notel rooms and swies, and a hot
spring faciity
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS WORLDWIDE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
ASIA

China

Crowne Plaza Chengdu Wenjiang Hotel & Holiday Inn Express Chengdu Wenjiang Holspring Hotel
Grand Millennium Beijing

Grand Millennium Shanghai Honggiao
Milienmum Harbourview Hotel Xiamen
Miflennium Hotel Chengdu

Miiennium Hotel Fuging

Miliennium Hotel Wuxi

Miliennium Residences (@ Beijing Forune Plaza
Millennium Resort Hangzhou

Miltenniurn Hotel Zuny

Miftennium Resocrt Wuyishan

Hong Kong
JV¥ Marnolt Hotel Hong Kong
New World Millennium Hong Kong Hotel

Indonesia
Millennium Hotel Sinh Jakana

Japan

Hotel MyStays Asakusabashi

Hotel MyStays Kamata

Millenmum Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo

Malaysia

Copthorne Hatel Cameron Highlands
Coptharne Orchig Hotel Penang
Grand Millenniarn Kuala Lumpur

Maldives
Angsana Velavaru
Raffles Maidives Meradhoo (previously Dhevanafushi Maldives Luxury Resort)

Philippines
The Heritage Hotel Manila

Singapore

Copthome King's Hotel Singapore

Grand Copthorne Waterfront Hotel Singapore
M Hotel Singapore

M Social Singapore

Novotel Singapore Clarke Quay

Orchard Hotel Singapore

Studio M Hotel

South Korea
Millennium Hilton Seoul

Taiwan

Grand Hyalt Taipei

Millennium Hotel Taichung
Millennium Gaea Resort Hualien

Thailand
Millennium Resort Patong Phuket
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS WORLDWIDE (continued)

AUSTRALASIA

Australia

ibis Perth
Mercure Perth
Novotel Brisbane

New 2ealand

Copthorne Hatel Auckland City

Copthorne Hole| & Apartments Queenslown Lakeview
Copthorne Hotel Grand Central New Plymouth
Coptharne Hotel Palimersion North

Copthorne Holel & Resort Bay of islands
Copthorne Hotel & Resort Hokianga

Copthorne Hotel & Resort Queenstawn | akefront
Copthorne Hotel & Resort Solway Park Wairarapa
Copthorne Hotel Ratarua

Copthorne Hotel Wellington Onental Bay

Grang Millennium Auckiand

Kingsgate Hotel Autolodge Paitia

Kingsgate Hotel Dunedin

Kingsgate Holel Greymouth

Kingsgate Hotel Te Anau

Kingsgate Hote| The Avenue Wanganui
Miliennium Hote| New Plymouth, Waterfront
Millenmum Hotel Queenstown

Millennium Hotel Rolarua

Millennium Hotel & Resort Manuels Taupo

M Saocial Auckiang

MIDDLE EAST

lraq

Copthorne Hotel Baranan

Grand Milienniym Hotel Sulaimamni
Millennium Kurdistan Hotel and Spa

Jordan
Grand Millenniym Amman

Kuwait

Copthorne Al-Jahra Hotel & Resort

Copthorre Kuwait City

Millennium Hotel and Convenbign Centre Kuwait

Oman

Grand Millerniym Muscat

Millennium Executwe Apartments Muscat
Millennium Resort Salalan

Mitlennium Resort Mussanah

Palestine
Millennium Palestine Ramallah

“As & result of tha sals of M&C's joint venture interest 1n the Group's Middle East operating entity, Millenniumn & Coptrome Middle East Holdings
Limited ("MCMEML"), to the other shareholder n December 2015, properties that were prewously shown as being managed by the Group are now
shown as franchised, although as of the date hereof the properves continue to be managed or franchised by MCMEHL, with support from the Group
under a master icense and services arrangement
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS WORLDWIDE (continued)

Qatar

Copthorne Hotel Doha
Kingsgate Hatel Doha

Millennium Hotel Doha
Mittennium Plaza Doha

Saudi Arabia

Copthome Al Naseern

M Hotel Makkah by Millennium

M Hotel Makkah Al Aziziyah
Millennium A Ageeqg Hotel
Miliennium Makkah Al Naseem
Millenmum Medina Airport
Millenmum Hail Hotet Saudi Arabia
Millenrum Taiba Hote|

United Arab Emirates

Bab Al Qasr Hotel

Copthorne Hote! Dubai

Copthorne Hotel Sharjah

Grand Miltennium Al Wahda

Grand Miflennium Business Bay

Grand Mulennium Dubai

Kingsgate Hotel Abu Dhabi by Millenniurm
M Hotel Downtown by Millennium
Millennium Airport Hotel Dubai
Milenmum Atna Business Bay
Millennium Deyaar Alria Residences
Millennium Deyaar Hotel & Apariments
Millennium Mont Rose Apartments
Millennium Place Dubai Marina

Millennium Place Hotel & Apariments Barsha Heights

Millennium Plaza Hotel Dubai
Studio M Arabia Plaza

EUROPE

France
Millennium Hotel Paris Charles de Gaulle
Millennium Hotel Paris Qpéra

Germany
Puliman Haotel Munich

Georgia
The Biltmore Hote! Thiisi

Italy
Grand Hotel Palace Rome
Hotel Cerretani Florence. Mgaliery by Sofitel

Turkey
Millernium Istanbul Golden Horm
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS WORLDWIDE (continued)

United Kingdom

Copthorne Hotel Abardeen

Copthorne Hotel Birmingham

Copthorne Hotel! Cargif-Caerdydd

Copthorne Holei at Chelsea Football Club
Copthorne Hotel EMingham Gatwack
Copthorne Hotel London Gatwick

Copthorme Hotel Manchester

Copthorne Hotel Merry Hill-Dudley
Copthorne Holei Newcastle

Copthorne Hotel Plymouth

Copthorne Hotel Sheffield

Copthorne Hotel Slough-Windsar

Copthorne Tara Hotel London Kensington
Hard Days Night Hate) Liverpoa)

Hilten Carmbndge City Centre Hote!
Millennium Hotel at Chelsea Football Club
Millennium Gloucester Hotel London Kensington
Millennium Hotel Glasgow

Mittennum Hotel Londan Knightsbridge
Millennium Madejski Hotel Reading {management contract terminated 10 December 2018)
The Bailey's Hotel London

The Bitmore, Mayfair — LXR Hotels & Resors
The Chetsea Harbour Hotet

The Lowry Hotel

THE AMERICAS

USA

Cormfort Inn Near Vail Beaver Creak
Mangate Lakeside Resort

Millennium Bittmore Los Angeles

Millennium Broadway New York Times Square
Millennium Buffalo

Millennium Cincinnati {(sold effective 14 February 2020)
Millennium Durham

Miliennium Harvest House Houlder
Millennium Hilton New York Downtown
Mifienmum Hifton New York ONE UN Plaza
Millennium Hotel St Louis (closed)
Millennium Knickerbocker Hotel Chicago
Millerinium Maxwell House Nashville
Milennmum Minneapoiis

Millersium Premier New York Times Square
Novotel New York Times Square

Pine Lake Trout Club

The Bostonian Boston

The Lakefrgnt Anchorage

The McCormick Scottsdale

END




